

Universidade de Évora - Instituto de Investigação e Formação Avançada

Programa de Doutoramento em Motricidade Humana

Tese de Doutoramento

# Effects of the Ashtanga-Vinyasa Yoga Supta practice on the performance of aviation pilots of the Portuguese Airforce

Sara Alexandra Gonçalves Santos

Orientador(es) | Jose Alberto Parraca Orlando de Jesus Fernandes Filipe Manuel Soares de Melo

Évora 2025



Universidade de Évora - Instituto de Investigação e Formação Avançada

Programa de Doutoramento em Motricidade Humana

Tese de Doutoramento

# Effects of the Ashtanga-Vinyasa Yoga Supta practice on the performance of aviation pilots of the Portuguese Airforce

Sara Alexandra Gonçalves Santos

Orientador(es) | Jose Alberto Parraca Orlando de Jesus Fernandes Filipe Manuel Soares de Melo

Évora 2025



A tese de doutoramento foi objeto de apreciação e discussão pública pelo seguinte júri nomeado pelo Diretor do Instituto de Investigação e Formação Avançada:

Presidente		Armando Manuel Raimundo (Universidade de Évora)
Vogais		Catarina Afonso Godinho (Escola Superior de Sáude Egaz Moniz) Hugo Miguel Borges Sarmento (Universidade de Coimbra) Jorge Duarte Bravo (Universidade de Évora) Jose Alberto Parraca (Universidade de Évora) (Orientador) Santos Villafaina Dominguez (Universidad de Extremadura)

Évora 2025

"In the middle of difficulty lies opportunity." — Albert Einstein

### Agradecimentos

Este estudo foi possível graças ao apoio da Força Aérea Portuguesa e à aprovação do General Joaquim Manuel Nunes Borrego, Chefe de Estado-Maior da Força Aérea. Expresso-lhe e ao seu gabinete o meu sincero agradecimento pela cooperação e por nos concederem a mim e à equipa de investigação esta oportunidade de colaboração. A minha gratidão estende-se também às equipas da Ba5, representada pelo Capitão Piloto Aviador José Rocha, e da Ba11, representada pelo Major Piloto Aviador David Fernandes, que auxiliaram na organização do estudo e forneceram valiosos conhecimentos sobre operações e processos militares relevantes para esta investigação. Agradeço igualmente ao Professor Doutor Paulo Duque Fonseca e à colega Investigadora Joana Alegrete pela assistência na recolha de dados, bem como a todos os operadores de simuladores que estiveram presentes durante o processo de recolha.

Gostaria de expressar a minha profunda gratidão à minha turma de doutoramento em Motricidade Humana, a turma de 2020/2021. A nossa jornada foi marcada por desafios, mas foi o nosso trabalho em equipa, apoio mútuo e encorajamento que tornaram o processo não só exequível, mas também enriquecedor. Estou profundamente agradecida pela camaradagem e pelo esforço coletivo que todos investimos em ajudar-nos mutuamente a alcançar sucesso.

Estou profundamente grata aos meus mentores, Professor Doutor José Parraça, Professor Doutor Orlando Fernandes e Professor Doutor Filipe Melo, pela sua inestimável orientação ao longo de toda esta jornada. A vossa sabedoria, encorajamento e apoio inabalável, bem como a vossa amizade e boa disposição, foram fundamentais para o sucesso deste projeto. Sem o vosso aconselhamento especializado e a vossa mentoria, certamente não teria conseguido, e estou muito grata pelo tempo e esforço que investiram em mim e no projeto.

Gostaria de expressar a minha mais profunda gratidão ao Professor Doutor Santos Villafaina pela sua ajuda e mentoria inestimável ao longo deste processo. Tendo conduzido um trabalho semelhante com pilotos mais jovens da Força Aérea em Espanha, a sua orientação foi fundamental para moldar a minha abordagem à investigação, à escrita e à publicação de artigos. O seu modelo de tese coeso e bem estruturado serviu como um guia para o meu próprio trabalho, e estou imensamente agradecida pelas indicações e apoio que me forneceu ao longo do caminho. Quero estender os meus mais sinceros agradecimentos às colegas Investigadoras Carolina Cabo e Joana Alegrete pela valiosa colaboração na coautoria de artigos e participação em congressos. A vossa dedicação, contribuições perspicazes e compromisso partilhado tornaram estas iniciativas não só bem-sucedidas, mas também prazerosas. As viagens e estadias em conjunto durante estes eventos criaram memórias duradouras, e estou incrivelmente grata pela vossa companhia e apoio inabalável ao longo desta jornada.

Quero expressar a mais profunda gratidão à minha família, amigos e colegas de trabalho pelo apoio incessante ao longo desta jornada. A vossa compreensão e encorajamento permitiram-me dedicar-me plenamente à escrita, às viagens e à execução deste projeto sem me preocupar com as tarefas e responsabilidades diárias em casa e no trabalho. O vosso altruísmo e cuidado proporcionaram-me a força e o foco de que necessitava, e estou muito grata por tudo o que fizeram para tornar esta conquista possível.

Por fim, gostaria de estender os meus sinceros agradecimentos a todos os pilotos que confiaram em nós e participaram no nosso estudo. A vossa disponibilidade para permitir-nos experimentar, medir várias variáveis e recolher dados, enquanto equilibravam as exigências das vossas carreiras e os vossos próprios objetivos, foi verdadeiramente louvável. A vossa cooperação num momento tão stressante das vossas vidas profissionais tornou esta investigação possível, e estou profundamente agradecida pela vossa contribuição para o nosso trabalho.

Namastê!

### Acknowledgments

This study was made possible by the support of the Portuguese Air Force and the approval of General Joaquim Manuel Nunes Borrego, Air Force Chief of Staff. I express my sincere thanks to him and his office for their cooperation and for granting me and the research team this opportunity for cooperation. My gratitude also extends to the teams at Ba5, represented by Captain Pilot Aviator José Rocha, and Ba11, represented by Major Pilot Aviator David Fernandes, who assisted with organizing the study and provided valuable insights on military operations pertinent to this research. I also thank Prof. Dr. Paulo Duque Fonseca and Joana Alegrete for their assistance with data collection, as well as all the simulator operators who were present during the data collection process.

I would like to express my heartfelt gratitude to my PhD class in Human Motricity, the class of 2020/2021. Our journey was marked by challenges, but it was our teamwork, mutual support, and encouragement that made the process not only manageable but also enriching. I am deeply thankful for the camaraderie and the collective effort we all invested in helping each other succeed.

I am profoundly grateful to my mentors, Prof. Dr. José Parraça, Prof. Dr. Orlando Fernandes, and Prof. Dr. Filipe Melo, for their invaluable guidance throughout this entire journey. Your wisdom, encouragement, and unwavering support and friendship were instrumental in this project's success. I truly could not have done it without your expert advice and mentorship, and I am forever thankful for the time and effort you invested in me and the project.

I would like to express my deepest gratitude to Prof. Dr. Santos Villafaina for your invaluable help and mentorship throughout this process. Having conducted similar work with younger Air Force pilots in Spain, your guidance was instrumental in shaping my approach to research, writing, and publishing articles. Your cohesive and well-structured thesis model served as a blueprint for my own work, and I am immensely thankful for the insights and support you provided along the way.

I would like to extend my deepest thanks to my Researcher Colleagues Carolina Cabo and Joana Alegrete for their invaluable collaboration in co-writing articles and participating in congresses. Your dedication, insightful contributions, and shared commitment made these endeavors not only successful but also enjoyable. Traveling and staying together during these events created lasting memories, and I am incredibly



grateful for your companionship and unwavering support throughout this journey (yey women in STEM!).

I want to express my love and deepest gratitude to my family and friends, and my gratitude to work colleagues for their endless support throughout this journey. Your understanding and encouragement allowed me to fully dedicate myself to writing, traveling, and executing this project without worrying about the daily tasks and responsibilities at home and at work. Your selflessness and care provided me with the strength and focus I needed, and I am eternally grateful for everything you have done to make this achievement possible.

Lastly, I would like to extend my heartfelt thanks to all the pilots who trusted us and participated in our study. Your willingness to allow us to experiment, measure various variables, and gather data, all while you were balancing the demands of your careers and working toward your own goals, was truly commendable. Your cooperation during such a stressful time in your professional lives made this research possible, and I am deeply appreciative of your contribution to our work.

Namaste!



### Contents

Agradecimentos	ii
Acknowledgments	iv
Abbreviations	xvi
Resumo	.xviii
Abstract	xix
CHAPTER 1   Introduction	1
1.1. Military pilots and the challenges of the profession found in literature	
1.2. Portuguese Air Force pilots and specific difficulties identified within the tean	n 3
1.3. Proposed intervention to address these problems	4
<b>1.4.</b> Expected results from the intervention / proposed improvements	5
1.5. Proposed intervention, materials and methodology to evaluate the defined intervention	6
1.6. Ethical considerations	
1.7. Study timeline	10
1.8. Main findings	11
1.9. List of papers & Thesis Structure	
1.10. Dissemination of the thesis work	14
CHAPTER 2   Background	21
2.1. Military Aviation Pilots: literature findings	
Stress and HRV metrics in the military	
General health, strength and respiratory capacity in the military	
Spatial Disorientation (SpatDis) and CoP variables	
Miliary aviation pilots' decision making capacity, cognitive and operational perform	nance
2.2. Military Aviation Pilots: perceived difficulties in the Portuguese Airforce	
2.3. Yoga: definition and research trends	
2.4. Yoga: adjustments for military aviation pilots	39
CHAPTER 3   Objectives and Hypotheses	41
3.1. Primary outcomes	
3.2. Secondary outcomes	44
3.3. Testing the equipment in a real-life Airforce Work Setting	46



CHAPTER 4   Methodology	49
4.1. Recruitment, Screening and Sample Size for the case control study	52
4.2. Procedures for the bibliometric analysis	52
4.3. Procedures for the case control study	53
4.4. Recruitment, Screening and Sample Size for the RCT studies	55
4.5. Randomization procedure and blinding for the RCT studies	58
4.6. Study flow for the RCT studies	59
4.7. Arms and intervention for the RCT studies	60
4.8. Materials and Methods for the RCT studies	64
Data collection for RCT Study 1 on HRV and pilot performance	64
Data collection for RCT Study 2 on health, strength and respiratory capacity	66
Data collection for RCT Studies 3 and 4 on linear and non-linear CoP variables	68
Data collection for RCT Study 5 on decision making capacity for operational perform	nance 69
Data collection for the RCT study	
4.9. Statistical Analysis for the case control study and the RCT study	74
CHAPTER 5   Results	77
5.1. Bibliometric Analysis Results	
H-index	
Average frequency of keywords	80
5.2. Study Protocol Results	80
(Anticipated) Results	80
5.3. Case control Study Results	81
5.4. RCT Study 1 Results on HRV and pilot performance	82
Between groups results	82
Within AVYS group results	84
5.5. RCT Study 2 Results on health, strength and respiratory capacity	89
Within AVYS group results	89
Between groups results	90
5.6. RCT Study 3 Results on linear CoP variables	92
5.7. RCT Study 4 Results on non-linear CoP variables	94
Significant non-linear CoP displacement values	95
5.8. RCT Study 5 Results on decision making capacity for operational performance	e 99
Performance values	99
Decision making capacity values	100
CHAPTER 6   Discussion	. 105
6.1. General Discussion	107

vii

6.2. Stress in expert vs rookie aviation military pilots	
6.3. Stress in a simulated flight emergency for aviation military pilots	
6.4. Health, strength and respiratory capacity of aviation military pilots	
6.5. SpatDis and postural control of aviation military pilots	
Linear variables	
Non-linear variables	
Use of the Force Platform	
6.6. Decision making capacity for performance of aviation military pilots	
6.7. Strengths	
6.8. Limitations	
CHAPTER 7   Conclusion	119
CHAPTER 8   Practical applications and future perspe	ectives
	125
References	129
Appendix 1	163
Oral presentations:	
Posters:	
PhD classes:	





## List of Figures

Figure 1– Project Timeline
Figure 2 – Thesis Structure
Figure 3 – Bibliometric Analysis Graphical Abstract – submitted
Figure 4 - Case Control Report Graphical Abstract - published (access through the QR code).15
Figure 5 – Study Protocol – published (access through the QR code)16
Figure 6 – RCT results on HRV and pilot performance – submitted
Figure 7 – RCT results on health, strength and respiratory capacity – published (access through
the QR code)
Figure 8 – RCT results on linear CoP variables – published (access through the QR code) 17
Figure 9 – RCT results on non-linear CoP variables – submitted
$Figure \ 10-RCT \ results \ on \ decision \ making \ capacities \ and \ operational \ performance-published$
(access through the QR code)
Figure 11 – Commander's role in the operations process (Kuczynski, 2023)
Figure 12 – Commander and staff interaction within the 7 steps of the military decision-making
process (Kuczynski, 2023)
Figure 13 – Rapid decision making and synchronization process (Kuczynski, 2023)31
Figure 14– Intelligence preparation on the battlefield and military decision-making process
steps (Kuczynski, 2023)
Figure 15 – Military processes with their designated Field Manual (FM) or Army Techniques
Publication (ATP) available for consultation for the respective decision makers. Both military
forces and their associated Warfighting Tasks (WfT) are actively engaged and coordinated
throughout the stages of preparation
Figure 16 – General cognitive functions needed for operational performance (Proctor et al.,
2017)
Figure 17 – Training for the Masters in Military Aeronautics degree (Pereira, 2009)34
Figure 18 – Flight training and flight hours distributed during the Tirocinium (Pereira, 2009). 35
Figure 19 – Portuguese Air Force Epsilon TB-30 Aircraft, with dimensions and aircraft
performance data (Fernandes, 2021)
Figure 20 – Left, the inside of the cockpit for the flight simulator Epsilon TB-30 and a pilot
ready to start the protocol; Right, the inside of the control room and the setup device of the
flight simulator operator
Figure 21 – Participant flow diagram
Figure 22 – Central and non-central distributions for t-test between two groups (left) and t-test
within groups (right)
Figure 23 – Central and non-central distributions for Wilcoxon rank test between two groups
and within groups
Figure 24 – AVYS classes structure and components
Figure 25 – Sun salutations (OM Magazine) used in the ásana component of the AVYS classes.
Figure 26 – Various yoga postures (ásanas) incorporated in the ásana component of the AVYS
classes
Figure 27 – Left, the inside of the cockpit for the flight simulator Epsilon TB-30 and a pilot
ready to start the protocol; right, the inside of the control room and the setup device of the flight
simulator operator
Figure 28 – The emergency response manual has step-by-step instructions for dealing with
alternator failure emergency, shown on pages 1 (left) and 2 (right) in Portuguese language.
Pilots need to follow these steps and report to the control tower in English. There are 33 steps to



follow and 35 possible mistakes, including not reporting to the control tower and taking too
long to land the plane
Figure 29 – The h-index has been established at 93
Figure 30 – Indicates the average frequency with which these words have been used by the
authors in the articles of the h-index of the bibliometric analysis
Figure 31 – Stress Index (%) had a significant increase for the yoga group
Figure 32 – Performance: number of errors. There was a significant decrease in errors for the
yoga group
Figure 33 – Mean Heart Rate (HR), Standart deviation of all Normal-to-Normal RR intervals
(SDNN) and Root Mean Square of Successive differences RR interval differences (RMSSD), all
in ms, in the yoga group increased on habituation during final evaluation
Figure 34 – For the yoga group on the second flight, during final evaluation Low Frequency
band (LF in ms <sup>2</sup> ) in increased and High Frequency band (HF in ms <sup>2</sup> ) decreased
Figure 35 – RR variability from heartbeat to short term Poincare graph plot Standard Deviation
(SD1%) decreased on habituation, first flight, first landing, second takeoff, second flight,
emergency, and recovery
Figure 36 – – RR variability from heartbeat to long term Poincare graph plot Standard Deviation
SD2% increased on first takeoff for both the yoga and the control group
Figure 37 – Sympathetic Nervous System (SNS) Index (%) increased on first flight, first
landing, second takeoff, emergency and recovery
Figure 38 – Yoga group took less time (s) to complete the Touch & Go maneuver after the
intervention, with a faster approach on the final assessment (in purple)
Figure 39 – The paired Cohen's d values between Borg Scale Before and Borg Scale After
decreased for the yoga group
Figure 40 – Handgrip strength (in Kg) for the paired Cohen's d for the control vs AVYS group. 90
Figure 41 – Lung capacity, Forced Expiratory Volume in 1 second (FEV1%) and Forced
Expiratory Volume in 6 seconds (FEV6%) paired mean differences are shown for the control vs
the yoga group
Figure 42 – SF-36 questionnaire total results paired mean difference comparisons between the
control vs the yoga group
Figure 43 – Center of Pressure displacement mean comparisons between control and
intervention groups during open eye bipodal stance, before and after flight simulation on initial and final assessments in mm
Figure 44 – Center of Pressure displacement mean comparisons between control and
intervention during closed eye bipodal stance, before and after flight simulation on initial and
final assessments in mm
Figure 45 – Open eyed bipodal stance for the paired Cohen's d for the control vs yoga group:
between the intervention group (Int) before (B) and after (A) simulation in initial (I) and final
(F) data collection (in mm), and the control group for the same parameters without significant
differences
Figure 46 – Closed eyed bipodal stance for the paired Cohen's d for the control vs yoga group:
between the intervention group (Int) before (B) and after (A) simulation in initial (I) and final
(F) data collection (in mm), and the control group for the same parameters without significant
differences
Figure 47 – Mean values for Sample Entropy in Mediolateral plane of movement (San_En_ML)
within the yoga group with closed eyes show a significant decrease after the 12 weeks
Figure 48 – Mean values for Correlation Dimention in the Anteroposterior plane of movement
(CoDim_AP) with open eyes with a significant increase (in purple) after the 12 weeks. Mean
values for Correlation Dimention in the Mediolateral plane of movement (CoDim_ML) with
closed eyes within the AVYS group decrease (in green)

Figure 49 – Mean values for Approximate Entropy in the Mediolateral plane of movement (ApEn ML) within the yoga group with closed eyes show a significant decrease (in green) after Figure 50 – Mean values for Lyapunov Exponent (in  $s^{-1}$ ) with open eyes in mediolateral plane within the yoga group decreased after the 12 weeks (in green to the left). Lyapunov Exponent with closed eyes in mediolateral plane within the yoga group also decreased after 12 weeks (in Figure 51 – Mean values for Approximate Entropy in the Mediolateral plane of movement (ApEn ML) with closed eyes with a significant decrease (in green) after the 12 weeks when Figure 52 – Mean values for Lyapunov Exponent (in  $s^{-1}$ ) in the mediolateral plane of movement with closed eyes with a significant decrease (in green) after the 12 weeks when comparing control group with yoga group post flight simulator......97 Figure 53 – Mean values for Alfa Entropy in the anteroposterior plane of movement with closed eyes with a significant decrease (in green) after the 12 weeks when comparing control group Figure 55 — Before the intervention (left), there is a significant difference between the groups time (in seconds). After the intervention (right), there is no significant difference in time Figure 56 – Five Facet Mindfulness Questionnaire (FFMQ) variable Aware Actions values significantly increased for the yoga group when comparing to the controls in final evaluation (in Figure 57 – Five Facet Mindfulness Questionnaire (FFMQ) variable Non-Judgmental Inner Figure 58 – Multidimensional Assessment of Interoceptive Awareness (MAIA) variable Noticing values significantly increased within the yoga group after the 12 weeks (6A). There was also a significant difference between groups with values increasing for the yoga group versus controls in final evaluations (in blue in 6B)......101 Figure 59 – Multidimensional Assessment of Interoceptive Awareness (MAIA) variable Figure 60 – Multidimensional Assessment of Interoceptive Awareness (MAIA) variable Body Listening values significantly increased within the yoga group (in blue)......102 Figure 61 – Aviation Attitude Safety Scale (ASAS) variable Self-Confidence values Figure 62 – Aviation Attitude Safety Scale (ASAS) variable Risk Orientation values significantly increased within the yoga group after the 12 weeks (right side in orange). Safety Orientation values significantly increased within the yoga group after the 12 weeks (left side in Figure 63 – Trail Making Test version B values significantly decreased within the yoga group after the 12 weeks (in green)......104 Figure 64 – Certificate of Oral Presentation from TAPAS. This presentation was invited to be Figure 65– Certificate of Oral Presentation from REDESPP......166 Figure 66 – Certificate of Scientific Committee participation from IV Congreso Internacional de Figure 67 - Certificate of Oral Presentation from IV Congreso Internacional de Innovación Figure 68 – Certificate of Oral Presentation from III Jornadas Internacionais em Prescrição do Exercício e Promoção da Saúde 2024......169 Figure 69 – Certificate of Oral Presentation from Behaviour Change Conference 2025....... 170

Figure 70 - Certificate of Oral Presentation from III International Congress cieqv 2025 171
Figure 71 – Certificate of Oral Presentation from Behaviour Change Conference 2025 172
Figure 72 – Certificate of Poster from 3 <sup>rd</sup> CHRC Summit
Figure 73 – Certificate of Poster from 4th CHRC Summit
Figure 74 – Certificate of Poster from 5th CHRC Summit
Figure 75 - Certificate of Poster from CIDESD 2025 International Congress 176
Figure 76 - Certificate of e-Poster from CIDESD 2025 International Congress 177
Figure 77 – Teaching Certificate for the Human Motricity PhD Seminar in Évora University.
Figure 78 – Teaching Certificate for the Thesis Structure and Writing PhD Seminar in Évora
University
Figure 79 – Teaching Certificate for the supervising part of the Masters study at PPGSP-UFC.
Figure 80 – Teaching Certificate for the Human Motricity PhD Seminar in Évora University.



## List of Tables

Table 1. List of papers for this PhD thesis	. 13
Table 2. Case-control study parameters: HRV and Performance	. 55
Table 3. Arms and assigned interventions of the study protocol.	. 61
Table 4. RTC study parameters	. 72
Table 5. The results of the HRV in baseline and emergency manoeuvres	. 81





### Abbreviations

Air Force Academy (AFA)

Army Techniques Publication (ATP)

Artificial Intelligence (AI)

Ashtanga Vinyasa Yoga Supta (AVYS)

Ashtanga Vinyasa Yoga Supta Method (AVYSM)

Ba05 (Base Aérea 05, Monte Real)

Ball (Base Aérea 11, Beja)

Center of Pressure (CoP)

Comprehensive Health Research Centre (CHRC)

Consolidated Standards of Reporting Trials (CONSORT)

Design effect (DEFF)

Dispersion, standard deviation, of points along the axis of the line of identity in the Poincaré plot (SD2)

Dispersion, standard deviation, of points perpendicular to the axis of the line of identity in the Poincaré plot (SD1)

Emergency 1 (E1)

Emergency 2 (E2)

Emergency 3 (E3)

Emergency 4 (E4)

Expert Pilots (EP)

Field Manual (FM)

Forced Expiratory Volume in 1s (FEV1)

Forced Vital Capacity (FVC)

Heart Rate Variability (HRV)

Institute of Physical Education and Sports and the Graduate Program in Public Health at the Federal University of Ceará (PPGSP-UFC)

Instituto de Investigação e Formação Avançada (IIFA)

Low frequency (LF, 0.04–0.15 Hz) ratio (ms<sup>2</sup>) / High frequency (HF, 0.15–0.4 Hz) (ms<sup>2</sup>) (LF/HF)



Population size (N) Randomized Controlled Trial (RCT) Rookie Pilots (RP) Short Form 36 Version 1 (SF-36V1) Spatial Disorientation (SpatDis) Standard Deviation (SD) Standard deviation of normal-to-normal intervals (SDNN) Stress Index (SI) Takeoff (T) The square root of the mean of the squares of the successive differences of the interval RR (RMSSD) The sum of all the spectra (Total Power) Thematic Search tag (TS) Variabilidade da Frequência Cardíaca (VFC) Warfighting Tasks (WfT)



### Resumo

# "Effeitos da prática de Ashtanga-Vinyasa Yoga Supta na performance dos pilotos de aviação da Força Aérea Portuguesa"

**Contexto:** Os pilotos militares desempenham uma função altamente especializada, exigindo um sistema vestibular eficiente e uma resposta rápida a situações de stress. Fatores como stress fisiológico, fadiga, desorientação espacial, hipóxia e forças G elevadas podem comprometer a capacidade de decisão. A identificação destes fatores abre novas oportunidades para treino e preparação cognitiva.

**Objetivo:** O Ashtanga Vinyasa Yoga Supta (AVYS) é uma prática fisicamente exigente, centrada em técnicas de respiração sincronizada e meditação em movimento. Este estudo investigou os efeitos de uma intervenção de 12 semanas de AVYS no desempenho de pilotos da Força Aérea Portuguesa, com o objetivo de avaliar se esta prática pode melhorar o desempenho e a segurança em voo.

**Métodos:** Foram realizados quatro estudos: uma Análise Bibliométrica sobre Tendências de Pesquisa em Yoga na Medicina Complementar; um Estudo de Caso-Controlo sobre a Resposta Autonómica e Desempenho Operacional de Pilotos em Simulações de Emergência; um Protocolo de Estudo sobre o Efeito do AVYS no Desempenho de Pilotos; e um Ensaio Clínico Randomizado para avaliar várias dimensões do desempenho dos pilotos, incluindo Variabilidade da Frequência Cardíaca (VFC), Capacidade Respiratória e Controlo Postural.

**Resultados:** Oito artigos, cinco publicados e três submetidos, apresentaram as seguintes conclusões: 1) AVYS melhorou desempenho operacional e segurança em voo; 2) AVYS promoveu menos erros e maior resiliência ao stress; 3) AVYS melhorou a saúde, a força e a capacidade pulmonar, mesmo em indivíduos altamente treinados; 4) AVYS teve um impacto positivo no controlo postural e na flexibilidade cognitiva, especialmente em condições de privação sensorial; 5) Integrar AVYS com treino militar melhorou significativamente o desempenho e a segurança em ambientes de alta pressão.

**Conclusão:** O AVYS impactou positivamente o desempenho dos pilotos da Força Aérea Portuguesa. São necessários mais estudos longitudinais para confirmar estes resultados e explorar outras modalidades de treino.

Palavras-chave: yoga; stress; sistema vestibular; performance; segurança em voo.



xix

### Abstract

# "Effects of the Ashtanga-Vinyasa Yoga Supta practice on the performance of aviation pilots of the Portuguese Airforce"

**Context:** Military pilots face high-stress situations that require efficient vestibular function and quick decision making. Fighter pilots experience higher levels of spatial disorientation due to the demands of their aircraft, with factors like stress, environmental exposure, fatigue, and G-forces negatively impacting performance. These challenges highlight the need for cognitive training that has not been widely explored.

**Objective:** This study examined the effects of 12-week Ashtanga Vinyasa Yoga Supta (AVYS) intervention on the performance of Portuguese Air Force pilots. AVYS, a physically demanding practice involving synchronized breathing and movement, was tested for its potential to improve pilot performance and flight safety.

**Methods:** Four studies were conducted, including a bibliometric analysis of yoga in complementary medicine, a case-control study on flight emergency simulations, and a randomized clinical trial evaluating components like Heart Rate Variability (HRV), respiratory capacity, Center of Pressure (CoP) and postural control responses, decision making, and operational performance. Five articles were written to discuss the findings.

**Results:** Eight articles, five published and three submitted, yielded the following conclusions: 1) AVYS improves operational performance and flight safety; 2) AVYS promoted reduced errors and enhanced stress resilience; 3) AVYS improved health, strength, and lung capacity, even in highly trained individuals; 4) AVYS positively impacted postural control and cognitive flexibility, particularly under sensory deprivation; 5) The integration of AVYS with military training significantly enhanced performance and safety in high-pressure environments.

**Conclusion:** AVYS shows promise in improving the psychophysiological performance of military pilots, though further longitudinal studies are needed to confirm these benefits and explore additional intervention techniques.

Keywords: yoga; stress; vestibular system; performance; flight safety.









### 1.1. Military pilots and the challenges of the profession found in literature

Military pilots have a specialized profession that requires an efficient functioning of the vestibular system for maintaining balance in the aircraft cabin (Yang et al., 2015; Allred et al., 2024) and the ability to respond quickly in stressful situations (Martin et al., 2020; Wittels et al., 2024). Fighter pilots experience a greater sense of spatial disorientation—differences related to the demands of their aircraft and specific roles (Gil-Cabrera et al., 2020; Brink et al., 2024)—and may therefore have a stronger capacity than other individuals to endure greater stimuli and suppress vestibular system illusions (Yang et al., 2015; Lang et al., 2024).

Some factors that negatively impact their decision making include exaggerated physiological stress responses, exposure to environmental elements, physical and psychological fatigue, spatial disorientation, hypoxia, and higher G-forces—due to improvements in aircraft ergonomics—that increase flight altitude and speed, intensifying the psychophysiological response of the crew, as well as their visual and auditory reaction times (Whitley P., 1997; Aguilera et al., 2020; Koskelo et al., 2024). By identifying these factors, new avenues for training and cognitive preparation can be explored that were not previously considered (Martin et al., 2020; Temme et al., 2024; Chayrez et al., 2024; Fernández-Morales et al., 2024).

# **1.2.** Portuguese Air Force pilots and specific difficulties identified within the team

There are approximately 100 aviation pilots in the Portuguese Air Force, distributed across various locations in different squadrons, according to the type of aircraft they fly and their specific functions. Some of these individuals are engaged in recruitment training, administrative services, or missions abroad. Currently, there is no standardized exercise program specifically designed for training aircraft pilots; instead, pilots are expected to follow their own exercise routines to pass early physical exams. The results of this study could be pivotal in developing or refining a formal exercise program for pilots, which would, in turn, enhance future military health policies.

The inclusion criteria for this study are as follows: being part of the team of Epsilon TB aircraft pilots in the Tirocinium (a military specialization equivalent to a

master's degree in civilian life) training program of the Portuguese Air Force, stationed in Squadron 101 at Air Base 11 (Ba11) in Beja, Portugal. The exclusion criteria for this study are: being a pilot in training below or above the Tirocinium level, being a pilot on a mission outside the country, being a pilot with only administrative duties, being a pilot from another squadron or flying different aircraft than the Epsilon, having a medical diagnosis of a vestibular system pathology, taking anti-stress, anxiolytic, or antidepressant medication, or already practicing yoga in their free time.

There are currently 19 pilots actively undergoing their training (tirocinium) at the PAA, serving within "Esquadra 101 - RONCOS," situated at Airbase 11 in Beja, which comprises the totality of this population for the Portuguese Airforce. These pilots are divided into two classes, and they share common aircrafts, specifically the Aerospatiale Epsilon TB-30. Additionally, both classes are assigned comparable workloads and operational tasks. Within these criteria there are 19 individuals serving as military pilots actively engaged in their training (tirocinium) at the Portuguese Airforce Academy, specifically within the Portuguese Airforce course titled "Masters in Military Aeronautics: Aviator Pilot Specialist," and our sample size is calculated with OpenEpi, with a 95% confidence interval, which corresponds to 19 subjects—the totality of this population.

#### **1.3.** Proposed intervention to address these problems

"Yoga" denotes a group of physical, mental, and spiritual practices originating from ancient India. Yoga practices include distinct ethical principles (yama and niyama), physical postures and exercises (asanas), breathing techniques (pranayama), and meditation practices, all aimed at cultivating awareness, uniting mind, body, and spirit, and achieving deep states of consciousness (Park et al., 2015; Dybvik et al., 2021). There are various modalities of yoga practice, and when studied in different populations, the results of these interventions are predominantly positive or beneficial to the individual (Cramer et al., 2006; Mandlik et al., 2023).

An important property of the postural control system is the ability to disregard poor sensory information and prioritize more reliable information—sensory recalibration—suggesting that greater use of other sensory information systems may occur when vision is lost. This may not happen without specific training, which can

### CHAPTER 1 | Introduction

significantly improve postural stability by strengthening or recalibrating the remaining sensory systems (Jeter et al., 2015). Supta yoga (practiced with closed eyes) would be an appropriate intervention as it offers an integrated multisensory approach that activates the use of compensatory sensory systems.

Ashtanga Vinyasa Yoga is a practice with considerable movement, popular and physically demanding. The asanas are connected by fluid movements (vinyasas) and synchronized breathing techniques. There is coordination of posture, breathing, and gaze—components that are unique to this modality. A strong focus on physical embodiment is necessary, as the postures are technically complex, and each movement is coordinated with an inhalation or exhalation. Due to this highly focused attention during bodily movements, the practice is often called "meditation in motion" (Tsopanidou et al., 2020; Dybvik et al., 2021; Thrower et al., 2023; Koncz et al., 2024).

#### 1.4. Expected results from the intervention / proposed improvements

The general objective of this project is to analyze the effects of practicing Ashtanga Vinyasa Yoga Supta (AVYS) (with a frequency of twice a week over a duration of three months) on work performance (decision making, postural control, and overall health) in military aviation pilots of the Portuguese Air Force, in order to understand:

- 1) Does the practice of AVYS improve pilots' performance during their work, thereby preventing human error and consequently increasing flight safety?
- 2) Can we enhance the pilot training process with this practice?

The secondary objectives are to explore associations between work performance and the hypotheses proposed in this project, which are:

- a) AVYS practice influences overall health
- b) AVYS practice influences postural control and balance
- c) AVYS practice influences the functioning of the vestibular system
- d) AVYS practice influences risk perception
- e) AVYS practice influences stress levels
- f) AVYS practice influences attention capacity
- g) AVYS practice influences decision making

This information will assist in the development and evaluation of strategies or training programs (a continuous improvement process designed for actions to improve existing processes or solve quality problems) to enhance the performance of cognitive and military tasks, as well as the recalibration of the vestibular system and the consequent improvement of postural stability and balance—capabilities that facilitate decision making processes and performance, increasing their effectiveness and flight safety by preventing human error.

# 1.5. Proposed intervention, materials and methodology to evaluate the defined intervention

The research began with the contextualization of the investigation, including the motivation, relevance, and objectives of the study. This was accomplished through a bibliographic analysis of the various concepts to be examined, along with a literature review and theoretical framework, which was established at this initial stage to support the study (including the intervention, its duration, and the proposed materials for conducting assessments and test batteries to be incorporated). This phase ended with a bibliometric analysis of the trends in yoga when applied in the alternative medicine field and the design of a study protocol to then implement with the Portuguese Airforce.

To collect data from this sample (the Portuguese Airforce aviation pilots), an informal authorization was requested from the collaborators at the Directorate of Health / Aeronautical Medicine Center of the Air Force via a Zoom meeting, followed by an informal authorization request to the captain of the Monte Real Squadron Air Base 05 (Ba05). With the interest and available volunteers at this base and after requesting and obtaining formal authorization from the official request to the Chief of Staff of the Air Force to enable its implementation, an initial round of equipment testing took place, involving data collection from both expert pilots and rookie pilots at Ba05. This phase aimed to assess the feasibility of implementing the equipment in the field, as well as scheduling the intervention as to not interrupt the workflow of the aviation military pilots. We evaluated which equipment performed effectively and which did not, allowing us to make informed decisions about what to include or exclude. This process helped transition from theoretical planning to practical application, ensuring that only the most effective tools were used in the study. This phase culminated with a case-control report.



### CHAPTER 1 | Introduction

For the RCT study, upon receiving written authorization from the office of the Chief of Staff of the Portuguese Air Force, the evaluations were conducted individually and on-site (always performed individually, at the same time, on the same day of the week, and in the same order of tasks requested). The participants were active military aviation pilots, recruited from the teams of Squadron 101 of the Portuguese Air Force, stationed at Ba11 in Beja. This decision was made at the feasibility meeting in Ba05 in Monte Real after collecting data for the case-control study.

The final study was a longitudinal experimental design, with participants from Ba11 being followed over time (baseline and post-intervention assessments at 12 weeks) in a Randomized Controlled Trial (RCT) (Aggarwal et al., 2019a; Aggarwal et al., 2019b). Each participant in the intervention group received an intervention (AVYS classes, flight hours, physical conditioning training), while each participant in the control group was placed on a "waiting list" to receive the classes later, maintaining their military training (flight hours, physical conditioning training). After the study, the same number of AVYS classes were offered to the pilots in the control group.

The study protocol was applied to the groups of pilots to evaluate the intervention over time, comparing job performance at various points before and after the intervention: Initial evaluation (baseline); Evaluation at 12 weeks – 12 weeks of AVYS practice, physical conditioning training as required by their profession, flight hours (real flight and simulator flight).

The following instruments were used:

- Objective assessment of overall health at rest: calibrated bioelectrical impedance analysis using the Tanita analyzer (MC-780 MA, Tanita, Tokyo, Japan) (Shiner et al., 2001; Norman et al., 2012; Castizo-Olier et al., 2018; Ward, 2019); handgrip dynamometer (Baseline Smedley, Model 12-0286, White Plains, NY, USA) (Norman et al., 2011).
- Subjective assessment of overall health at rest: Short Form 36 Version 1 (SF-36V1) General Health and Well-Being Questionnaire (Severo et al., 2006; White et al., 2018); Five Facet Mindfulness Questionnaire (FFMQ) (Baer et al., 2008; Carpenter et al., 2019); Multidimensional Assessment of Interoceptive Awareness (MAIA) (Machorrinho et al., 2019).

- Objective assessment of postural control after flight simulator, evaluating vestibular system function and balance: Plux (biosignals plux, force platform for graphical output of the CoP assessment stabilometry) (Pinsault et al., 2009; Hébert-Losier et al., 2020; Alfaras et al., 2020).
- Objective assessment of stress level in-fligh simulatort: Polar H10 band for HRV (Pulopulos et al., 2018).
- Subjective assessment of stress level and decision making capacity at rest: Aviation Safety Attitude Scale (Hunter, 2005); Risk Perception and Tolerance (Hunter, 2002).
- Objective assessment of work performance in a flight simulator (assessing attention, working memory, active information processing, objective problemsolving, response time): stopwatch and report on the quality of decisions made by the flight simulator operator.

The expected results included: improvements in overall health; improvements in postural control and balance due to better vestibular system function; increased HRV, indicating greater adaptability and better stress response; enhanced decision-making ability; reduced stress levels; improved attention capacity and risk perception; decreased response times and improved response quality in the flight simulator.

#### **1.6. Ethical considerations**

The study was approved by the Évora University Research Ethics Committee, with approval number 21050, and participants gave written informed consent. The study is in agreement with the Declaration of Helsinki. The trial was registered in ClinicalTrials.gov with identifier NCT05821270, registered on 19th April 2023. Furthermore, this intervention protocol was accepted by the Portuguese Airforce to be applied on Airbase 11 in Beja. A randomized, prospective, controlled two-arm trial was adopted, in which one arm was the control group (waiting list) and the other the intervention group (AVYS practice).

ChatGPT was used in the making of this thesis. After thesis completion, all text on this thesis was put in ChatGPT, section by section, in order to make sure the text had corrected English grammar, was not redundant or repetitive and it was easy to read. The

### CHAPTER 1 | Introduction

References on this thesis were also formatted with ChatGPT, with the goal of ensuring compliance with APA 7 formatting. After the use of the generative Artificial Intelligence (AI) tool to complete this writing process, the prompt "*based on this chat can you give me a brief description of what you did for me?*" was asked. Here is the answer detailing what was done:

"Certainly! Here's a summary of what I did:

- 1. **Text Simplification**: I took complex and lengthy sections of text provided from the original research and made them more concise and easier to read while retaining the key information and references. The aim was to improve clarity and readability without losing important details.
- 2. **Reference Maintenance**: For each revised text inserted, I ensured that all references were preserved, making sure that the original citations were included and correctly formatted in APA7.
- 3. Content Reorganization: I reorganized and streamlined the inserted content to emphasize the most relevant points, removing redundancy and improving the flow of information.
- 4. *Focus on Key Points*: I distilled the content to highlight main findings and implications, ensuring that the essential messages were clear and accessible.

Overall, the goal was to enhance the readability of the text <u>while maintaining the</u> <u>integrity of the original research and references</u>."

To confirm, a second prompt was asked "*did at any moment you made any inferences that were not in the provided text*?" with the following answer from ChatGPT:

"No, <u>I didn't make any inferences beyond the information provided in the text</u>. My revisions focused on simplifying and clarifying the content based on the details you (Sara Santos, the author) provided, without adding any new interpretations or extrapolations. <u>The aim was to present the existing information more clearly while preserving the original meaning and references</u>."

### 1.7. Study timeline

The research took place with the following timeline:



Figure 1- Project Timeline



### CHAPTER 1 | Introduction

### 1.8. Main findings

What is already known about the topic?

- Specialized Requirements of Military Pilots: Military pilots, especially those in combat roles, must efficiently manage their vestibular system to maintain balance within the aircraft cabin and respond quickly to stress. Their profession demands heightened spatial awareness and the ability to handle intense stimuli.
- Increased Spatial Disorientation in Fighter Pilots: Fighter pilots are more prone to spatial disorientation due to the specific demands of their aircraft and roles.
- Negative Impact Factors on Decision Making: Factors such as exaggerated physiological stress responses, environmental exposure, physical and psychological fatigue, spatial disorientation, hypoxia, and high G-forces negatively affect pilots' decision making. These factors intensify their psychophysiological responses, impacting visual and auditory reaction times.
- Lack of Formal Exercise Program: Currently, there is no established, formal exercise program tailored for aircraft pilots. Pilots are expected to manage their physical conditioning independently to pass early physical exams and receive approval. This gap highlights the need for a structured exercise program that could enhance pilot performance and health.
- Yoga as an Intervention: Yoga, particularly practices like Ashtanga Vinyasa Yoga, offers a multisensory approach that may improve postural stability and manage vestibular system challenges, as well as have a positive impact on stress management and long term mental health. By integrating physical postures, breathing techniques, and meditation, AVYS can enhance pilots' ability to recalibrate their sensory systems, potentially benefiting their overall performance and well-being.

What this project adds?

• Identification of Key Factors: The project identifies critical factors affecting military pilots, such as physiological stress responses, spatial disorientation, and high G-forces. Understanding these factors can reveal new avenues for improving pilot training and cognitive preparation by addressing specific challenges faced in high-pressure environments.

- Enhanced Pilot Training: By pinpointing the negative impacts of these factors, the project provides insights into how training programs can be tailored to better prepare pilots for the demands of their profession. This could lead to more effective training strategies that mitigate the adverse effects on performance and decision making.
- Development of a Formal Exercise Program: The study highlights the current lack of a formal exercise program specifically designed for pilots. The findings could be instrumental in developing or refining such a program, offering a structured approach to physical conditioning that Portuguese pilots currently lack and others might use to enhance their current programs.
- Improved Health and Performance: Implementing a standardized exercise program based on the study's results could significantly improve pilots' overall health and operational performance. This approach addresses existing gaps in physical training and supports pilots in maintaining peak condition under demanding flight conditions.
- Evidence-Based Recommendations: The project provides evidence-based recommendations for integrating AVYS (or other similar yoga based interventions) into pilot training with the results published on the RCT's. This exercise program could enhance pilots' postural stability, cognitive function, and stress management, contributing to more robust and resilient performance in various flight scenarios.
- Impact on Military Health Policy: The outcomes of this study have the potential to influence military health policy by demonstrating the benefits of structured exercise and cognitive training. This could lead to policy changes that emphasize comprehensive pilot wellness programs, benefiting both individual pilots and the broader military and civil aviation community.

### 1.9. List of papers & Thesis Structure

This Ph.D. thesis is based on eight studies which have been developed in the period from 2020-2025 at the Instituto de Investigação e Formação Avançada (IIFA), Faculty of Sports and Health, University of Évora, Portugal.



The studies created are:



13
The project's logical framework is based on a Logical Tree diagram (Platt, 1964; Crick, 1990) to organize all the articles created:



Figure 2 – Thesis Structure.

## 1.10. Dissemination of the thesis work

For the broader public and other pertinent groups, access to the study's findings can be facilitated through publication in scientific journals.

This dissemination approach ensures that the study's outcomes are accessible to a wider audience, contributing to the broader scientific and professional knowledge base. For the dissemination of the thesis work all the articles were submitted to peer reviewed journals with the following graphical abstracts:



## CHAPTER 1 | Introduction





Figure 4 – Case Control Report Graphical Abstract – published (access through the QR code).



15



Figure 5 – Study Protocol – published (access through the QR code).



Figure 6 – RCT results on HRV and pilot performance – submitted.



## CHAPTER 1 | Introduction



Figure 7 - RCT results on health, strength and respiratory capacity – published (access through the QR code).



Figure 8 - RCT results on linear CoP variables - published (access through the QR code).

17



Figure 9 - RCT results on non-linear CoP variables - submitted.



Figure 10 - RCT results on decision making capacities and operational performance – published (access through the QR code).



## CHAPTER 1 | Introduction

To disseminate the results of this doctoral work, there was participation in conferences as a member of a scientific council, as well as through oral presentations and posters. Additionally, teaching PhD classes on the project and thesis development processes also helped show the work developed in this research. Also, supporting the supervision of a master's student from the Federal University of Ceará-Brazil, in the field of yoga practice, with the goal of producing and publishing a systematic review article, will put in practice all the insights gained throughout this process. The certifications from this dissemination work are in Appendix 1.

Finally, the communication strategy for disseminating the results to participants and Air Force professionals involves presenting comprehensive data collection information, results, and conclusions to the Airforce team: one meeting with the Health and Exercise Department of the Portuguese Air Force and another meeting with the professionals at Ba11 will be scheduled after the publication of this thesis and all the submitted articles.









### 2.1. Military Aviation Pilots: literature findings

Simulation training has long been a cornerstone of pilot development, originating in the 1930s with the first flight simulators. Over time, military, NASA, and commercial airlines refined these techniques to enhance safety and training efficiency. Simulators are a cost-effective method for pilot training, allowing them to practice scenarios that are difficult to replicate in real-life conditions and prepare for emergencies without the risk of catastrophic errors. Debriefing after simulation sessions is essential, fostering selfreflection and problem-solving skills. Simulators also help improve team communication, making them valuable beyond just training, as they contribute to real-world safety improvements. Previous research has shown that takeoff and landing are the most stressful maneuvers for pilots, providing critical insights for training (Martin et al., 2020; Cao et al., 2019; Vicente-Rodríguez et al., 2020; Gerathewohl, 1969; Lahtinen et al., 2007; Dahlstrom & Nahlinder, 2009). However, there is a need to examine pilots' psychophysiological responses during emergency maneuvers.

Air Force pilots face unique challenges requiring specialized training to maintain performance and safety. Their performance and well-being can be compromised by factors such as:

- Environmental stressors like noise, vibration, fatigue, and spatial disorientation (Whitley, 1997; Brink et al., 2024; Chayrez et al., 2024).
- Modern aircraft designs that push pilots to higher altitudes and expose them to increased G-forces, which, combined with hypoxia, slow reaction times (Whitley, 1997; Martin et al., 2020; Chayrez et al., 2024).
- Hypoxia, which can impair cognitive functions like memory and pattern recognition, increases stress and affects heart rate and breathing (Bustamante-Sánchez et al., 2019).
- Cognitive stressors like continuous demands associated with military operations with need for effective conflict detection and attention allocation can significantly strain pilots' cognitive resources, presenting a major challenge for them that affect their ability to handle stressful situations (Hormeño-Holgado et al., 2019b; Martin et al., 2020).

• Spatial disorientation due to aircraft design, which affects balance and postural control (Yang et al., 2015; Gil-Cabrera et al., 2020; Brink et al., 2024). Sensory recalibration, or the ability to rely on more dependable sensory inputs, can be strengthened through specific training, improving postural stability (Jeter et al., 2015; Brink et al., 2024).

Understanding these demands on military pilots opens possibilities for targeted training programs that improve their ability to counter these challenges and maintain performance (Bustamante-Sánchez et al., 2019; Martin et al., 2020; Brink et al., 2024).

### Stress and HRV metrics in the military

The military is one of the most demanding professions, requiring warfighters to confront real-life threats in diverse contexts (Clemente-Suárez et al., 2013). Aircraft pilots must handle the intense mechanical stress of flight, hypoxia, and unexpected events, all while maintaining the ability to respond effectively (Bustamante-Sánchez et al., 2021). In high-stress situations like flight emergencies, pilots need to stay focused to survive and avoid damaging the aircraft. The ability to operate safely and efficiently under such conditions is vital, as is proper training and testing for these challenges (Hormeño-Holgado et al., 2019; Martin et al., 2020; Bustamante-Sánchez et al., 2020; Vicente-Rodríguez et al., 2020; Fuentes-García et al., 2021).

The constant demands of various operations can strain cognitive resources, becoming a significant challenge for pilots (Tornero-Aguilera et al., 2018). Cognitive performance is critical, as most accidents during training or combat are linked to impaired mental functioning (Vrijkotte et al., 2016; Tornero-Aguilera et al., 2019; Liu et al., 2021). In goal-directed tasks, effective conflict detection relies on early-stage attention allocation, allowing pilots to quickly prioritize external stimuli and engage with warning cues while staying focused on task-relevant information. This skill is crucial for successfully managing conflicts and ensuring pilot safety (Posner, 2008; Paus, 2000; Corbetta & Shulman, 2002; Fan et al., 2009; Mackie, Van Dam, & Fan, 2013; Seabrook & Huberman, 2015; Carcaud et al., 2017; Bassett & Sporns, 2017; Sørensen et al., 2019; Tsotsos, 2019; Srivastava et al., 2020).

Combat exposure has a significant emotional impact, with fear being a common response to perceived threats. Fear, a symptom of anxiety, can lead to various defensive

reactions. It can be adaptive, helping avoid real dangers, or maladaptive when linked to harmless stimuli, causing unnecessary stress. Appropriate defensive behaviors are crucial for survival. While some fear responses are hard-wired, they remain flexible. Key neural circuits activate the sympathetic nervous system, including adrenaline secretion, which increases alertness and prepares for action. The hypothalamus-pituitary system and medial prefrontal cortex control fear responses (fight or flight) and instrumental actions, mediated by the amygdala and nucleus accumbens (LeDoux, 2014; Moscarello & Maren, 2018; Mobbs et al., 2019; Yilmaz & Huberman, 2019; Yilmaz et al., 2021).

HRV is a non-invasive method to assess autonomic nervous system reactivity, reflecting brain-heart communication through the endocrine system (Thayer et al., 2012; Pulopulos et al., 2018; Massaro & Pecchia, 2019; Cao et al., 2019; Catai et al., 2020). Reduced HRV indicates sympathetic dominance and a lower ability to adapt to stress (Lee et al., 2003; Shaffer et al., 2014). HRV serves as a biomarker for behavioral flexibility and cognitive load. Optimal HRV is essential for adaptability and resilience, while too much or too little variability signals inefficiency or pathology. HRV also reflects psychological resilience and adaptability to social or environmental demands. Studies link higher resting HRV to better performance on cognitively demanding tasks requiring executive functions (Martin et al., 2020; Shaffer et al., 2014; Beauchaine, 2001; Berntson et al., 2008; Wu et al., 2019).

Studies on military pilots report increased sympathetic activity and heightened cortical arousal during flights and combat maneuvers (Martin et al., 2020; Bustamante-Sánchez et al., 2020b; Fuentes-García et al., 2021). Low HRV, which indicates excessive sympathetic or insufficient parasympathetic control, is commonly observed during emotional and physical stress, reflecting behavioral rigidity. Conversely, higher HRV during rest indicates better stress management and adaptability (Martin et al., 2020; Vicente-Rodríguez et al., 2020b; Fuentes-García et al., 2021; Wu et al., 2019; Tornero-Aguilera et al., 2021).

Military aviation pilots operate in high-stress environments, undergoing rigorous training and facing various physical, cognitive, and emotional pressures. These stressors, from combat missions to high-risk situations, significantly impact their performance and well-being (Hormeño-Holgado et al., 2019; Bustamante-Sánchez et al., 2020; Vicente-Rodríguez et al., 2020). Pilots often experience elevated stress levels due to the nature of their work, affecting their physiological responses and decision making during critical tasks (Fuentes García et al., 2021; Johannes et al., 2017).

Pilot stress is influenced by several factors, including the demands of combat, lengthy training, high-risk exposure, and the need for quick decisions (Martin et al., 2020; Clemente-Suárez et al., 2013). This stress can manifest as increased arousal, heart rate, cortisol levels, and cognitive challenges like impaired decision making and attention (Vrijkotte et al., 2016; LeDoux et al., 2014; Mobbs et al., 2019; Yilmaz et al., 2019; Yilmaz et al., 2021). Chronic stress in pilots can lead to fatigue, burnout, reduced resilience, and impaired performance in critical moments.

HRV measures the variation in time intervals between heartbeats, regulated by the autonomic nervous system, which oversees involuntary functions like heart rate, respiration, and digestion (Sørensen et al., 2019; Thayer et al., 2012; Catai et al., 2020). Higher HRV suggests better health and resilience to stress (Pulopulos et al., 2018; Massaro et al., 2019; Wu et al., 2019). In military aviation, HRV indicates the balance between sympathetic (fight or flight) and parasympathetic (rest and digest) activity. Low HRV often signals chronic stress, reduced flexibility, and poor recovery, potentially leading to performance declines, fatigue, and health issues.

#### General health, strength and respiratory capacity in the military

The Borg CR10 scale, is a tool used to measure perceived exertion, specifically designed to capture the intensity of physical activity from the participant's perspective. The CR10 scale is a category-ratio scale ranging from 0 to 10, where "0" means no effort and "10" represents maximal exertion. The scale allows for more precise feedback on how hard a person feels they are working during physical activities, making it particularly useful in exercise testing and rehabilitation settings (Scherr et al., 2013). This scale was used before and after the 12 weeks of AVYS practice.

Hand-grip force is an objective clinical measure used to assess overall strength, determining an individual's ability to work. It is influenced by factors like effort, contractility, and skeletal muscle mass. As a reliable muscle test, a hand-held dynamometer evaluates muscle function (Dubey et al., 2022; Mandanmohan et al., 2003; Thangavel et al., 2014).

Spirometry, a gold standard lung function test, assesses how air is inhaled and exhaled over time, providing insights into pulmonary capacities and airflow. It helps identify respiratory issues by comparing results with reference standards for height, sex, and age (Durmic et al., 2015; American Thoracic Society, 1991). Exercise types

significantly influence respiratory system adaptation, and in the context of military pilots, spirometric measures gain importance due to their exposure to high altitudes with low oxygen, which requires the use of oxygen bottles. This is essential for maintaining focus and performance in oxygen-scarce environments. Despite the absence of substantial correlations between lung volumes and a military aviation career, the prevalence of supranormal pulmonary function tests (individuals showing lung capacity and performance that are higher than the average predicted values for their age) among military personnel has diminished (MacIntyre et al., 1981; Bustamante-Sánchez et al., 2021).

Furthermore, respiratory risks such as exposure to military weapon smoke during training or combat must be considered (Cochet et al., 2014). Pranayama-based respiratory training could offer significant benefits in addressing these challenges, as it is not typically part of standard military training (Cochet et al., 2014; Borander et al., 2017). Integrating such practices may enhance respiratory function and overall well-being.

Finally, the SF-36V1 questionnaire (Severo et al., 2006; White et al., 2018) will help assess whether the exercise protocol impacts pilots' general health, mitigating the profession's adverse effects on physical well-being.

### Spatial Disorientation (SpatDis) and CoP variables

<u>SpatDis</u> poses a significant risk to military pilots, leading to misperceptions of posture, altitude, and motion relative to the ground. This issue arises when pilots misjudge the gravity vertical line and their flight attitude in relation to other aircraft (Hao et al., 2022). Fighter pilots are particularly vulnerable to SpatDis due to the specific demands of their aircraft and the adaptive responses required for various flight operations (Gil-Cabrera et al., 2020). Visual and vestibular factors primarily trigger SpatDis. Vision plays a critical role in spatial orientation, and visual stimuli can lead to misjudgments such as the self-rotation illusion (vection), which occurs when a pilot inaccurately perceives their aircraft's altitude due to a moving visual scene. Prolonged exposure to small-angle tilts can also result in tilt or somato-gravic illusions, further distorting spatial perception (Hao et al., 2022). Over the past decade, 54% of aviation accidents have been attributed to SpatDis. While the overall accident rate has decreased, the percentage of accidents caused by SpatDis has increased, highlighting its growing impact on flight safety (Hao et al., 2022).

Maintaining balance involves the interaction of visual, vestibular, and somatosensory systems. Training these systems through vestibular habituation and adaptation can shift sensory weighting and alter postural behavior (Appiah-Kubi et al., 2019). Pilots often develop a heightened ability to tolerate large stimuli and suppress vestibular illusions compared to non-pilots (Yang et al., 2015). In the Portuguese Airforce's Tirocinium, fighter pilots train to adapt to SD, but the Airforce has yet to acquire equipment to objectively measure these adaptive responses during advanced training stages in every airbase.

Flight simulators are essential for pilot training, enabling virtual flight hours, transitioning to real aircraft, and simulating various conditions, including SpatDis, equipment malfunctions, and other critical scenarios (Villacís et al., 2019; Polak et al., 2022). However, simulator exposure can lead to side effects such as motion sickness without actual motion, nausea, oculomotor symptoms, and disorientation (Polak et al., 2022; Stanney et al., 1999; Min et al., 2004). Post-simulator symptoms may include balance disturbances and impaired coordination, potentially grounding pilots for up to 24 hours due to lingering effects (Polak et al., 2022; Baltzley et al., 1989; Ungs, 1989; Greyer et al., 2018).

Simulator sickness assessments should consider the interaction of visual, vestibular, proprioceptive, and foot support systems, as these components are crucial for maintaining balance. Postural instability or ataxia may indicate simulator sickness symptoms, and static, floor-based tests are used to measure postural instability (Polak et al., 2022; Kennedy et al., 1993; Kennedy et al., 1996; Smart et al., 2002; Li et al., 2018; Stoffregen et al., 2000; Bonnet et al., 2006). SpatDis in simulated environments often results from oculo-vestibular and oculo non-vestibular conflicts, impairing sensorimotor commands and affecting postural stability. Body sway is a key indicator of impairments and provides a minimally invasive method for assessing pilots during simulator training (Chardonnet et al., 2017). Despite advancements in SpatDis research, challenges remain in fully addressing this issue (Hao et al., 2022).

CoP displacement, which describes the movement of the point where ground reaction force is applied under the foot, is a crucial metric for studying postural responses and the vestibular system's impact on balance (Schmidt et al., 2005; Stergiou et al., 2011; Pincus et al., 1991). CoP fluctuations, measured using a force platform, reflect how the neuromuscular system responds to deviations in the center of mass and are linked to sensory exploration for maintaining balance (Doyle et al., 2007; Gray et al., 2014).

Postural control integrates sensory feedback from the somatosensory, visual, and vestibular systems with motor output to maintain stability. Key reflexes include the vestibulo-ocular reflex and the vestibulo-spinal reflex. Conflicts between visual and vestibular inputs can lead to postural instability and simulator sickness (Polak et al., 2022; Stanney et al., 1999; Min et al., 2004; Chardonnet et al., 2017). Enhanced postural control is associated with greater resilience to SpatDis in both simulators and real flight conditions (Villacís et al., 2019; Polak et al., 2022; Stanney et al., 1989; Ungs et al., 1989; Geyer et al., 2018; Kennedy et al., 1993; Smart et al., 2002; Li et al., 2018; Stoffregen et al., 2000; Bonnet et al., 2006; Chardonnet et al., 2017).

In flight simulators, visual motion perception conflicts with vestibular and proprioceptive cues, leading to vestibulo-visual conflict and simulator sickness. Pilots need to adapt to the visual stimuli and readjust to normal conditions after simulator sessions, which may temporarily affect their balance (Polak et al., 2022; Stanney et al., 1999; Min et al., 2004; Chardonnet et al., 2017).

CoP displacement is measured during activities such as standing and walking and is a key biomechanical metric for studying postural responses and vestibular system function (Schmidt et al., 2005; Stergiou et al., 2011; Pincus et al., 1991). The postural control system integrates sensory inputs with motor output to regulate body sway and maintain stability (Manor et al., 2013). Understanding the vestibular system is critical for pilots, who face unique stressors during flight. CoP data from portable devices like the Biosignals Plux force platform can help design training strategies to improve pilots' psychophysiological responses to various flight conditions (Polak et al., 2022; Santos et al., 2023). Common CoP parameters include CoP velocity, envelopment area, and root mean square (RMS) of CoP, analyzed using linear and nonlinear methods (Haxby et al., 2020; Kedziorek et al., 2020). Linear measures, related with the amount of movement, like Standardized Mean Velocity (SMV) indicate variability and instability in postural control, while non-linear analyses, related with the complexity of movement over time, such as entropy, fractal dimension, and correlation dimension provide deeper insights into system complexity and response characteristics (Schmidt et al., 2005; Stergiou et al., 2011; Vaillancourt et al., 2002; Gurses et al., 2013; Esteves et al., 2022).

### Miliary aviation pilots' decision-making capacity, cognitive and operational performance

The military decision-making capacity involves the ability to assess complex situations, weigh multiple factors, and make strategic choices under pressure, often in high-stakes environments where uncertainty and limited information are common. It requires a combination of rational analysis, situational awareness, and adaptive thinking to navigate dynamic and sometimes ambiguous scenarios, integrating both doctrinal approaches and field-based, experiential insights (Shortland et al., 2019). Additionally, it involves a structured, systematic seven step process (shown in Figures 11-15) that helps leaders analyze missions, develop courses of action, and make informed decisions, ensuring effective planning and coordination in complex scenarios (Airforce Special Tactics, n.d.; Woll, 2019; Kuczynski, 2023).



Figure 11 – Commander's role in the operations process (Kuczynski, 2023).





Figure 12 – Commander and staff interaction within the 7 steps of the military decisionmaking process (Kuczynski, 2023).



Figure 13 – Rapid decision making and synchronization process (Kuczynski, 2023).

31



Figure 14– Intelligence preparation on the battlefield and military decision-making process steps (Kuczynski, 2023).



Figure 15 – Military processes with their designated Field Manual (FM) or Army Techniques Publication (ATP) available for consultation for the respective decision makers. Both military forces and their associated Warfighting Tasks (WfT) are actively engaged and coordinated throughout the stages of preparation.

Military cognitive performance refers to the mental abilities necessary for soldiers to operate effectively in high-pressure situations. To enhance operational readiness, it is crucial to conduct rigorous assessments that identify individual cognitive strengths and weaknesses. This involves selecting cognitive assessment tests based on their psychometric properties to ensure they accurately measure critical functions like attention, memory, decision making, and situational awareness. These cognitive skills (in Figure 16) are essential for adapting to the dynamic conditions of the battlefield, enabling military personnel to make quick and effective decisions under stress. By focusing on these assessments, military organizations can improve training and selection processes, ultimately enhancing overall mission success (Proctor et al., 2017).



Figure 16 – General cognitive functions needed for operational performance (Proctor et al., 2017).

Military aviation operational performance involves key skills like accuracy, speed, decision making under pressure, situational awareness, and adaptability to changing environments (Cao et al., 2019; Santos et al., 2021). The objective is mission completion with maximum efficiency, minimizing time and conserving resources like fuel and ammunition (Lahtinen et al., 2007; Svensson et al., 1997). Operational performance must be swift, precise, and safe, especially under stress, to ensure both mission success and the safety of personnel and equipment (Mansikka et al., 2016; Lehrer et al., 2010).

### 2.2. Military Aviation Pilots: perceived difficulties in the Portuguese Airforce

Air Force Academy (AFA) is the military institution for higher education for military pilots. The training model in Portugal is continuous and has a duration of five years and six months (Pereira, 2009):



Figure 17 – Training for the Masters in Military Aeronautics degree (Pereira, 2009)

Pilot training is composed of four components:

- Scientific basis;
- Scientific engineering and technologies, required for each of the specializations;
- Military, ethical and behavioral;
- Physical and miliary, to provide the physical and mental skills necessary to accomplish missions (Pereira, 2009).

The Tirocinium is the final stage of military aviation training and takes place in Base Aérea N°11, in Beja, Esquadra 101. It lasts 10 months, with 18 days of theoretical instruction and 185 days of practical instruction (177 hours in aircraft and 33 hours in a stationary flight simulator, for a total of 180 flight hours per pilot) (Pereira, 2009):



Figure 18 – Flight training and flight hours distributed during the Tirocinium (Pereira, 2009).

After successful completion of the practical phase, pilots receive a Masters in Military Aeronautics diploma equipping them with the necessary skills and experience essential for operational readiness and proficiency in their military aviation roles (Pereira, 2009).

The Epsilon TB-30 aircraft manufactured by Daher and acquired by the Portuguese Air Force in 1989 is operated by Squadron 101 at the Air Base N°11 in Beja

(Figure 19), for basic and elementary pilot instruction. It is a two-seat tandem aircraft with a low and short wing and retractable landing gear. The six-cylinder horizontal engine is of automatic injection and has a feeding and lubrication device that allows inverted flight and drives a propeller of constant speed. The configuration of its instrument panel, its cruising speed, the robustness of its airframe, which supports from +6.7G to -3.35G, and the sensitivity of its controls, give it characteristics similar to those of a small conventional fighter aircraft (Fernandes, 2021).



Figure 19 – Portuguese Air Force Epsilon TB-30 Aircraft, with dimensions and aircraft performance data (Fernandes, 2021).

Portuguese military aviation pilots face unique challenges in their operational roles, compounded by the absence of a structured exercise training regimen. Unlike some other military branches where training programs are standardized and regimented, Portuguese military pilots are tasked with maintaining their physical fitness and readiness largely on their own initiative, with the primary objective of passing yearly physical exams (Santos et al., 2024; Santos et al., 2023). Thereby, this lack of a standardized training program presents an opportunity to explore interventions that could enhance



pilots' physical and mental well-being and optimize their performance in the absence of formal guidance. The Portuguese Airforce's Health and Physical Exercise Department is still in the process of developing a mandatory fitness training protocol for military pilots. As far as we know, pilots have so far been instructed to train as they see fit, to be approved at the mandatory annual physical examinations.

Given the demanding nature of military aviation duties and the inherent stressors associated with operational missions, there is growing recognition of the importance of implementing strategies to support pilots' overall health and resilience (Santos et al., 2024).

Incorporating AVYS in the physical training protocol could lead to improvements in postural control. It would be a beneficial addition to a mandatory training program to be created in the near future, as it would benefit overall fitness (and ability to get approval on mandatory fitness exams), and also improve adaptive vestibular responses associated with increased flight safety.

Therefore, a personalized eight-part yoga class (from Sanskrit: Ashtanga Yoga) was developed, focusing on closed eyes (from Sanskrit: Supta), to improve postural control responses through the vestibular and somatosensory systems on Portuguese Airforce pilots from the "Masters in Military Aeronautics: Aviator Pilot Specialist" course.

The findings from this RCT will provide valuable insights into the potential benefits of incorporating AVYS or other structured training components into a future mandatory training regimen program for Portuguese military pilots (Santos et al., 2024; Santos et al., 2023; Singh, 1999). By identifying effective interventions that promote physical and mental fitness, as well as operational readiness, the study aims to contribute to the development of evidence-based practices that can support the health and performance goals of military aviation personnel in Portugal and potentially inform training protocols in similar contexts worldwide.

The Portuguese Air Force's Health and Physical Exercise Department is currently in the stages of formulating a compulsory sports training regimen for military pilots. As far as our information goes, pilots have thus far been advised to engage in physical training according to their discretion, with approval being contingent on mandatory annual physical assessments.

### 2.3. Yoga: definition and research trends

Yoga, an ancient practice promoting health and well-being, is based on four key principles (Desikachar et al., 2005):

1) Views the human body holistically, considering it a unified system.

2) Acknowledges that everyone is unique, so personalized approaches are important.

3) Encourages self-empowerment, with practitioners playing an active role in their own journey.

4) Highlights the importance of one's mental state in the healing process.

Yoga encompasses physical, mental, and spiritual practices originating from India. Ashtanga Vinyasa Yoga, known for its substantial movement and complex postures, is a physically demanding style of yoga. It involves interconnected physical postures (asanas), flowing movements (vinyasas), and synchronized breathing techniques (pranayama). Ashtanga emphasizes the harmony of posture, breath control, and gaze. It requires a focus on physical embodiment, coordinating each movement with inhalation or exhalation, which makes it a form of "moving meditation" (Park et al., 2015, Dybvik et al., 2021). Various yoga modalities have been shown to have predominantly positive outcomes in different populations (Cramer et al., 2016). The viniyoga principle emphasizes ongoing adaptation for therapeutic benefits, covering poses, conscious breathing, meditation, and philosophy, allowing practitioners to tailor their practice to their health, age, occupation, and lifestyle (Desikachar et al., 2005).

Yoga, with its multifaceted approach encompassing physical postures, breathing techniques, and mindfulness practices, has demonstrated efficacy in reducing stress, improving physiological markers such as HRV, and enhancing overall well-being in diverse populations (Singh, 1999; Kanthi et al., 2024; Thomson et al., 2024; Santra et al., 2022; Budhi et al., 2022; Sullivan et al., 2021; Cushing et al., 2018; Stoller et al., 2012).

Yoga can be a useful conditioning method for improving performance in sports, but it can also be considered a sport, developing athletic qualities such as strength, endurance, reflexes, accuracy, dexterity, flexibility, endurance of various muscle groups and joints, mental conditioning, stress reduction and will power (Sharma et al., 2015; Government of India, 2020).

Practicing yoga continuously improves postural control and strengthens muscles and the vestibular system (increased plasticity in the sacculo-colic pathway), resulting in enhanced vestibular evoked myogenic potential (cVEMP) responses (Shambhu et al.,

2017). Ashtanga Yoga according to Patanjali (Hindu mythic, author and philosopher) has techniques that address all dimensions of the human system: body, breath, mind, personality and emotions. A yoga program with individualized tools must be specifically created and overseen by a qualified instructor, to achieve the practitioner's goals (Balaguru, 2022; Desikachar et al., 2005).

Yoga significantly enhances the sensory-motor system, which is vital for balance, coordination, and motor control. It improves proprioception, making the body more aware of its position and movement, which is crucial for maintaining balance. Through various asanas, yoga strengthens sensory integration by engaging visual, vestibular, and somatosensory systems, essential for coordinated motor responses (Fujiwara et al., 2002; Liu et al., 2024).

Therefore, there is a compelling rationale for conducting a randomized controlled trial (RCT) to investigate whether integrating AVYS into the training regimen of Portuguese military pilots could serve as a viable strategy for managing stress, enhancing resilience, and optimizing performance in their unique operational context.

### 2.4. Yoga: adjustments for military aviation pilots

Among various exercise options, incorporating AVYS into pilot training is a practical choice for the pilots' demands: its multisensory approach engages compensatory sensory systems in the vestibular system that improve balance, stability, and coordination, while also addressing aspects such as breathing to develop the respiratory system, physical postures to enhance flexibility and strength, embodiment for increased proprioception, and meditation for interoception and cognitive preparation (Desikachar et al., 2005; Jeter et al., 2015; Park et al., 2015; Cramer et al., 2016; Dybvik et al., 2021). This method not only addresses the distinctive challenges encountered by pilots but also the expected enhancements in overall well-being and cognitive performance are poised to positively impact decision making processes and operational performance during aircraft operations (Martin et al., 2020).

It's important to note that yoga doesn't advocate a one-size-fits-all approach through a universal dosage of asana (physical postures) and pranayama (breathing techniques) for healing, as this varies among individuals (Desikachar et al., 2005). The amalgamation of ásana and pranayama practices yields more notable improvements compared to isolated pranayama exercises. This integrated approach requires careful and intelligent adaptation to address specific issues or objectives (Balaguru et al., 2021; Dubey et al., 2022). The array of healing tools available in yoga, such as combinations of techniques, crafted by qualified instructors, offers numerous possibilities. These tools must be thoughtfully combined to cater to the unique needs of each practitioner (Desikachar et al., 2005; Dubey et al., 2022).

In this way it will be expected that, given the professional needs of the pilot students of the Portuguese Air Force Academy, the practice of yoga, with the inclusion of all its components, will improve some physical aspects of the pilots, which in turn will improve their ability to work in flight missions (Dubey et al., 2022; Mandanmohan et al., 2003; Thangavel et al., 2014; Choudhary et al., 2023).

In line with this methodology, a specialized yoga practice, AVYS, tailored for Air Force Pilots has been developed. Understanding the previously mentioned challenges and responsibilities faced by Airforce pilots will be instrumental in guiding the development and evaluation of strategies and training programs.









This study aims to determine the suitability of incorporating this method into the training program for Portuguese Air Force pilots, with the goal of enhancing their capabilities and increasing flight safety by preventing human error:

- establishing the efficacy of AVYSM in refining stress responses in individuals, thus improving cognitive response, and decision making.
- scrutinizing the impact of AVYSM in stimulating the recalibration of the vestibular system, above all during rotational tasks implying changes in head position in space, to augment postural stability and balance, thereby mitigating spatial disorientation.
- evaluating the extent to which AVYSM contributes to enhanced overall health, body composition, strength, and respiratory performance, serving as a potential countermeasure against hypoxia threats and increased G-forces in the aircraft.

Material and equipment selection for the study prioritized availability, capability to measure physiological functions impacted by piloting military aircraft, suitability for reallife training integration, and efficiency in delivering results without hindrance to pilots' daily workload, as well as adherence to the highly specific military regulations in force. Both primary and secondary outcomes were selected following a comprehensive review of the literature and a comparison with pilots' perceived difficulties (as identified through a brief interview, detailed in the study flow). Primary outcomes were deemed the most critical factors in flights, with Operative Performance being the most crucial for pilots' safety. Secondary outcomes were also identified as significant contributors.

### 3.1. Primary outcomes

Changes in Operative performance—Flight times to complete tasks in the flight simulator; number of errors during the emergency protocol and their classification report from the flight simulator controller (Santos et al., 2022). The assessment will determine if the exercise protocol influences the pilot's decision making, as evidenced by improved task efficiency, reduced errors, and enhanced visual and auditory reaction times (Whitley, 1997; Aguilera et al., 2020)—Time Frame: measured at 12weeks (vs. baseline values).

Changes in Stress and HRV—HRV, measured with Polar H10 portable device (Pulopulos et al., 2018; Aguilera et al., 2020; Alfaras et al., 2020; Yang et al., 2021). The assessment will reveal if the exercise protocol influences pilots' responses to stressors,

with a lower stress response enhancing decision making (Martin et al., 2020)—Time Frame: measured at 12weeks (vs. baseline values).

Changes in Vestibular system control responses—The CoP represents the dynamics of the neuromusculoskeletal system, was measured with a portable force plate (Biosignals Plux Portugal) with a sample frequency at 1000Hz and data downsampled to 50Hz (Pinsault et al., 2009; Hébert-Losier et al., 2020). Preprocessing was performed using MATLAB (The MathWorks Inc., Natick, MA) and the toolbox available. Linear variables were computed using custom MATLAB scripts, consistent with previous approaches in the UNO Biomechanics Research Laboratory (Stergiou, 2004). Analysis scripts for the non-linear data were based on tools developed by the Nonlinear Analysis Core at the University of Nebraska at Omaha (https://www.unomaha.edu/college-of-education-health-and-human-sciences/biomechanics-core-facility/research/nonlinear-analysis-core.php). Enhanced postural control responses may indicate the protocol's potential to mitigate the effects of spatial disorientation (Jeter et al., 2015; Gil-Cabrera et al., 2020)—Time Frame: measured at 12weeks (vs. baseline values).

The primary outcome's goal is to answer the two main questions:

- Does the practice of AVYS improve pilots' performance during their work, thereby preventing human error and consequently increasing flight safety?
- 2. Can we enhance the pilot training process with this practice?

#### 3.2. Secondary outcomes

Changes in Strength—Handgrip strength measured with a handgrip dynamometer Baseline Smedley, Model 12–0286, White Plains, NY, United States (Norman et al., 2011). The assessment will determine if the exercise protocol impacts pilot strength, crucial for maintaining control, resisting fatigue, and ensuring safety during highintensity flights (Aguilera et al., 2020)—Time Frame: measured at 12weeks (vs. baseline values).

Changes in Body composition—Body composition data (percent body fat, percent fat free mass, percent muscle mass index, as a percentages) measured with a Tanita (MC-780 MA, Tanita, Tokyo, Japan) to get a bioelectrical impedance analysis (BIA) will indicate if the exercise protocol had any impact in the pilot's physical makeup. Percent body fat, percent fat-free mass, and percent muscle mass index collectively constitute

body composition measures. Percent body fat reflects the fat proportion in total body weight, encompassing essential and storage fat. In contrast, percent fat-free mass represents the non-fat components, including muscle, bone, organs, and other tissues. Percent muscle mass index specifically gauges the proportion of body weight attributed to muscle. The relationship between percent body fat and percent fat-free mass is complementary, totaling 100%, while percent muscle mass index indicates the proportion of muscle within total body weight (Norman et al., 2012; Castizo-Olier et al., 2018). Enhanced body composition could mitigate adverse effects of the pilot profession on physical well-being (Whitley, 1997)—Time Frame: measured at 12weeks (vs. baseline values).

Changes in well-being and general health—measured through the SF-36V1 questionnaire (Severo et al., 2006; White et al., 2018) will indicate if the exercise protocol had any impact in the pilot's general health subjective assessment, mitigating adverse effects of their profession on pilots' physical well-being (Whitley, 1997)—Time Frame: measured at 12weeks (vs. baseline values).

Changes in Lung capacity—Ventilatory response measured with spirometry— FEV1/FVC (Forced Expiratory Volume in 1s and Forced Vital Capacity) ratio indicates how much air a person can forcefully exhale (Aguilera et al., 2020; Yang et al., 2015) will indicate if the exercise protocol had any impact on lung capacity, which might offset hypoxia threats on pilots (Bustamante-Sánchez et al., 2019) – Time Frame: measured at 12weeks (vs. baseline values).

Changes in Five Facet Mindfulness Questionnaire (FFMQ)—Changes in cognitive abilities with 15 questions and average scores are calculated by summing the responses and dividing by the number of items and indicate the average level of agreement with each subscale (1=rarely true, 5=always true). Higher scores are indicative of someone who is more mindful in their everyday life (Baer et al., 2008; Carpenter et al., 2019). Determining the impact of the exercise protocol on cognitive abilities, a more mindful pilot is anticipated to exhibit improved decision-making skills during work (Whitley, 1997, Bustamante-Sánchez et al., 2019)—Time Frame: measured at 12weeks (vs. baseline values).

Changes in Multidimensional Assessment of Interoceptive Awareness Questionnaire (MAIA)—Changes in sensory process closely linked to higher brain cognitive processes (because awareness of internal bodily states can influence decision-making, emotional regulation, and attention)—is an 8-scale state-trait questionnaire with 32 items to

measure multiple dimensions of interoception; scores are between 0 and 5, where higher score equates to more awareness of bodily sensation (Machorrinho et al., 2019). The evaluation will assess the exercise protocol's impact on cognitive abilities, expecting improved decision making in pilots with heightened awareness of bodily sensations (Whitley, 1997, Bustamante-Sánchez et al., 2019)—Time Frame: measured at 12weeks (vs. baseline values).

Changes in Aviation Safety Attitude Scale (ASAS)—Changes in cognitive abilities consists of 27 items on a five-point scale, each designed specifically to assess pilots' attitudes with respect to predict the hazardous event involvement of aviators; For all the attitude subscales, higher scores indicate a greater degree of that particular attitude—For example, higher scores on the ASAS self-confidence factor indicated that the person expressed greater confidence in their ability as a pilot (Hunter et al., 2005). The evaluation will assess the exercise protocol's impact on cognitive abilities, anticipating enhanced decision-making skills in more confident pilots (Whitley, 1997, Bustamante-Sánchez et al., 2019)—Time Frame: measured at 12weeks (vs. baseline values).

The secondary outcome's objectives are to explore associations between work performance and the hypotheses proposed in this project, which are:

- 1. AVYS practice influences overall health
- 2. AVYS practice influences postural control and balance
- 3. AVYS practice influences the functioning of the vestibular system
- 4. AVYS practice influences risk perception
- 5. AVYS practice influences stress levels
- 6. AVYS practice influences attention capacity
- 7. AVYS practice influences decision making

#### 3.3. Testing the equipment in a real-life Airforce Work Setting

This case-control study was created to analyze the autonomic response and operative performance in different flight simulator emergency flight maneuvers. Expert and rookie pilots were included in this case-control report to investigate the influence of experience on the psychophysiological response of professional combat aircraft pilots.

The aim of this research was to analyze the effect of flight experience in the autonomic response and operative performance of professional combat aircraft pilots in a flight simulator emergency flight maneuver.

With this study it was possible to test the materials and methodology for the Protocol and the RCT, as well as improve both studies with hands-on experience in the field. It was important to know which empirical information was possible to collect in this reallife setting and the best procedures to go about it. This study also made possible to choose which flight emergency to use for the RCT study, since some of them occur so fast that the technology available to collect data couldn't pick any information in those brief seconds.










To minimize biases in research, and crucial for ensuring the validity and reliability of findings, this study employed a robust blinding protocol involving both investigators (except the study coordinator and the military coordinator) and participants. This blinding is essential to reduce confirmation bias, where the expectations of the investigators could influence data interpretation. The study coordinator pre-registered the analysis methods before data collection began, with Évora University, via the PhD project, and the University Ethics Committee approved it as well. This ensured that a predetermined plan was followed, reducing the risk of selectively reporting favorable results. The military coordinator didn't participate in data collection or data analysis, only coordinating the pilot's schedules with the study coordinator. To minimize bias all data collection made by the study coordinator was either aiding the simulator controller registering times, or aiding other investigators registering their data, so another person was always present. Subjective assessments were not collected by the study coordinator. Participants were also blinded to the specific aims of the study and the exact nature of the interventions. This helps to minimize placebo effects and ensures that participants' responses are not influenced by their expectations regarding the outcomes (Popovic et al., 2023).

The investigation team selected assessment tools they were familiar with, enhancing the reliability of data collection and analysis. Their prior experience with these tools mitigates the risk of measurement error and ensures proper administration and scoring, thus further reducing bias in results (Popovic et al., 2023). Portable, non-invasive measuring tools were chosen, or tools that the Airforce Academy already owns were used, ensuring that findings are robust and relevant to real-world applications.

The study utilized a combination of objective and subjective tools to gather comprehensive data. This dual approach allows for a broader understanding as it incorporates both measurable outcomes and personal insights, enhancing the overall analysis. To enhance the reliability of results, multiple tools that measure similar outcomes were employed to check for redundancy in findings. This approach strengthens the validity of the data and ensures comprehensive insights.

Having multiple analysts independently analyze the same dataset helped identify any inconsistencies or biases. Discrepancies were discussed and resolved collectively. Utilizing automated or software-based tools also minimized human error and subjective judgment, thus reducing bias (Popovic et al., 2023).

Well-defined and appropriate statistical methods were used, techniques that may artificially inflate or deflate results were avoided. Transparency about statistical adjustments and corrections was one of the aims in producing both the articles as well as this thesis methodology section.

The main features of both the methodology and the results from all published studies are summarized. In total, eight articles have been either published or submitted for publication. These articles have been grouped into:

- 1. Bibliometric analysis one submitted article.
- 2. Case control report one published article.
- 3. Study Protocol one published article.
- RCT studies three published articles (research into linear CoP variables; health strength & lung capacity variables; decision making capacity for operational performance) and two submitted articles (research into HRV variables; CoP non-linear variables).

## 4.1. Recruitment, Screening and Sample Size for the case control study

Four professional military pilots from the Portuguese Air Force participated in this control case report study. The two pilots with more years of military service in the airbase (Expert Pilots -EP-) and the two pilots with fewer years of military service (Rookie pilots -RP-) participated were chosen. The EP was assigned to duty in the airbase, one of their tasks being to teach the RP, while the RP were finishing up their masters in aeronautic military science in the airbase.

Measurements were made in March 2022 in Ba05, Monte Real (Portugal). Expert pilots (33 to 35 years old) have more experience than novel rookie pilots (25 years old) with more than 10 years of differences in military service. Regarding monthly time spent in the flight simulator, rookie pilots had 180 min vs 60 spent by expert pilots. Regarding aerobic training, rookie pilots conducted more time practicing this training, whereas expert pilots conducted more strength training than rookie pilots.

## 4.2. Procedures for the bibliometric analysis

The documents for this research were obtained from the Web of Science Core Collection database. This includes highly selective sources indexed in the Science Citation Index Expanded, and the Social Science Citation Index, which may by default involve double indexing in the Web of Science Core Collection. The search strategy employed a thematic search tag (TS), which simultaneously searches the title, keywords,



authors, abstract, and Keywords Plus® (Clarivate, n.d.). The search vector used was TS = (yoga), and the extraction was limited to documents classified as Review Articles, dated until November 11, 2023 (Price, 1976).

## 4.3. Procedures for the case control study

The autonomic response of pilots was evaluated in 4 different maneuvers: Emergency 1 (E1) - take-off engine failure; Emergency 2 (E2) - flight engine failure close to the base allowing the pilot to promptly land; Emergency 3 (E3) - flight engine failure far away from the base not allowing the pilot to promptly land; Emergency 4 (E4) – alternator failure. In E1 the emergency protocol response starts during the take-off maneuver, on E2, E3 and E4 the pilots have time to the regular take-off maneuver, as well as flying before the emergency is activated by the simulator controller leading to the emergency protocol response actions. The pilots flew an approximately 30-minute scenario containing both visual and instrument flight conditions (Figure 20). All the maneuvers were performed in a flight simulator (Epsilon - SEPS TB30). All participants underwent the same missions by the same order since the maneuvers could not be randomized.



Figure 20 – Left, the inside of the cockpit for the flight simulator Epsilon TB-30 and a pilot ready to start the protocol; Right, the inside of the control room and the setup device of the flight simulator operator.

The time it took to complete every action was measured with a chronometer (stopwatch app from Huawei P20Pro) and the flight simulator controller appraised their performance relaying information on good protocol action choices or bad ones. Participants did not take any drug, alcohol or any other substance which could affect the nervous system 24-hours before undergoing the protocol.

Autonomic modulation was measured by the HRV in basal conditions (3 minutes) with the pilots sitting inside the simulator cabin prior the simulations maneuvers and during the simulation maneuvers. Operative performance was measured during the simulation maneuvers.

Heart rate monitor Polar H10 (Pulopulos et al., 2018; Wilson et al., 2019) was used to measure HRV. Different HRV variables were extracted in the time domain, frequency domain and non-linear measures. In the time domain, the mean heart rate (HR), the RR intervals, the standard deviation of all normal-to-normal RR intervals (SDNN), the percentage of intervals > 50 ms different from the previous interval (pNN50), and the root mean square of successive differences RR interval differences (RMSSD) were analyzed (Shaffer et al., 2014; Wilson et al., 2019). In the frequency domain, the Low Frequency (LF) (ms2), the High Frequency (HF) (ms2), the ratio between LF/HF and the Total Power, were calculated (Shaffer, et al., 2014; Shaffer et al., 2017). Lastly, nonlinear measures, such as RR variability from heartbeat to short term Poincare graph (width) (SD1), RR variability from heartbeat to long term Poincare graph (length) (SD2) and Stress Index (SI – representing the degree of load on the autonomic nervous system) were also obtained (Shaffer, et al., 2014; Shaffer et al., 2017; Baevsky et al., 2017). Kubios HRV software was used for pre-processing in accordance with manufacturer's instructions (Liponen et al., 2019; Gabani et al., 2024). Performance was measured by the time to complete the protocol of emergency response: after the flight simulator controller activated the emergency on the simulator the pilots had to identify the emergency and choose the correct actions to respond. The time to complete the actions was measured with a chronometer.

The chosen materials and methods ensured that the study could effectively measure autonomic modulation and operational performance (Stephenson et al., 2021), providing a comprehensive understanding of how stress and rapid decision-making impact pilots during emergency situations. The combination of HRV analysis, performance timing, and simulator feedback enabled a robust assessment that can be



applied in military work settings with minimal costs, portable devices and minimally invasive testing.

Parameter	Unit	Description				
HRV – Time domain						
HR	ms	mean heart rate				
<b>RR</b> intervals	ms	RR interval differences				
SDNN	ms	standard deviation of all normal-to-normal				
		RR intervals				
pNN50	%	percentage of intervals $> 50$ ms different				
		from the previous interval				
RMSSD	ms	root mean square of successive differences				
		RR interval differences				
HRV – Frequency domain						
LF	ms <sup>2</sup>	Low Frequency band in normal units (0.04-				
		0.15 Hz)				
HF	ms <sup>2</sup>	High Frequency the high-frequency band in				
		normal units (0.15- 0.4 Hz)				
LF/HF	%	the ratio between LF/HF				
Total Power						
HRV – Non-linear						
SD1 ms		RR variability from heartbeat to short term				
		Poincare graph plot standard deviation				
		perpendicular the line of identity (width)				
SD2	ms	RR variability from heartbeat to long term				
		Poincare graph plot standard deviation				
		along the line of identity (length)				
SI	%	Stress Index (representing the degree of				
		load on the autonomic nervous system)				
Performance						
Performance	S	time to complete the protocol of emergency				
		response in the flight simulator: identify the				
		emergency and choose the correct actions				
		to respond				

Table 2. Case-control study parameters: HRV and Performance

## 4.4. Recruitment, Screening and Sample Size for the RCT studies

The collaboration between Évora University and the PA involved reaching out to the Head of the Chief of Staff Cabinet. Under this collaborative protocol, a Ph.D. student administered an AVYS intervention at the chosen airbase 11 in Beja, while a team from Évora University conducts on-site baseline and post-intervention data collection. The authorization for this collaborative effort was granted by the Portuguese Air Force's Head of the Chief of Staff Cabinet. Pilots underwent a comprehensive briefing on the study's general parameters and were extended a voluntary invitation to participate. Following this briefing, participants were required to sign an informed consent form in adherence to the Helsinki Declaration. Any queries or concerns were addressed during this stage to ensure clarity and compliance with ethical standards.

All pilots enrolled in the course, classes of 2021 and 2022, at the Portuguese Air Force Academy were asked to participate in this research, as showed in Figure 21.



Figure 21 – Participant flow diagram.

All pilots enrolled in the course, classes of 2021 and 2022, at the Portuguese Air Force Academy participated in this research. The sample size was determined using OpenEpi, version 3, based on the equation:

Sample size  $n = [DEFF*Np(1-p)]/[(d2/Z21-\alpha/2*(N-1)+p*(1-p))]$ 

Where:

- Population size (N): 19
- Hypothesized % frequency of outcome factor in the population (p):  $50\% \pm 5\%$
- Confidence limits as % of 100 (absolute  $\pm$  %) (d): 5%
- Design effect (DEFF): 1
- For a confidence level of 95% to 99.9%, the sample size required was 19.
- For a confidence level of 90%, the sample size required was 18.



The study's participant flow, detailed in Figure 14 and adhered to Consolidated Standards of Reporting Trials (CONSORT) guidelines (Cuschieri, 2019), included 18 pilots assessed for eligibility, with one excluded because of lifestyle changes that included dieting, exercise and quitting smoking. All 18 were randomized using random.org. Ten pilots were assigned to the AVYS Intervention Group and eight to the Control Group, with all participants receiving their respective interventions. Both groups had complete follow-up, and 18 participants were included in the RCT analysis.

G\*Power is a statistical software tool designed for power analysis in various types of research, including social, behavioral, and biomedical sciences. It allows researchers to determine the sample size needed to detect an effect of a given size with a desired degree of confidence. The program supports a range of statistical tests, is flexible, userfriendly, and helps researchers perform power analyses to optimize study design, ensuring sufficient power to detect effects while avoiding unnecessary over-sampling (Faul et al., 2007, Faul et al. 2009).

For parametric testing considering the entire population of Airforce pilots:



Figure 22 – Central and non-central distributions for t-test between two groups (left) and t-test within groups (right).



For non-parametric testing considering the entire population of Airforce pilots:

Figure 23 – Central and non-central distributions for Wilcoxon rank test between two groups and within groups.

When the study includes the entire population, traditional inferential statistics (e.g., p-values, statistical power, and confidence intervals) are less applicable, as there is minimal or no sampling error. In this case, the population of Tirocinium Air Force Pilots consisted of 19 individuals, with one dropout during the study. Although the statistical tests indicated low power—typically addressed by increasing sample size or targeting larger effect sizes—this concern is less relevant here, given that the full population (minus one) was assessed (Good et al., 2009; Sterne et al., 2001).

#### 4.5.Randomization procedure and blinding for the RCT studies

Random assignment of participants to either intervention or control groups was conducted to minimize selection bias. This approach ensured that the groups were comparable at baseline, reducing confounding variables that could affect the outcomes

(Kang et al., 2008). Random.org is an online platform that generates true random numbers based on atmospheric noise. By capturing radio waves and digitizing the unpredictable noise, it produces genuinely random sequences suitable for various applications, including scientific research, gaming, and cryptography. The site is user-friendly, allowing individuals to generate numbers for different purposes, such as assigning participants to groups in clinical trials, ensuring fair and unbiased results. Its transparency about the generation process helps users trust the randomness of the outcomes.

Upon inclusion, volunteers were allocated to either a waiting list (control group) or a AVYS class (intervention group) through a computer-based algorithm (random.org), facilitated by the team captain of the pilots. All study personnel, excluding the team captain and one study coordinator from Évora University, were blinded (kept unaware of the group allocation). Participants were explicitly instructed to refrain from disclosing their group assignment to the study team. To uphold impartiality, all data was coded for subsequent processing and analysis, maintaining blindness to group allocation to data analysts. The final coded trial dataset was made available to all team members for analysis.

#### 4.6. Study flow for the RCT studies

The study team visited Airbase 5 in Monte Real to consult with the F16 Team Captain. The objectives included planning and scheduling visits, testing the proposed protocol, assessing all pertinent equipment, identifying, and rectifying potential errors before the initiation of the initial data collection. During this meeting, interviews with the Team Captain were conducted to evaluate the perceived needs of pilots during their aircraft piloting duties. The insights obtained, combined with findings from the literature, guided the tailoring of the AVYS intervention.

A baseline data collection session was organized in Ba11 in Beja, with study participants selected randomly based on availability and location undergoing evaluation over two consecutive days during pilots' work hours from 8:30 to 19:00. Oversight of the data collection was provided by experts in Sports Exercise and Health from Évora University, the study coordinator, and a simulator controller from the Air Force team.

The AVYS group integrated a one-hour AVYS class into their work schedule, in Ba11 in Beja, twice a week for a 12-week period. The AVYS intervention, led by the study coordinator—an Ashtanga Vinyasa Yoga expert with over 500h of training and approximately 10 years of teaching experience—was conducted. Each pilot was required to complete 24 AVYS classes within the designated 12weeks. A few pilots couldn't make all 24 classes with regular schedule because of work conflicts, so additional classes were scheduled specifically for them. With those on missions with conflicting schedules, alternative days and times were accommodated so at the end of the 12-week period all pilots in the intervention group had completed 24 classes.

Post-intervention data collection followed the completion of the AVYS program, with study participants, randomly divided based on availability and location, undergoing evaluation over two consecutive days, in Ba11 in Beja, during pilots' work hours from 8:30 to 19:00.

Supervision was provided by experts in Sports Exercise and Health from Évora University, the study coordinator, and an available simulator controller from the Air Force team.

Since all pilots were working and living in the same area (Ba11) and the study process was integrated in their military work schedule (instead of during their free time), this arrangement helped minimize dropout rates from the study. By facilitating open communication and maintaining a supportive environment, the likelihood of participants remaining engaged in the study was significantly enhanced. In this study, all pilots in the AVYS group communicated via text when they could not attend a class to reschedule and participate in the required number of classes. The progressive increase in the difficulty of the AVYS classes served as a motivational factor for the pilots' participation, as it reinforced their inherent competitive spirit. By presenting them with progressively challenging tasks, the classes not only engaged their interest but also encouraged a sense of achievement and camaraderie among the participants, further enhancing their commitment to the program.

Upon the study's conclusion, the waiting list group was offered the same 12-week AVYS classes before completing their tirocinium and departing the airbase, aligning with ethical considerations.

## 4.7. Arms and intervention for the RCT studies

Table 3 outlines the study arms: the control group receiving military training alone and the intervention group undergoing both military training and AVYS classes.

Arms	Assigned interventions
Experimental: Yoga	Yoga practice: 12-week program of Ashtanga Vinyasa
i e	Yoga Supta for 1h twice a week; other names – yoga class
No Intervention: Waiting	Exclusively compulsory training (the same for all academy
list	attendees).





Figure 24 – AVYS classes structure and components.

The AVYS practice, as depicted in Figure 24, entails fluid sequences (vinyasa from Sanskrit) performed with closed eyes (supta from Sanskrit) to address perceived difficulties in pilots. The AVYS classes comprise five main components:

- 5min of prathyáhara (abstraction) "withdrawal of the senses" or "sensory withdrawal," involves consciously detaching the senses from external stimuli and directing attention inward. Through pratyahara, practitioners aim to disengage from external distractions, facilitating a deeper exploration of the inner self and enhancing self-awareness.
- 5min of pranayama (breathwork, including raja pranayama and kryia)—these are advanced forms of breathwork aimed at regulating the breath and influencing the flow of prana (life force energy) throughout the body. Raja Pranayama focuses on controlling the breath through various breath retention methods, such as inhaling (puraka), holding the breath (kumbhaka), and exhaling (rechaka) in specific ratios. Kriya pranayama techniques typically combine specific breath control, body postures, and mental focus to influence the flow of prana (life force

energy) throughout the body. Nauli Kriya is an advanced yogic purification technique that involves isolating and rhythmically churning the abdominal muscles. It is performed by contracting and rolling the abdominal muscles in a specific manner to create a rolling or rippling motion across the abdomen.

- 35min of ásana (physical postures)—with sun salutations, as depicted in Image 3 and sequenced physical postures, as depicted in Figures 25 and 26, involving spinal flexion, extension, lateral flexion, rotation, and inversions, changes in head positioning entailing a recalibration involving the integration of visual (this stimuli was progressively removed for the supta, or closed eye component of class), vestibular, and muscular sensations, combined with breath control and abstraction, for a holistic approach to health and well-being.
- 5min of dhāraņā (practice of concentration or single-pointed focus)—beginning with yoga nidra for physiological relaxation, followed by mental exercises to focus and prepare for meditation. Yoga nidra is the practice of deep relaxation or yogic sleep. It is a state of consciousness between wakefulness and sleep, where the body and mind are in a state of profound rest while remaining fully aware. During yoga nidra, practitioners typically lie down in a comfortable position and follow guided instructions to systematically relax different parts of the body, release tension, and enter a state of deep relaxation. The practice often involves techniques such as body scanning, breath awareness, visualization, and mindfulness. Dhāraņā involves directing one's attention to a specific object, thought, or sensation, and maintaining that focus without distraction. This object of focus could be anything, such as a physical object, a mental image, a mantra, or the breath. The goal of dhāraņā is to develop greater mental discipline, control over the wandering mind, and the ability to sustain attention for prolonged periods.
- 5min of dhyána (meditation or contemplation)—involves focused concentration
  and sustained attention on an object, thought, or sensation to achieve a state of
  mental clarity, stillness, and inner awareness. During dhyana, practitioners aim
  to quiet the mind, transcend distractions, and cultivate a deep sense of presence
  and mindfulness, focused on developing greater mental resilience and emotional
  balance. Sankalpa ("resolve" or "intention") was also used during meditation, it
  is a tool used to set a clear and positive intention for one's life or practice, a
  heartfelt affirmation of one's deepest values, aspirations, and purpose. It serves



as a constant reminder of what truly matters and empowers individuals to align their thoughts, words, and deeds with their deepest intentions.



Figure 25 – Sun salutations (OM Magazine) used in the ásana component of the AVYS classes.



Figure 26 – Various yoga postures (ásanas) incorporated in the ásana component of the AVYS classes.

The components were adapted to the specific needs of the pilot group during their flight missions: supta classes, primarily or entirely conducted with closed eyes, aim to eliminate visual system responses and evoke vestibular system responses; Ashtanga Vinyasa classes emphasize fluid movement sequences, focusing on breathing and enhancing neck and upper limb strength through various yogic movements available to the head and spine (flexion, extension, lateral flexion, rotation, and inversion). This recalibration facilitates the pilot's awareness of their spatial orientation, complemented by improvements in embodiment and proprioception. This, in turn, enhances the pilot's perception of the aircraft's orientation and their own position in relation to it, as well as their spatial awareness of the aircraft in relation to the Earth. The classes commenced with basic-level techniques, progressing to more advanced ones as the intervention group's proficiency and abilities improved over the timeline. Otherwise, participants were instructed to maintain their regular routines.

#### 4.8. Materials and Methods for the RCT studies

#### Data collection for RCT Study 1 on HRV and pilot performance

Pilots completed a 30-minute scenario encompassing visual and instrument flight conditions in a flight simulator (Epsilon - SEPS TB30, in Figure 18). All flight maneuvers followed a predetermined sequence with randomized emergency activation times. Action durations were timed using a chronometer (Huawei P20Pro stopwatch app). Performance feedback was provided by the flight simulator controller, based on Airforce emergency protocol adherence. Autonomic modulation was measured with HRV in basal conditions (3 minutes) with the pilots sitting inside the simulator cabin immediately prior the simulation maneuvers, during the simulation maneuvers, as well as immediately after the simulation maneuvers (3 minutes). Operative performance was measured during the flight simulation maneuvers affecting the nervous system 24 hours before the protocol.



Figure 27 – Left, the inside of the cockpit for the flight simulator Epsilon TB-30 and a pilot ready to start the protocol; right, the inside of the control room and the setup device of the flight simulator operator.

All pilots are equipped with a manual for resolving flight emergencies, which may be accessed either in a physical book form or on a tablet as shown in Figure 27 and has the step-by-step protocol to be used in solving any flight emergency that might happen.

The autonomic response of pilots was evaluated during different maneuvers: Habituation, First Take-off, First Flight, Touch & Go maneuver (composed of First Landing and Second Take-off maneuvers), Second Flight, Emergency composed of an alternator failure (the emergency is activated by the simulator controller leading to the emergency protocol response actions), and Recovery.

Heart-rate monitor Polar H10 (Pulopulos et al., 2018; Wilson, 2019) was used to measure HRV. Different HRV variables were extracted in the time domain, frequency domain and non-linear measures. In the time domain, mean heart rate (HR), RR intervals, standard deviation of all normal-to-normal RR intervals (SDNN) and root mean square of successive differences RR interval differences (RMSSD) were extracted (Stoller et al., 2012; Wilson, 2019). In the frequency domain, the Low Frequency (LF) (ms2), the High Frequency (HF) (ms2) and the Total Power, were calculated (Shaffer et al., 2014; Shaffer et al., 2017). Lastly, nonlinear measures, such as RR variability from heartbeat to short

term Poincare graph (width) (SD1), RR variability from heartbeat to long term Poincare graph (length) (SD2), Stress Index (SI – representing the degree of load on the autonomic nervous system), SNS INDEX (Sympathetic Nervous System Index) and PNS INDEX (Parasympathetic Nervous System Index) were also obtained (Wilson, 2019; Shaffer et al., 2014; Shaffer et al., 2017; Baevsky et al., 2017). Kubios HRV software was used for pre-processing in accordance with manufacturer's instructions (Liponen et al., 2019; Gabani et al., 2024).

Performance was measured by the time to correctly complete the protocol of emergency response: after the flight simulator controller activated the emergency on the simulator the pilots had to identify the emergency and choose the correct actions to respond. The simulator would shut down when the pilot's life was at risk or the damage to the aircraft was severe. The two variables used for this study were the time to solve the emergency (in minutes) and the number of mistakes made by the pilot (including not performing or incorrectly performing the steps of the emergency protocol).

The materials and methods allowed for effective measurement of autonomic modulation and operational performance (Stephenson et al., 2021), offering insights into stress and decision-making capacity impacts on pilots during emergencies. The use of HRV analysis, performance timing, and simulator feedback provided a robust, cost-effective assessment with portable, minimally invasive tools suitable for military settings.

#### Data collection for RCT Study 2 on health, strength and respiratory capacity

Body height was asked according to each pilot's official identification documents (Cartão do Cidadão) and weight was measured using an electric bioimpedance scale (Tanita, MC-780 MA, Tanita, Tokyo, Japan).

The handgrip force was evaluated using a handgrip dynamometer (Baseline Smedley, Model 12-0286, White Plains, NY, USA). The test was conducted in a bipodal position, and the dominant arm tested next to the body with flexion of about 90° of the elbow. The dynamometer was adjusted to the width of each individual's hand. Participants were instructed to grip the dynamometer with maximum isometric effort for 3 seconds, with 3 attempts to the dominant hand and about 30 seconds apart. The mean of the attempts was used to determine the handgrip strength of each individual (Wang et al., 2018).



Respiratory capacity was analyzed with a spirometer (Vitalograph copd-6<sup>TM</sup>) before and after a 12-week AVYS program. The spirometry reference values are derived from a population similar to the study participants (young Caucasian adults), with the same type of assessment instrument and protocol used in this reference document (David, 2022; Pellegrino, 2005). Forced Ventilatory Capacity (FVC) was evaluated with a spirometer (Vitalograph copd-6<sup>TM</sup>), and each individual was asked for a long inspiration, followed by strong and long expiration for the mouth of the device and these values were recorded. Another volume evaluated and extremely important is the FEV1, which corresponds to the amount of air eliminated in the first second of the forced expiratory maneuver, as well as the FEV6, which corresponds to the amount of air eliminated in the first second of the forced expiratory maneuver, as of the forced expiratory maneuver (David, 2022).

The pilot's general health subjective assessment was analyzed with the SF-36V1 questionnaire, before and after a 12-week AVYS program. It measures health-related quality of life across various domains, including physical functioning, role limitations due to physical health, bodily pain, general health perceptions, vitality, social functioning, role limitations due to emotional problems, and mental health. The SF-36 questionnaire scores each domain on a scale ranging from 0 to 100, with higher scores indicating better health-related quality of life (Severo et al., 2006; White et al., 2018; Ware, 1993).

The choice of materials and methods was carefully selected to provide a comprehensive assessment of physical fitness, respiratory function, and general health in the pilot cohort, ensuring portable, easy to use, minimally invasive, reliable and valid measurements:

- Anthropometric measurements were taken with official identification documents to ensure accuracy.
- Biompedance scales are reliable, portable and easy to use in military settings (Aandstad et al., 2014).
- Handgrip strength is a well-established indicator of overall muscular fitness and has been correlated with performance in military personnel (Gonçalves et al., 2018; Gaździńska et al., 2022).
- Spirometry was chosen for its portability, accuracy, and adherence to international standards for lung function testing (NASA, 2022).
   Parameters such as FVC, FEV1, and FEV6 were recorded, as these are key

indicators of pulmonary health, particularly in high-stress environments like aviation (Berglund et al., 2022).

• The SF-36V1 questionnaire was selected to provide a holistic evaluation of pilots' physical and mental health, as it covers multiple domains of quality of life. Its use is documented in military clinical research, and its standardized scoring system allows for straightforward comparison (Barreto et al., 2021).

#### Data collection for RCT Studies 3 and 4 on linear and non-linear CoP variables

Pilot's CoP response was analyzed using the Biosignals Plux force platform, to evaluate the effects of the AVYS training program on the systems that influence postural behavior, namely the vestibular system (Gaul et al., 2020).

The pilots completed a flight emergency protocol in a flight simulator before and after the 12-week period. CoP displacement in an open-eye and closed-eye bipodal position was collected before and after all these maneuvers, and both measurements were taken before and after the 12-week period. Subjects were asked to stand comfortably on both legs on a force platform (Biosignals Plux, Portugal) for 60 seconds, with their arms by their sides. This was completed twice, once with the subject's eyes open and once with the eyes closed. The force platform was placed 1.5 m from a wall, which each participant faced. The force platform's readings were used to determine the CoP for each subject over time.

The use of the Biosignals Plux force platform is particularly appropriate as it provides high-precision measurements of force distribution and CoP dynamics, which are essential for understanding postural stability in high-stress scenarios typical of military operations. This portable, non-invasive technology allows for a detailed analysis of postural sway under different conditions in the military (Kohen-Raz et al., 1994; Heller et al., 2009; Rawcliffe et al., 2020; Eslami et al., 2021; Fonseca et al., 2021; Polak et al., 2022; Brix et al., 2023).

The center of pressure (CoP) was calculated according to the manufacturer's specifications, and both the linear and non-linear variables of the CoP coordinates were analyzed. Preprocessing was performed MATLAB R2024a Update 6 (24.1.0.2689473), 64-bit (win-64), July 29, 2024 (The MathWorks Inc., Natick, MA). Data was down sampled to 50 Hz. Linear variables were computed using custom MATLAB scripts, consistent with previous approaches in the UNO Biomechanics Research Laboratory

(Stergiou, 2004). Analysis scripts for the non-linear data were based on tools developed by the Nonlinear Analysis Core at the University of Nebraska at Omaha. Data was collected directly before and directly after a flight simulation and before and after the 12week period, to investigate the immediate effect of stimuli. Pilots were in bipodal stance with both open and closed eyes.

# Data collection for RCT Study 5 on decision making capacity for operational performance

Pilots completed a 30-minute scenario in a flight simulator (Epsilon - SEPS TB30), involving both visual and instrument flight conditions. Flight maneuvers followed a set sequence with randomized emergency activation times.

Performance was measured by the correct identification of the emergency and the actions taken by the pilots. The study focused on the number of mistakes made (out of 35 steps identified in Figure 28, including not performing or incorrectly performing the steps) and the type of mistakes (ranked by severity, with the simulator shutting down if the pilot's life would be at risk or the aircraft would be in danger of being severely damaged).



Figure 28 – The emergency response manual has step-by-step instructions for dealing with alternator failure emergency, shown on pages 1 (left) and 2 (right) in Portuguese language. Pilots need to follow these steps and report to the control tower in English. There are 33 steps to follow and 35 possible mistakes, including not reporting to the control tower and taking too long to land the plane.

69

The study used several validated tools to measure outcomes related to stress, mindfulness, interoceptive awareness, safety attitudes, and risk perception:

- Five Facet Mindfulness Questionnaire (FFMQ): Assesses mindfulness through five dimensions—observing, describing, acting with awareness, non-judging, and non-reactivity. (Baer et al., 2008; Carpenter et al., 2019). Higher mindfulness can enhance situational awareness and adaptability, critical for making effective decisions under pressure. Enhanced cognitive flexibility and emotional control contribute to effective decision making in unpredictable situations (Proctor et al., 2017; Shortland et al., 2019; Kuczynski, 2023; Woll, 2019).
- 2. Multidimensional Assessment of Interoceptive Awareness (MAIA): Measures awareness of internal bodily states, covering aspects like noticing, emotional awareness, and self-regulation (Machorrinho et al., 2019). Greater interoceptive awareness can improve decision making by allowing pilots to respond more effectively to stress and body signals. Better awareness can lead to improved cognitive processing under stress, aiding in mission success (Proctor et al., 2017; Shortland et al., 2019; Kuczynski, 2023; Woll, 2019).
- Aviation Safety Attitude Scale (ASAS): Evaluates pilots' attitudes toward aviation safety and potential hazardous behaviors (Hunter et al., 2005). Higher scores in self-confidence and positive safety attitudes correlate with better decision making in high-stakes environments. Strong cognitive performance in assessing risk is vital for mission safety and effectiveness (Proctor et al., 2017; Shortland et al., 2019; Kuczynski, 2023; Woll, 2019).
- 4. Risk Perception To Self (RPTS): Assesses pilots' risk perceptions and tolerance, critical for decision making under pressure (Hunter et al., 2002). This tool evaluates how pilots perceive and evaluate risks in various situations, as well as assesses the degree of risk the pilot is willing to accept in high-pressure environments, making pilots capable of understanding personal capabilities and limitations in risky scenarios. Effective risk assessment and tolerance are critical for decision making in combat and aviation environments, where quick judgments are necessary under pressure. Pilots with enhanced risk perception are better equipped to make informed choices, reducing the likelihood of hazardous



incidents and ensuring mission success (Baker et al., 2010; Proctor et al., 2017; Kahn et al., 2018; Shortland et al., 2019; Kuczynski, 2023; Woll, 2019).

5. Trail Making Test (TMT A & B): A neuropsychological test that measures cognitive abilities like processing speed, task switching, and executive function. TMT-A focuses on sequential number connection, while TMT-B alternates between numbers and letters, indicating cognitive flexibility (Bowie et al., 2006). This tool assesses how quickly a pilot can connect information and make decisions and also evaluates the ability to switch attention between tasks efficiently, measuring higher-level cognitive processes, including planning, cognitive flexibility, and working memory. This will indicate how well a pilot can adapt to changing conditions or unexpected situations. TMT results are particularly relevant for military personnel who must operate in dynamic environments requiring rapid information processing and decision making. Enhanced cognitive flexibility and processing speed contribute to improved situational awareness and adaptability, which are essential for effective military operations (Proctor et al., 2017; Shortland et al., 2019; Kuczynski, 2023; Woll, 2019).

Overall, the combination of simulator performance metrics and validated psychological assessments provide a robust framework for understanding the intricate dynamics of pilot performance in emergency scenarios, addressing both operational and psychological factors critical for effective decision making in high-stakes military environments (Proctor et al., 2017; Shortland et al., 2019; D'Alessio et al., 2024).

71

## Data collection for the RCT study

By using these tools, the study aimed to comprehensively assess the impact of a 12-week AVYS program on the Portuguese military pilots:

Parameter	Unit Description					
	HRV – Time domain					
HR	ms	Mean heart rate.				
RR intervals	ms RR interval differences.					
SDNN	ms	Standard deviation of all normal-to-				
		normal RR intervals.				
pNN50	%	Percentage of intervals $> 50$ ms different				
		from the previous interval.				
RMSSD	ms	Root mean square of successive				
	differences RR interval differences.					
	HRV – Freq	uency domain				
	ms <sup>2</sup>	Low Frequency band in normal units (0.04- 0.15 Hz).				
HF	ms <sup>2</sup>	High Frequency the high-frequency band				
LF/HF	0/0	The ratio between LE/HE				
Total Power	wer					
	HRV – N	Jon-linear				
SD1	%	RR variability from heartbeat to short term				
		Poincare graph plot standard deviation				
		perpendicular the line of identity (% of				
		width in ms).				
SD2	%	RR variability from heartbeat to long term				
		Poincare graph plot standard deviation				
		along the line of identity (% of length in				
		ms).				
SI	%	Stress Index (representing the degree of				
		load on the autonomic nervous system).				
SNS index	dimensionless	The SNS (Sympathetic Nervous System)				
score		index value typically reflects the balance				
		of autonomic nervous system activity,				
		sympathetic arousal. It represents the				
		relative dominance of the sympathetic				
		nervous system compared to the				
		parasympathetic system Higher values				
		indicate greater sympathetic activation				
		(stress response).				
	Anthropometri	c measurements				
Hoight	- 	Height of the pilots in an according to				
m	CIII	official documents				
Weight	ko	Weight of the pilots in kg measured with				
· · · · 511 ·	мg	bioimpedance				

Table 4. RTC study parameters.



General Health						
SF-36V1	dimensionless unit	The Short Form 36 Version 1 questionnaire. Each domain is scored on a scale from 0 to 100, where higher scores indicate better health status. The scores are derived from responses to multiple items within each domain.				
	Stre	ngth				
Handgrip Strength	kg	Mean value of the 3 attempts of maximum force exerted by the hand, measured with a handgrip dynamometer				
Spirometry						
FVC	L	Forced Ventilatory Capacity (also known as the forced expiratory volume) is the maximal volume of air exhaled with a maximally forced effort from a position of full inspiration				
Lung Capacity	dimensionless unit	FEV1/FVC (Forced Expiratory Volume in 1s and Forced Vital Capacity) ratio. This ratio compares the volume of air a person can forcibly exhale in one second (FEV1) to the total volume of air they can exhale forcefully after taking a deep breath (FVC).				
FEV1	%	Forced Expiratory Volume in 1 second				
FEV6	%	Forced Expiratory Volume in 6 seconds				
CoP displacement – linear variables						
Total CoP displacement	mm	The distance traveled by the CoP during standing, measuring how much a person sways while trying to maintain a stable position.				
CoP displacement – non-linear variables						
SaEn_AP, SaEn_ML	dimensionless	Sample Entropy in Antero-posterior and Mediolateral Directions. Complexity measure that represents the unpredictability of time series data.				
ApEn_AP, ApEn_ML	dimensionless	Approximate Entropy in Anteroposterior and Mediolateral Directions. Measures the regularity and complexity of fluctuations in time series data.				
LyE_AP, LyE_ML	S <sup>-1</sup>	Lyapunov Exponent in Anteroposterior and Mediolateral Directions. Rate of divergence or convergence of trajectories in the system, indicating stability or chaos.				
CoDim_AP, CoDim_ML	dimensionless	Correlation Dimension in Anteroposterior and Mediolateral Directions. Reflects the complexity of the dynamical system, estimating the minimum number of variables required to model the system.				

alfa_AP, alfa_ML	dimensionless	Alpha Entropy in Anteroposterior and Mediolateral Directions. A measure of complexity, related to the fractal properties of the time series.					
Operational performance							
Performance	Performance s Time to complete the p						
		simulator: identify the emergency and					
		choose the correct actions to respond.					
Number of		There are 33 steps to follow identified in					
mistakes made		the emergency solving protocol and 35					
		possible mistakes, including not reporting					
		to the control tower and taking too long to					
		land the plane. Not performing or					
		incorrectly performing the steps will add					
		to the count of mistakes made.					
Type of mistakes		Ranked by severity, with the simulator					
made		shutting down if the pilot's life would be					
		risk or the aircraft would be in danger of					
being severely damaged.							
Decision making capacity							
FFMQ	scored using a	Assesses mindfulness through five					
	Likert scale	uimensions—observing, describing, acting					
		with awareness, non-judging, and non-					
ΜΑΙΑ	scored using a	Measures awareness of internal bodily					
	I ikert scale	states covering aspects like noticing					
	Likert source	emotional awareness, and self-regulation.					
ASAS	scored using a	Evaluates pilots' attitudes toward aviation					
	Likert scale	safety and potential hazardous behaviors.					
RPTS	scored using a	Assesses pilots' risk perceptions and					
	Likert scale	tolerance.					
ТМТ А	S	Focuses on sequential number connection,					
		measures processing speed and executive					
		function.					
TMT B	S	Alternates between numbers and letters,					
		indicating cognitive flexibility during task					
		switching.					

## 4.9. Statistical Analysis for the case control study and the RCT study

Sample size was calculated with OpenEpi. Data analyses were done with MATLAB (MathWorks Inc., 2022) and Jamovi (Jamovi, 2022), based on the type of data; analyses were performed based on the underlying assumptions for parametric, or non-parametric testing. In detail, for all difference testing, data and variance distribution (i.e., normality) were checked. The alpha-error threshold was set at 5%, all p values below were considered significant.

For the case control outcomes descriptive statistics were used as the sample size consists of 4 individuals (McGough et al., 2009; Sullivan et al., 2012; Ho et al., 2019). For the primary outcomes related to postural control and HRV, a MATLAB (MathWorks Inc., 2022) routine was used to treat data exported from the Biosignals Plux platform (consistent with previous approaches in the UNO Biomechanics Research Laboratory (Stergiou, 2004)) and also from the Polar H10 portable monitor (consistent with manufacturers recommendations). With those values a Shapiro–Wilk normality test was performed and either a T-test for independent samples between groups or paired samples within groups was applied on parametric data or a Wilcoxon rank test was applied on non-parametric data (McGough et al., 2009; Sullivan et al., 2012; Ho et al., 2019).

For the primary outcomes related to operative performance and for the secondary outcome's descriptive statistics for both the intervention and control groups were then generated using Jamovi (Desktop version 2.3.16). Normality was accessed using the Shapiro-Wilk test, with p-values greater than 0.05 indicating normal distribution, while p-values less than or equal to 0.05 suggested non-normal distribution (McGough et al., 2009; Sullivan et al., 2012; Ho et al., 2019).

T-Tests (Student's t) were conducted for independent and paired samples and effect sizes (Cohen's d) were calculated for normally distributed data. For non-normally distributed data, the Wilcoxon rank test (Wilcoxon W) was employed, a common nonparametric alternative that can be used to compare the medians of two groups for small samples, and computed effect sizes using Rank Biserial Correlation. In both cases significant values typically fall below the conventional threshold of 0.05 (McGough et al., 2009; Sullivan et al., 2012; Ho et al., 2019).

Merely stating the significant P value of an analysis is not sufficient for readers to fully understand the results or the practical implications of the results for daily life (Ho et al., 2019; Lakens et al., 2013; Sullivan et al., 2012). While a P value can provide information about whether an effect exists, the P value doesn't give information on the size of the effect. When reporting and interpreting studies, both substantive significance (effect size) and statistical significance (P value) are essential results to report (Ho et al., 2019; McGough et al., 2009; Sullivan et al., 2012). Effect size guidelines were used to interpret the results, with values of 0.2 indicating small effect, 0.5 for medium effect, and 0.8 for large effect (Landis et al., 1977; Chmura et al., 2002; Lakens et al., 2013). This

comprehensive data analysis helped to assess the outcomes and evaluate the magnitude of effects within and between groups. For CoP displacement RCT studies 3 and 4 the paired Hedges' g for repeated measures against baseline was measured in the Cumming estimation plots for additional effect size comparisons (Ho et al., 2019).







## CHAPTER 5 | Results









The h-index for the set of 1,260 review articles has been established at 93, with 93 documents receiving 93 or more citations (ranging from 95 to 2019 citations). Figure 29 shows that 63 of these 93 articles have cross-citations among themselves, allowing for the establishment of causality, based on timing, of a predecessor document in the production of the citing documents.

79

## Average frequency of keywords



Figure 30 – Indicates the average frequency with which these words have been used by the authors in the articles of the h-index of the bibliometric analysis.

## 5.2. Study Protocol Results

The Portuguese Airforce has approved the implementation of this intervention protocol at Airbase 11 in Beja, highlighting its significance for the organization's policy makers. We hypothesized that this method would enhance operational performance and, subsequently, elevate flight safety.

## (Anticipated) Results

The principal objective of the study was to assess the feasibility and efficacy of implementing a 12-week AVYS program to enhance existing military training protocols within the Portuguese Air Force. This was accomplished through the utilization of a randomized controlled intervention design. The intervention comprises preventive exercises tailored to address perceived challenges faced by pilots during aircraft piloting, thereby enhancing the capabilities of individuals who are already undergoing training.

The findings of this study hold significance for the research group and are equally pertinent for policymakers within the Portuguese Air Force. The data gathered in this project can aid policy makers in developing a tailored exercise regimen.

The published article is available in https://doi.org/10.3389/fpubh.2024.1334880.



## 5.3. Case control Study Results

The aim of this research was to analyze the effect of flight experience in the autonomic response and operative performance of professional combat aircraft pilots in a flight simulator emergency flight maneuver. The descriptive table of results for the HRV in baseline and emergency maneuvers for the two Expert Pilots (EP) and the two Rookie Pilots (RP):

100100110									
		Baseline	T1 and E1	T2	E2	Т3	E3	T4	E4
MEAN HR	EP	81,00	94,50	85,00	88,50	84,00	90,00	82,50	86,50
(bpm)		(±1,40)	(±3,50)	(±8,50)	(±3,50)	$(\pm 1, 40)$	(±8,50)	(±2,10)	(±3,50)
	RP	82,00	102,00	89,00	93,00	86,50	89,50	80,00	85,00
		$(\pm 5,70)$	$(\pm 9,90)$	$(\pm 7, 10)$	$(\pm 9,90)$	$(\pm 12,00)$	(±9,20)	(±11,30)	$(\pm 7, 10)$
RMSSD	EP	21,50	10,55	19,40	15,30	14,65	17,40	21,90	17,20
(ms)		$(\pm 6, 60)$	(±1,30)	$(\pm 4, 80)$	$(\pm 0,70)$	$(\pm 0,60)$	$(\pm 6, 10)$	(±2,40)	$(\pm 1,70)$
	RP	38,70	11,90	27,40	25,10	30,15	25,50	37,45	32,45
		(±19,10)	$(\pm 4,00)$	(±17,40)	(±13,90)	(±21,60)	(±14,6)	(±26,80)	(±19,70)
LF (ms2)	EP	0,10	0,072	0,10	0,06	0,07	0,08	0,12	0,07
		(±0,02)	(±0,02)	(±0,01)	(±0,02)	(±0,03)	(±0,00)	(±0,04)	(±0,04)
	RP	0,10	0,10	0,10	0,11	0,09	0,09	0,44	0,11
		(±0,04)	(±0,07)	(±0,03)	(±0,02)	(±0,01)	(±0,01)	(±0,47)	(±0,02)
HF (Hz)	EP	0,21	0,20	0,19	0,23	0,18	0,15	0,16	0,18
		$(\pm 0,08)$	$(\pm 0,02)$	$(\pm 0,05)$	$(\pm 0,07)$	$(\pm 0,04)$	$(\pm 0,00)$	(±0,01)	(±0,01)
	RP	0,21	0,16	0,18	0,18	0,16	0,20	0,16	0,15
		$(\pm 0,06)$	$(\pm 0,02)$	$(\pm 0,02)$	$(\pm 0,01)$	$(\pm 0,01)$	$(\pm 0,04)$	$(\pm 0,010)$	$(\pm 0,00)$
POWER	EP	1404,50	372,50	659,00	481,50	545,50	805,00	1184,50	725,50
(ms <sup>2</sup> )		$(\pm 1368,3)$	(±392,4)	$(\pm 408,7)$	$(\pm 335,9)$	$(\pm 368, 4)$	$(\pm 106, 1)$	$(\pm 108,2)$	$(\pm 150,6)$
	RP	2666,50	393,00	1263,50	1511,50	3231,00	1106,50	3462,00	3639,50
		(±2591,5)	(±239)	$(\pm 1031,7)$	(±1219,8)	$(\pm 3405,4)$	$(\pm 553,7)$	$(\pm 3900,4)$	(±3752,6)
SDNN (ms)	EP	33,15	19,95	29,35	24,20	23,05	27,30	32,60	26,90
		$(\pm 17,20)$	$(\pm 10,7)$	$(\pm 1, 60)$	$(\pm 3, 10)$	(±9,30)	$(\pm 4,00)$	$(\pm 1, 10)$	$(\pm 3, 30)$
	RP	46,45	23,35	39,80	39,70	54,65	42,45	58,45	51,40
		$(\pm 16,10)$	(±7,10)	(±23,60)	(±15,80)	(±37,80)	(±18,9)	(±39,20)	(±29,60)
SD2 (%)	EP	73,10	76,15	74,20	74,90	73,05	74,50	73,6	74,45
		(±5,20)	(±8,30)	(±4,10)	$(\pm 1,70)$	(±8,10)	$(\pm 3,70)$	(±3,10)	(±4,60)
	RP	69,20	78,95	73,45	75,65	77,65	76,55	74,90	75,10
~~~		(±3,80)	(±0,90)	(±1,10)	(±3,50)	(±0,80)	(±2,90)	(±0,60)	(±1,00)
SI	EP	15,40	23,10	13,80	15,10	22,20	17,90	14,60	13,90
		(±7,20)	(±0,90)	(±1,80)	(±0,90)	(±7,50)	(±3,60)	(±1,10)	(±2,90)
	RP	11,00	21,90	13,10	13,50	13,80	13,50	11,40	10,50
		(±3,80)	(±0,60)	(±6,20)	(±4,00)	(±8,30)	(±5,60)	(±7,30)	(±4,80)
Performance	EP		1,22	3,68	4,83	0,32	0,30	2,88	5,22
(seg)			(±0,20)	(±0,70)	(±2,40)	(±0,00)	(±0,00)	(±0,50)	(±0,20)
	RP		1,60	4,77	4,31	0,38	0,92	4,12	10,88
			$(\pm 0, 80)$	(±2,50)	$(\pm 1, 10)$	$(\pm 0, 10)$	$(\pm 0,60)$	$(\pm 0, 10)$	$(\pm 0, 50)$

Table 5. The results of the HRV in baseline and emergency manoeuvres.

\*EP: Expert Pilots; RP: Rookie Pilots; T: Takeoff; E: Emergency; RMSSD: the square root of the mean of the squares of the successive differences of the interval RR; LF / HF: Low frequency (LF, 0.04–0.15 Hz) ratio (ms2) / High frequency (HF, 0.15–0.4 Hz) (ms2); Total power: The sum of all the spectra; SDNN: Standard deviation of normal-to-normal intervals; SD1: Dispersion, standard deviation, of points perpendicular to the axis of line-of-identity in the Poincar'e plot; SD2: Dispersion, standard deviation, of points along the axis of line-of-identity in the Poincar'e plot; SI: Stress Index; Performance: time to solve the emergency (min).

The aim of this research was to analyze the effect of flight experience in the autonomic response and operative performance of professional combat aircraft pilots in a flight simulator emergency flight maneuver. Results regarding autonomic modulation showed a higher sympathetic response during the emergency maneuvers when compared to baseline, in some cases there was also a higher sympathetic response during the emergency maneuvers when compared with the takeoff protocol. Regarding performance data the expert pilots accomplished the missions in less time than the rookie pilots.

The published article is available in https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph19159141.

## 5.4. RCT Study 1 Results on HRV and pilot performance

The aim of this research was to analyze the effect of a 12-week AVYS program in the autonomic response and operative performance of professional military aviation pilots in a flight simulator emergency.

The simulator didn't shut down for any pilot, showcasing that their life was not at risk and the damage to the aircraft was not severe at any of the evaluations performed.

#### Between groups results

Significant results between groups after the 12-week period, regarding non-linear HRV variables shown in Stress Index during the first landing maneuver:



Figure 31 – Stress Index (%) had a significant increase for the yoga group.

Stress Index (%) had a significant increase for the yoga group, when compared to the control group, during the first landing maneuver on final evaluations (in orange).



## CHAPTER 5 | Results

Significant results between groups after the 12-week period, regarding performance variables (in number of errors) were found:



Figure 32 – Performance: number of errors. There was a significant decrease in errors for the yoga group.

AVYS group has shown a decrease in errors made when compared with the control group, during the emergency maneuver, on final evaluations (in purple).

#### Within group results

Significant results within the AVYS group after the 12-week period, regarding time domain variables:



Figure 33 – Mean Heart Rate (HR), Standart deviation of all Normal-to-Normal RR intervals (SDNN) and Root Mean Square of Successive differences RR interval differences (RMSSD), all in ms, in the yoga group increased on habituation during final evaluation.

SDNN in the AVYS group increased on the first takeoff, during final evaluation. SDNN in the AVYS group decreased on the first landing, during final evaluation. RMSSD in the AVYS group decreased on the second flight, during final evaluation. Data related with sympathetic response for task attentional focus is shown in orange and stress resilience related data is shown in green.



Significant results within the AVYS group after the 12-week period, regarding frequency domain variables:



Figure 34 – For the yoga group on the second flight, during final evaluation Low Frequency band (LF in  $ms^2$ ) in increased and High Frequency band (HF in  $ms^2$ ) decreased.

Data related with sympathetic response variables for task attentional focus is shown in orange.
Significant results within the AVYS group after the 12-week period, regarding non-linear variables:



Figure 35 – RR variability from heartbeat to short term Poincare graph plot Standard Deviation (SD1%) decreased on habituation, first flight, first landing, second takeoff, second flight, emergency, and recovery.

Data related with sympathetic response for task attentional focus is shown in orange.



# CHAPTER 5 | Results



SD2% – Yoga group – First takeoff



Figure 36 - RR variability from heartbeat to long term Poincare graph plot Standard Deviation SD2% increased on first takeoff for both the yoga and the control group.

Stress resilience related data is shown in green.



Figure 37 – Sympathetic Nervous System (SNS) Index (%) increased on first flight, first landing, second takeoff, emergency and recovery.

Data related with sympathetic response for task attentional focus is shown in orange.

87

Significant results within the AVYS group after the 12-week period, regarding performance variable time to complete the mission:



Figure 38 – Yoga group took less time (s) to complete the Touch & Go maneuver after the intervention, with a faster approach on the final assessment (in purple).

Overall, HRV analysis showed improvements correlated with stress resilience, indicated by changes in HRV parameters such as SDNN, RMSSD, LF, and HF. The Wilcoxon rank test revealed significant results regarding better performance variables within the AVYS group, particularly for the Touch & Go maneuver. While Emergency maneuver completion times for the AVYS group didn't significantly differ from the intervention group, the number of errors significantly decreased, with a notable reduction observed in the AVYS group compared to controls.



## 5.5. RCT Study 2 Results on health, strength and respiratory capacity

The aim of this research was to analyze the effect of a 12-week AVYS program in the general health, strength and respiratory capacity of professional military aviation pilots.

## Within AVYS group results

Borg scale values show a significant decrease within the intervention group:



Figure 39 – The paired Cohen's d values between Borg Scale Before and Borg Scale After decreased for the yoga group.

#### Between groups results

Handgrip strength values show a significant difference between groups, with an increase in the intervention group when compared to the control group:



Figure 40 – Handgrip strength (in Kg) for the paired Cohen's d for the control vs AVYS group.



# CHAPTER 5 | Results

Lung capacity and FEV1% values comparison between groups showed increases in the intervention group when compared to the control group:



Figure 41 – Lung capacity, Forced Expiratory Volume in 1 second (FEV1%) and Forced Expiratory Volume in 6 seconds (FEV6%) paired mean differences are shown for the control vs the yoga group.

General health SF36 questionnaire comparison between groups showed increases in the intervention group when compared to the control group:



Figure 42 - SF-36 questionnaire total results paired mean difference comparisons between the control vs the yoga group.

Results revealed significant within-group differences pre- vs post-intervention for the AVYS group regarding improved general health, handgrip strength, and FEV1%. There was a significant difference between groups for lung capacity, in the AVYS group when compared to the control group.

The published article can be accessed in: https://doi.org/10.1007/s10484-025-09719-9.

## 5.6. RCT Study 3 Results on linear CoP variables

This study examined the effects of AVYS on CoP displacement in healthy student pilots, using the Biosignals Plux force platform, under the premise that AVYS would lead to improvements in postural control responses.



# Linear CoP displacement values

Figure 43 – Center of Pressure displacement mean comparisons between control and intervention groups during open eye bipodal stance, before and after flight simulation on initial and final assessments in mm.





Figure 44 – Center of Pressure displacement mean comparisons between control and intervention during closed eye bipodal stance, before and after flight simulation on initial and final assessments in mm.



Figure 45 – Open eyed bipodal stance for the paired Cohen's d for the control vs yoga group: between the intervention group (Int) before (B) and after (A) simulation in initial (I) and final (F) data collection (in mm), and the control group for the same parameters without significant differences.



Figure 46 – Closed eyed bipodal stance for the paired Cohen's d for the control vs yoga group: between the intervention group (Int) before (B) and after (A) simulation in initial (I) and final (F) data collection (in mm), and the control group for the same parameters without significant differences.

Although the differences observed between groups are not significant, after calculating the effect size, we can theorize that the AVYS group maintains CoP displacement before and after flight and the control group has a higher CoP displacement after flight simulation.

Thepublishedarticlecanbeaccessedin:https://doi.org/10.1177/17543371231196340.

#### 5.7. RCT Study 4 Results on non-linear CoP variables

This study discusses the effects of AVYS on nonlinear variables of CoP displacement in adult healthy pilot students, suggesting that these variables could offer better insights into AVYS 's role in improving postural control responses.

# CHAPTER 5 | Results

## Significant within group results



Figure 47 – Mean values for Sample Entropy in Mediolateral plane of movement (San\_En\_ML) within the yoga group with closed eyes show a significant decrease after the 12 weeks.



Figure 48 – Mean values for Correlation Dimention in the Anteroposterior plane of movement (CoDim\_AP) with open eyes with a significant increase (in purple) after the 12 weeks. Mean values for Correlation Dimention in the Mediolateral plane of movement (CoDim\_ML) with closed eyes within the AVYS group decrease (in green).

95



Figure 49 – Mean values for Approximate Entropy in the Mediolateral plane of movement (ApEn\_ML) within the yoga group with closed eyes show a significant decrease (in green) after the 12 weeks.



Figure 50 – Mean values for Lyapunov Exponent (in  $s^{-1}$ ) with open eyes in mediolateral plane within the yoga group decreased after the 12 weeks (in green to the left). Lyapunov Exponent with closed eyes in mediolateral plane within the yoga group also decreased after 12 weeks (in green to the right).

# CHAPTER 5 | Results

### Significant between group results



Figure 51 – Mean values for Approximate Entropy in the Mediolateral plane of movement (ApEn\_ML) with closed eyes with a significant decrease (in green) after the 12 weeks when comparing control group with yoga group post flight simulator.



Figure 52 – Mean values for Lyapunov Exponent (in  $s^{-1}$ ) in the mediolateral plane of movement with closed eyes with a significant decrease (in green) after the 12 weeks when comparing control group with yoga group post flight simulator.



Figure 53 – Mean values for Alfa Entropy in the anteroposterior plane of movement with closed eyes with a significant decrease (in green) after the 12 weeks when comparing control group with yoga group pre-flight simulator.

In the assessment of postural control for within-group comparison with closed eyes in mediolateral plane the sample entropy, correlation dimension, approximate entropy and Lyapunov exponent values showed significant results, as well as correlation dimension for open eyes in the anteroposterior plane. In the assessment of postural control for between group comparison with closed eyes, in mediolateral plane the approximate entropy and Lyapunov exponent values showed significant results, as well as in the anteroposterior plane the alpha entropy values showcased significant results.



# 5.8. RCT Study 5 Results on decision making capacity for operational performance

This study investigates whether the incorporation of AVYS practice into the training regimen of Portuguese military pilots can reduce stress, enhance decision making capacity, and improve overall performance.

## Performance values



Figure 54 – The mean number of errors generally decreases for both groups (in purple).



Figure 55 — Before the intervention (left), there is a significant difference between the groups time (in seconds). After the intervention (right), there is no significant difference in time between groups for the duration of the flight emergency simulation solving time.

The performance time considered in this study was the total period of time that each pilot spent inside the flight simulator, from habituation to recovery and included all the maneuvers in the flight simulation.





Figure 566 – Five Facet Mindfulness Questionnaire (FFMQ) variable Aware Actions values significantly increased for the yoga group when comparing to the controls in final evaluation (in blue).



Figure 57 – Five Facet Mindfulness Questionnaire (FFMQ) variable Non-Judgmental Inner Critic values significantly increased within the yoga group.





Figure 58 – Multidimensional Assessment of Interoceptive Awareness (MAIA) variable *Noticing* values significantly increased within the yoga group after the 12 weeks (6A). There was also a significant difference between groups with values increasing for the yoga group versus controls in final evaluations (in blue in 6B).

101



Figure 59 – Multidimensional Assessment of Interoceptive Awareness (MAIA) variable Attention Regulation values significantly increased within the yoga group (in blue).



Figure 60 – Multidimensional Assessment of Interoceptive Awareness (MAIA) variable Body Listening values significantly increased within the yoga group (in blue).





Figure 61 – Aviation Attitude Safety Scale (ASAS) variable Self-Confidence values significantly increased within the yoga group (in blue).



Figure 62 – Aviation Attitude Safety Scale (ASAS) variable Risk Orientation values significantly increased within the yoga group after the 12 weeks (right side in orange). Safety Orientation values significantly increased within the yoga group after the 12 weeks (left side in blue).

103



Figure 63 – Trail Making Test version B values significantly decreased within the yoga group after the 12 weeks (in green).

The results showed significant reductions in the number of errors within the AVYS group after the intervention. In the FFMQ, Aware Actions and Non-Judgmental Inner Critic improved significantly within the AVYS group. The MAIA showed significant improvements in Noticing, Attention Regulation, and Body Listening within the AVYS group. The ASAS indicated significant increases in Self-Confidence, Risk Orientation, and Safety Orientation within the AVYS group. The TMT showed significant improvements in cognitive flexibility (TMTB) within the AVYS group.

The published article can be accessed in: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jatrs.2025.100075.









## 6.1. General Discussion

The findings of this study align with previous information about cognitive performance being essential in military operations, as impaired function significantly contributes to accidents (Vrijkotte et al., 2016). Instructors should prioritize the physical and psychological well-being of trainee pilots (Yun et al., 2019). Enhancing sensory systems, particularly through vestibular habituation, can improve sensory processing and integration, thereby supporting decision making and action planning (Appiah-Kubi et al., 2019).

High-cognitive-load tasks markedly alter autonomic nervous system activity, especially under hypoxic conditions. Understanding this response is crucial, given that military personnel often face high cognitive loads of unpredictable duration and frequency during flight operations. This challenge is likely compounded by heightened autonomic nervous system activity from pre-flight activities and the anticipation of combat-related outcomes (Wittels et al., 2024). The task of designing exercise programs for these individuals while addressing all these factors, and the fact that the pilot's bodies are already adapted through military training is a very complex challenge.

Regular yoga practice has been shown to enhance postural control, muscle strength, and vestibular function, increasing plasticity in pathways related to vestibular responses (Appiah-Kubi et al., 2019). Ashtanga Yoga, based on Patanjali's teachings, integrates the body, breath, mind, and emotions (Desikachar et al., 2005), supporting the overall cognitive and physical readiness of pilots. The general strength gains observed with AVYS, could imply potential benefits in injury mitigation for Air Force pilots. Strengthening muscles, especially in key areas such as the core and spine, may help pilots better withstand the physical demands of flight, including the high G-forces that often lead to musculoskeletal issues (Chayrez et al., 2024). By enhancing overall body strength and flexibility, AVYS might reduce the likelihood of injuries, promoting better long-term physical health for pilots.

AVYS, as per the study's findings, can address these military demands, since it prepares the pilots to better respond to their workload difficulties.

## 6.2. Stress in expert vs rookie aviation military pilots



In the case-control study, the first take-off induced the highest stress due to unfamiliarity, resulting in increased sympathetic modulation (Hormeño-Holgado et al., 2019b). Anticipatory anxiety prepares the body and mind for potential threats (Clemente-Suárez et al., 2013) and has been examined in military (Svensson et al., 1997; Mansikka et al., 2016) and high-stress civilian contexts, including commercial pilots (Zhang et al., 1997; Lehrer et al., 2010), sports (Clemente-Suárez et al., 2018; Belinchón-deMiguel et al., 2019), healthcare (Redondo-Flórez et al., 2020; Sánchez-Conde et al., 2019), and academia (Beltrán-Velasco et al., 2019; Mendoza-Castejon et al., 2020; Ramírez-Adrados et al., 2021).

During the three emergency take-offs, all pilots exhibited higher parasympathetic modulation due to familiarity and the absence of immediate emergency. However, Emergency 2 (engine failure) elicited the strongest sympathetic response and the lowest RMSSD and SDNN values due to limited decision making time, despite a high likelihood of returning to base. Overall, emergencies resulted in lower HRV and heightened sympathetic modulation compared to simulated combat (Fuentes-García et al., 2021; Hormeño-Holgado et al., 2019a; Villafaina et al., 2021), likely due to greater uncertainty in emergencies versus clearer combat objectives.

Real flight conditions amplify cardiovascular and sympathetic responses compared to simulations (Hormeño-Holgado et al., 2019b; Delgado-Moreno et al., 2019). The perception of physical danger intensifies stress (Vicente-Rodríguez et al., 2020a). When comparing expert and rookie pilots, experts displayed a similar or higher sympathetic stress response in some maneuvers. Habituation theory suggests that more exposure to stress reduces responses (Groves et al., 1970), yet experienced pilots (EPs) had more flight time, while rookie (RPs) had more simulator time. High-stress environments complicate habituation (Ruisoto et al., 2020; Ramírez-Adrados et al., 2022).

In military contexts, experienced individuals often show greater psychophysiological responses that enhance performance and mission success (Sánchez-Molina et al., 2019a; Sánchez-Molina et al., 2019b). Psychological factors also influence stress responses and habituation in high-stress environments (Martín-Rodríguez et al., 2021; Rodriguez-Besteiro et al., 2021). This study indicated that expert pilots performed better despite similar or higher stress levels, suggesting that information processing and action under stress are crucial in military settings.

# 6.3. Stress in a simulated flight emergency for aviation military pilots

In RCT Study 1 on HRV and pilot performance, the AVYS group showed positive changes in HRV metrics across various flight conditions, reflecting improved stress management.

A significant increase in heart rate during habituation indicated higher sympathetic activation levels (Hormeño-Holgado et al., 2019; Pulopulos et al., 2018). Decreased parasympathetic activity during the second flight, seen in RMSSD and HF increases, suggested less relaxed and recovered states (Fuentes-Garcia et al., 2021; Shaffer et al., 2017). Results in SD1% across multiple maneuvers indicated greater short-term sympathetic activation (Bustamante-Sánchez et al., 2020; Shaffer et al., 2014), most likely towards keeping attention and focus (Degroote et al., 2020). Reductions in LF, SDNN, and the SNS Index further reflected increased sympathetic activity (Tornero-Aguilera et al., 2018; Johannes et al., 2017).

In both the control and AVYS group, an increase in SD2% indicated augmented autonomic flexibility, indicating that the body is more capable of responding to stress and recovering effectively (Schaffer et al., 2014; Baevsky et al., 2017).

Overall, these findings highlight the impact of specific flight conditions on stress responses and support the value of AVYS in maintaining sympathetic activity for focused attention, showing better cognitive performance, as well as improving stress resilience in high-pressure environments like military aviation (Villafaina et al., 2021; Massaro et al., 2019; Santos et al., 2021; Degroote et al., 2020).

AVYS also led to shorter completion times for *Touch & Go* maneuver, suggesting a faster approach. Both groups showed performance improvements, with the AVYS group making fewer errors, enhancing pilot safety and precision during critical maneuvers (Hormeño-Holgado et al., 2019; Bustamante-Sánchez et al., 2020). These results emphasize the benefits of targeted stress management interventions in demanding environments (Tornero-Aguilera et al., 2018; Degroote et al., 2020).

These findings underscore the critical importance of interventions aimed at enhancing autonomic flexibility, such as this tailored AVYS program., as a decrease in HRV is associated with impaired physiological recovery and greater susceptibility to stress-related performance issues, particularly in high-stakes environments such as military aviation.

# 6.4. Health, strength and respiratory capacity of aviation military pilots

In RCT Study 2 on health, strength, and respiratory capacity, pre-intervention health scores were similar between the control and AVYS groups. Post-intervention, the control group showed a significant decline in overall health, while the AVYS group exhibited a slight improvement, indicating that AVYS may help mitigate some negative effects of military training. The control group had no significant changes in handgrip strength, whereas the AVYS group demonstrated notable improvements, suggesting a positive effect of AVYS. The incorporation of stretching, balance, and isometric exercises engages various muscles (Dubey et al., 2022; Mandanmohan et al., 2003; Thangavel et al., 2014). Controlled breathing and mindfulness may enhance muscle engagement and neuromuscular coordination, thereby improving grip performance (Dubey et al., 2022; Mandanmohan et al., 2003; Thangavel et al., 2014).

The study found no significant lung capacity differences between the intervention and control groups when comparing baseline to post-12-week values. Although the control group showed a small effect size in lung capacity, the AVYS group demonstrated a large change. The lack of significance may relate to prior pilot training (MacIntyre et al., 1982; Cochet et al., 2014). Combined AVYS and military training positively impacted lung performance, favoring AVYS. While no pre-intervention differences were noted, the post-intervention data suggested higher lung capacity in the AVYS group, consistent with findings from larger studies employing varied pranayama techniques (Dubey et al., 2022; Mandanmohan et al., 2003; Thangavel et al., 2014; Choudary et al., 2023; Durmic et al., 2015; Sheetal et al., 2012; Abel et al., 2013; Dinesh et al., 2015).

Significant differences in FEV1% emerged in the AVYS group post-intervention, indicating improved lung function, while the control group displayed no significant changes. Both groups exhibited large effect sizes for pre- to post-intervention differences. The control group's higher post-intervention variability suggests influences beyond the intervention, whereas the AVYS group's improvement likely stems from reduced airway obstruction and enhanced ventilation (David et al., 2022). Significant differences in FEV6% were also noted, with the AVYS group's improvement surpassing that of the control group, indicating a substantial impact on respiratory function (David et al., 2022). Changes in FEV1% and FEV6% may result from adjusted breathing patterns, emphasizing the benefits of AVYS 's breathing techniques (Wang et al., 2018).

The Borg CR10 scale revealed that AVYS participants experienced significantly reduced perceived exertion post-intervention (Scherr et al., 2013). This reduction, along with improved lung function, suggests that AVYS enhances physical capabilities and

# CHAPTER 6 | Discussion

adaptability that are key during maneuvers like AGSM (Dinesh et al., 2015). Specific pranayama types may also help delay fatigue onset (Prakash et al., 2007; Seltmann et al., 2020).

These findings emphasize AVYS's advantages in optimizing physical performance, well-being, and operational effectiveness in military aviation settings.

## 6.5. SpatDis and postural control of aviation military pilots

#### <u>Linear variables</u>

In RCT Study 3 on linear CoP variables, for the open-eye stance, there was a medium effect before the flight simulation and a large effect after it. For the closed-eye stance, there was a small effect before the simulation and none after. These results suggest that pilots' postural control improved with visual input after the AVYS intervention but not without it.

The larger effect size in open-eye tests implies a visual preference for maintaining stability, a pattern also observed in previous research on commercial pilots (Polak et al., 2022; Stanney et al., 1999; Min et al., 2004; Chardonnet et al., 2017). This highlights the need for personalized AVYS practices that incorporate eye-closing to reduce reliance on vision during flight missions.

Despite the small sample size, the study showed that the Biosignals Plux platform effectively measured the AVYS intervention's impact on CoP. The intervention group exhibited similar CoP behavior in both conditions, consistent with studies showing minimal differences between open- and closed-eye measurements (Le Clair et al., 1996; Lin et al., 2008; Doyle et al., 2007). The control group, however, showed increased displacement with eyes open and decreased with eyes closed, indicating a greater reliance on visual information.

After the AVYS intervention, visual input became less critical for postural control, aligning with findings that commercial pilots reduce reliance on vision as an adaptive response to the simulator environment (Polak et al., 2022).

## <u>Non-linear variables</u>

In RCT Study 4 on non-linear CoP variables, Sample Entropy with closed eyes in the mediolateral plane within the AVYS group decreased after 12 weeks, reflecting reliance on a fixed strategy for maintaining balance rather than employing adaptable strategies (Richman et al., 2000; Rhea et al., 2011; Yentes et al., 2021; Saraiva et al., 2022). This reduction in complexity suggests a shift toward more predictable and stable control. Similarly, Approximate Entropy decreased in the same plane within the yoga group and comparing between groups were also significantly lower for the yoga group, confirming more stable and efficient postural control (Yentes et al., 2021).

The Correlation Dimension with open eyes in the anteroposterior plane increased within the AVYS group, indicating the engagement of more degrees of freedom, using a broader range of muscle coordination patterns, thus enhancing adaptability and flexibility (Gurses et al., 2013; Esteves et al., 2022). In contrast, the Correlation Dimension decreased with closed eyes in the mediolateral plane, implying a more efficient system that simplified movement strategies for balance (Gurses et al., 2013; Esteves et al., 2022).

Lyapunov Exponent values decreased with both open and closed eyes in the mediolateral plane within the AVYS group, and in the ML plane they decrease as well when comparing between the control and the AVYS group's post-intervention, indicating reduced sensitivity to perturbations and less chaotic behavior (Rosenstein et al., 1993; Kantz et al., 2004; Ashtiani et al., 2017; Kedziorek et al., 2022).

Alpha entropy values in the AP plane with closed eyes were lower for the AVYS group when comparing with the control group post 12-weeks, showcasing rarer fluctuations in sway regularity (Richman et al., 2000; Rhea et al., 2011; Yentes et al., 2021; Saraiva et al., 2022).

This suggests that the AVYS group developed more stable postural control, relying less on visual input and more on internal cues such as vestibular and somatosensory feedback mechanisms, making them better equipped to maintain stability in dynamic aviation environments. The control group exhibited no significant changes, indicating that AVYS positively influences postural control beyond military training alone.

## Use of the Force Platform

The Biosignals Plux (Portugal) force platform proved to be a non-invasive, rapid way to collect objective data to establish or improve training protocols for military pilots (in this case a program tailored to improve vestibular system responses), in relation to their balance responses by assessing CoP displacement.



# CHAPTER 6 | Discussion

Using cognitive tasks and non-linear analyses under sensory deprivation produced significant results (Sample et al., 2016; Szekely et al., 2020), particularly when comparing bipedal stance conditions. The analysis highlighted that the non-linear variables effectively captured differences in postural strategies, suggesting AVYS enhances postural control, especially without visual input. These findings underscore the balance between stability and adaptability in postural control systems, with AVYS training contributing to improved efficiency and reliability, especially under sensory-deprived conditions. Such insights may influence better training approaches for military aviation pilots.

## 6.6. Decision making capacity for performance of aviation military pilots

In RCT Study 5 on decision making capacity, the AVYS effectively reduced errors, indicated by significant within-group improvements and large effect sizes. This suggests that AVYS may enhance cognitive function, focus, or stress management in high-pressure situations like flight emergencies. Although the AVYS group responded faster to emergencies before the intervention, no significant improvements in response time were observed post-intervention, indicating that while errors decreased, speed was mostly unaffected.

The AVYS positively impacted mindfulness facets such as *Aware Actions*, *Non*and *Judgmental Inner Critic*, indicating enhanced mindful behavior in pilots. Big and medium effect sizes in *Non-Reactivity*, *Observation* and *Description* suggest potential improvements that may become significant with larger samples. These findings highlight AVYS's role in helping pilots manage stress and make deliberate decisions, crucial for aviation safety, aligning with benefits observed in other interventions (Chen et al., 2022; Nassif et al., 2023).

Additionally, AVYS significantly improved interoceptive awareness in *Noticing*, *Attention Regulation*, and *Body Listening*, enhancing pilots' ability to monitor bodily sensations, vital for aviation. Although some subscales showed no significant changes, medium effect sizes indicate further research could reveal more substantial improvements.

The intervention also enhanced pilots' *Self-Confidence*, *Risk Orientation*, and *Safety Orientation*, with large effect sizes demonstrating practical significance. Increased *Self-Confidence* suggests AVYS boosts pilots' belief in their skills, essential in high-stress situations. For the increase both in *Risk Orientation* and *Safety Orientation* it seems that

the pilots are likely willing to engage in calculated risks while maintaining a strong commitment to safety protocols. This dual orientation can foster an environment where innovation and effective risk management coexist, enhancing operational efficiency without compromising safety. Such pilots are often well-equipped to handle challenging situations, ensuring both adaptability and adherence to safety standards in their flying practices.

Finally, the 12-week AVYS improved cognitive flexibility during task switching, notably in TMTB scores, with medium effect sizes in TMTA indicating potential benefits for visual attention and processing speed, warranting further investigation.

The findings indicate that AVYS may enhance cognitive abilities critical for aviation, suggesting its integration into training programs could have long-term benefits. Ongoing assessments of cognitive and visuomotor capabilities are essential to ensure peak operational performance for pilots (Maltez-Laurienti et al., 2021; Maruta et al., 2023).

Overall, AVYS enhances stress management and precision in high-pressure scenarios, contributing to a significant reduction in errors. AVYS may also enhance cognitive flexibility, focus, and stress management, possibly contributing to improve performance and safety in high-pressure flight aviation environments. However, the increased completion times of some maneuvers highlight the need to balance the benefits of improved precision with the necessity of maintaining time efficiency. Integrating AVYS into pilot training could be a valuable strategy for enhancing operational performance, particularly in complex and demanding scenarios, by improving pilots' ability to manage stress and maintain optimal compliance by following protocol and reducing mistakes. It should however be carefully managed to ensure that the improvements in stress resilience and precision do not come at the expense of operational speed.

#### 6.7. Strengths

A notable strength of this intervention lies in its practicality and costeffectiveness. Furthermore, all exercises are executable without the need for additional materials and can be conducted in spaces already designated for training, such as a gym room or outdoors when weather conditions permit. The intervention proposed is both practical and cost-effective, addressing the challenges military pilots in Portugal face in



## CHAPTER 6 | Discussion

maintaining their fitness without a structured training regimen. This makes the research applicable and feasible for real-world implementation.

This research offers a unique contribution by studying the hard-to-access population of military aviation pilots, who face high stress and lack a structured training regimen. This adds significant value to the research as it provides rare insights into a unique and hard-to-reach group, due to security and workload constraints. The study's findings could influence policymakers to implement mandatory exercise programs, enhancing military aviation pilot's work safety. These insights are also applicable to commercial and civil aviation sectors.

The benefits of this study for individual Airforce pilots, are the tools and knowledge for enhancing control and alertness during flights, especially in challenging situations like demanding maneuvers or high-G flights.

In the Masters in Military Aeronautics Course, these observed improvements can lead to better aircraft handling, smoother maneuvers, and more precise execution of exercises. Enhanced control, self-awareness and alertness during training can result in more focused and effective debriefs, helping pilots refine their performance and improve their learning outcomes. Additionally, biofeedback after simulated flight missions aids in monitoring and adjusting their physical state and makes debriefs easier and more precise. This, in turn, raises the overall quality of the training program, better preparing military pilots for the challenges they'll face in real and simulated aviation operations.

For the broader Portuguese Airforce, these improvements in pilot performance enhance flight safety, reduce unnecessary maneuvers, conserve fuel, and save money.

By incorporating these insights into coaching and training programs, athletes can improve their execution of techniques, make better decisions under pressure, and analyze their performance more effectively after games or events. This ultimately raises safety standards, reduces the risk of injury, and contributes to better overall fitness and performance in sports.

## 6.8. Limitations

The main limitation of the present research was the low number of participants analyzed, that can be explained by the difficulty to access such specific sample of elite pilots, as well as the protected involvement that surrounds these types of specialized environments. The sample size may present challenges in interpreting results and deducing the practical relevance of the study. The study's limitations include a relatively small sample size, as it represents the entirety of the Tirocinium Pilots in the Portuguese Air Force, making it impossible to have a larger sample. This may affect the generalization of the findings. Recognizing the limitations of the small sample size's potential impact on result robustness, yet it's essential to consider that the sample represents 100% of the specific population being studied. Working with focused populations often entails smaller sample sizes. Furthermore, due to COVID-related interruptions in Airforce class scheduling, the population size nearly doubled during data collection (having one class repeating the interrupted Tirocinium along with the next class of pilots in the scheduled Tirocinium as well), presenting a distinct situation from its usual size. Additionally, the reliance on simulations instead of real flight tests may limit the generalization of the results.

The short duration of the intervention may not capture all the long-term effects of AVYS on HRV and performance. Challenges in maintaining blinding among pilots also present potential limitations. These are mitigated by including the totality of this population, designating the control group as a waiting list, offering them the same intervention subsequently, and ensuring blinding for all investigators except the study coordinator.

The findings from our study, where the AVYS group exhibited significant increases in sample entropy, correlation dimension, and the Lyapunov Exponent in the mediolateral plane with closed eyes, as well as significant changes in the anteroposterior plane with open eyes, align with previous studies (Perrin et al., 2002; Schmit et al., 2005) in which specialized training led to distinct enhancements in postural control. Previous studies (Schmit et al., 2005) demonstrated stability and reduced sway for ballet dancers, while others (Perrin et al., 2002) showed that judo athletes exhibited superior sensorimotor adaptability and balance control. Our AVYS group showed increased complexity and adaptability, particularly under challenging conditions such as closed-eye balance. These findings highlight how specific training can refine postural control beyond what general physical training, like military drills, can achieve. Research into specific balance training shows that athletes and highly trained individuals may use different motor control strategies when faced with challenging, non-specific tasks (Akbas et al., 2022; Michalska et al., 2022). In this study, the AVYS group exhibited more irregular patterns in non-linear variables, indicating greater variability in postural control. However, further studies with larger samples and longer intervention periods are needed to better understand these adaptations in high-performance populations. Also, due to



# CHAPTER 6 | Discussion

differences in data treatment, analysis methods, and statistical tests used across the several studies available, direct correlations are not possible (Rhea et al., 2015). However, a meta-analysis or standardized data re-analysis could offer a more comprehensive comparison and deeper insights into the effects of various interventions on postural control.

Another limitation of the study is that we only tested pilots in flight simulations rather than real flight scenarios. Our testing equipment was not designed to be used inside airplanes, and some of the missions prohibit civilian equipment with antennas due to their classified nature. Additionally, certain tests in real flights would need to be conducted on the landing field, which would likely disrupt military workflow.

As civilians, we secured explicit authorization to conduct this study within a military setting. Compliance with specific military regulations, legal constraints, and adherence to classified information protocols were paramount. Notably, due to operational constraints, especially in classified, restricted or warzone areas, the team could only study and publish information from active pilots taking their Tirocinium. The team was able to study the pilots while they worked, gaining hands-on experience and practical skills before assuming their full duties. Testing moments had to synchronize with the pilots' professional commitments and occur in non-classified areas. The study focused solely on Tirocinium Pilots, given the limitations in examining expert Airforce Pilots (in this specific case Airbase 5 in Monte Real, which houses the two teams of fighter jet specialist pilots, had many limitations because of the nature of their work, not allowing for the study to be developed there). These measures ensured alignment with legal, security, and operational considerations during the study.

/ 117









# CHAPTER 7 | Conclusion

The results of this research revealed that experimented and novel pilots presented increased sympathetic stress responses when submitted to different types of stressful situations like the occurrence of aircraft emergencies during the flight. Nevertheless, these increases are similar and, in some cases, higher than those observed in experimented pilots during real flight situations. However, concerning flight competences, experienced pilots showed higher performance solving flight emergency tasks than novices.

The results of this research related to HRV measures revealed that in various flight maneuvers AirForce pilots that participated in this 12-week AVYS program showcased improved parasympathetic activity and autonomic balance, decreased sympathetic nervous system activity and lower stress levels.

This study highlights the benefits of integrating AVYS as an adjunct intervention to enhance strength, underscoring its holistic approach to physical well-being. The practice of AVYS seems to also influence forced expiration volume, possibly due to increased respiratory muscle strength and endurance from pranayama training.

Combining military training with AVYS practices showed notably enhanced postural control in pilots, especially under sensory-deprived conditions, emphasizing the significance of internal cue and vestibular system utilization changes found in motor control.

Regarding performance, the AVYS group pilots were slower within their group during the touch & go maneuver and slower when compared to the control group solving the emergency maneuver but had a significant reduction in errors when solving the simulated flight emergency.

Regarding decision making capabilities, AVYS showcased enhancements in pilot's cognitive flexibility, focus, and stress management, contributing to improve performance and safety in high-pressure flight aviation environments.

To conclude this thesis here are the answers to the proposed questions on the primary and secondary outcomes:

#### Primary outcomes

1. Does the practice of AVYS improve pilots' performance during their work, thereby preventing human error and consequently increasing flight safety? Yes, it seems like AVYS has a positive impact on pilot's performance in pilot's work, especially when AVYS group pilots were making less
mistakes when compared to the control group pilots. Less mistakes or less human error will lead to increased flight safety.

2. Can we enhance the pilot training process with this practice? Yes, it seems like AVYS can be implemented in the pilot's work schedule without disturbing their workflow and the practice had positive impacts that went beyond the ones military training alone brings, in the aspects of operative performance, stress and HRV and vestibular system control responses.

#### Secondary outcomes

*1.* AVYS practice influences overall health?

Not in all evaluated variables. Our overall health results were not significant when comparing changes in Body Composition: we found no differences between groups. We found significant differences in the SF-36V1 questionnaire, handgrip strength and lung capacity, pointing to a positive impact of AVYS practice on overall health regarding these three variables.

- 2. AVYS practice influences postural control and balance? Yes, with CoP linear values showcasing a trend on size effect towards a more homogenous response from pilots in the AVYS group, to non-linear values showcasing significant values towards an improvement in postural control responses, especially when visual input is absent, we can say AVYS has a positive impact on postural control and balance mechanisms.
- 3. AVYS practice influences the functioning of the vestibular system? Yes, with CoP linear and non-linear values showcasing bigger effect sizes and significant values, when comparing open versus closed eyes conditions, we can infer that AVYS has a positive impact on postural control and balance mechanisms at the level of the vestibular system.
- 4. AVYS practice influences risk perception? No. As shown by the Aviation Safety Attitude Scale, it seems risk perception might be influenced by other factors, like pilot's age and experience in real life missions.
- 5. AVYS practice influences stress levels? Yes, AVYS had a positive impact on stress management as shown by the Five Facet Mindfulness and



Multidimensional Assessment of Interoceptive Awareness Questionnaire results.

- 6. AVYS practice influences attention capacity? Yes, AVYS has a positive impact on cognitive flexibility during task switching as shown by the results of Trail Making Test B.
- 7. AVYS practice influences decision making?

Yes, the AVYS group pilots made less errors than the control group pilots, when completing the flight emergency protocol in the flight simulator, and showcased a good balance between Risk and Safety Orientation when responding to the ASAS questionnaire, indicating AVYS practice positively influences decision making.









The Portuguese Air Force's Health and Exercise Department lacks an official training program for pilots, who currently train at their discretion to meet mandatory physical testing requirements. Findings from this study could inform a structured training program and improve future military health policy and legislation, with potential applications in other Airforce departments.

Broadening the study's relevance to diverse contexts, the methods, results, and discussions generated by this project have the potential to be extrapolated to diverse military contexts, beyond military aviation, exploring applications of human intervention in different military settings, such as incorporating new training techniques for: airfield operations officers, paratroopers, armored vehicle operators, tank crews, navy divers, military paratroopers, and others, where the improvement of physical and cognitive abilities aligns with the outcomes of this study. Furthermore, the applicability of the project's findings extends to high-demand environments beyond military, including civil aviation (both for pilots and air traffic controllers), professional race car or motorcycle drivers and skydiving companies – professions where the optimization of physical and cognitive capabilities may offer valuable insights and benefits. High-performance situations involving factors such as stress, spatial disorientation, cognitive flexibility, postural control, operational performance, strength, lung capacity, and sensory deprivation are critical factors for performance and safety, especially in environments requiring rapid decision making under pressure can benefit from this study. Insights from this study could guide the development of structured training programs, being occupational health related or sports performance related.

Future studies should extend the intervention period across multiple years of *Tirocinium* cohorts or include other Airforce teams for comparative analysis. Yoga programs could also be researched in other high-stress populations, such as motorsports, where precise control under pressure is crucial. Larger samples are necessary to better understand psychophysiological stress responses in these demanding contexts (Johannes et al., 2017; Degroote et al., 2020; Beltrán-Velasco et al., 2021). Objective data on pilots' psychophysiological workload during flights could assist in pilot selection and mission assignment (Zhang et al., 1997; Lehrer et al., 2010).

Further research is needed to understand the long-term effects and integration of tailored training programs like yoga in military aviation, focusing on stress management, operational performance, and flight safety. Sequential testing with low-stress and highstress emergency protocols should compare intervention impacts across varying stress intensities. Analyzing the recovery phase could reveal how quickly participants return to baseline autonomic functioning, and cortisol testing may enhance study robustness (Degroote et al., 2020).

For postural control assessments, future studies should analyze more than just pvalues for practical insights. A larger sample, a longer yoga protocol, or the inclusion of other countries could strengthen findings. It would also be useful to compare CoP displacement with stress levels and simulator data with real flight scenarios, investigating differences between senior and student pilots, and examining psychophysical correlations (e.g., HRV, stress) with CoP displacement.

Standing posture, compared to sitting, impacts task-switching difficulty, suggesting that balancing during cognitive tasks influences brain focus (Stephan et al., 2018). This is relevant for pilots, as flight simulator tasks requiring balance might affect their task management abilities. Changes in CoP measures before and after simulations indicate that postural engagement may enhance cognitive function, emphasizing the link between physical posture and cognitive performance in high-demand environments (Bonnet et al., 2023). Future studies could measure CoP variables while sitting and during tasks for comparison.

Spatial disorientation is a major aviation problem. Training pilots to perceive rollangular displacements could improve their spatial awareness during coordinated flight turns (Brink et al., 2024). The AVYS intervention likely enhanced core stability, leading to controlled movements and reduced sway, especially in the ML plane (Koncz et al., 2024; Zemkova et al., 2022). Technologies like EMG or functional MRI could clarify which muscles show increased activation and explain observed improvements in ML variability and AP stability.

Proprioception and sensory feedback are critical for balance, particularly in unipodal stances, which demand higher neuromuscular control. A longer yoga protocol for military pilots, especially those less trained, could improve balance, injury prevention, and performance. Additionally, international studies could examine similar parameters in student pilots from other Airforce teams to increase sample sizes.

Future studies should target injury prevention and performance optimization through interventions like yoga, focusing on flexibility and core stability. Securing permissions to use equipment inside aircrafts and on the landing field would allow for real-flight data comparisons without disrupting military missions.

# References





Aandstad, A., Holtberget, K., Hageberg, R., Holme, I., & Anderssen, S. A. (2014). Validity and reliability of bioelectrical impedance analysis and skinfold thickness in predicting body fat in military personnel. *Military medicine*, *179*(2), 208–217. https://doi.org/10.7205/MILMED-D-12-00545

Abel, N. N., Lloyd, L. K., & Williams, J. S. (2013). The effects of regular yoga practice on pulmonary function in healthy individuals: A literature review. *Journal of Alternative and Complementary Medicine*, *19*(3), 185–190. https://doi.org/10.1089/acm.2011.0516

Aggarwal, R., & Ranganathan, P. (2019a). Study designs: Part 4 - Interventional studies. *Perspectives in clinical research*, *10*(3), 137–139. https://doi.org/10.4103/picr.PICR\_91\_19

Aggarwal, R., & Ranganathan, P. (2019b). Study designs: Part 5 - interventional studies(II). Perspectives in clinical research, 10(4), 183–186.https://doi.org/10.4103/picr.PICR\_138\_19

Aguilera, J., Gil-Cabrera, J., & Clemente-Suárez, V. (2020). Determining the psychophysiological responses of military aircrew when exposed to acute disorientation stimuli. *BMJ military health*, bmjmilitary-2020-001417. Advance online publication. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjmilitary-2020-001417

Air Force Special Tactics. (n.d.). Mission planning, military decision-making process,andtroopleadingprocedures.https://www.airforcespecialtactics.af.mil/Portals/80/prototype/assets/Planning%20and%20Decision%20Making\_1%20(1).pdf

Akbaş, A., Marszałek, W., Drozd, S., Czarny, W., Król, P., Warchoł, K., Słomka, K. J., & Rzepko, M. (2022). The effect of expertise on postural control in elite sport ju-jitsu athletes. *BMC Sports Science, Medicine and Rehabilitation, 14*, 86. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13102-022-00496-9

Alfaras, M., Primett, W., Umair, M., Windlin, C., Karpashevich, P., Chalabianloo, N., Bowie, D., Sas, C., Sanches, P., Höök, K., Ersoy, C., & Gamboa, H. (2020). Biosensing and Actuation-Platforms Coupling Body Input-Output Modalities for Affective Technologies. *Sensors (Basel, Switzerland)*, 20(21), 5968. https://doi.org/10.3390/s20215968 Allegretta, R. A., Rovelli, K., & Balconi, M. (2024). The Role of Emotion Regulationand Awareness in Psychosocial Stress: An EEG-Psychometric CorrelationalStudy. Healthcare(Basel, Switzerland), 12(15), 1491.https://doi.org/10.3390/healthcare12151491

Allred, A. R., Lippert, A. F., & Wood, S. J. (2024). Galvanic Vestibular Stimulation Advancements for Spatial Disorientation Training. Aerospace medicine and human performance, 95(7), 390–398. https://doi.org/10.3357/AMHP.6362.2024

American Thoracic Society. (1991). Lung function testing: Selection of reference values and interpretative strategies. *American Review of Respiratory Disease, 144*(5), 1202–1218. https://doi.org/10.1164/ajrccm/144.5.1202

Appiah-Kubi KO, Wright WG. (2019). Vestibular training promotes adaptation of multisensory integration in postural control. *Gait Posture*, 73, 215–20. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gaitpost.2019.07.197

Ashtiani, M. N., & Mahmood-Reza, A. (2017). Nonlinear dynamics analysis of the human balance control subjected to physical and sensory perturbations. *Acta Neurobiologiae Experimentalis*, 77(2), 168–175.

Baer, R. A., Smith, G. T., Lykins, E., Button, D., Krietemeyer, J., Sauer, S., Walsh, E., Duggan, D., & Williams, J. M. (2008). Construct validity of the five facet mindfulness questionnaire in meditating and nonmeditating samples. *Assessment*, *15*(3), 329–342. https://doi.org/10.1177/1073191107313003

Baer, R. A., Smith, G. T., Lykins, E., Button, D., Krietemeyer, J., Sauer, S., Walsh, E., Duggan, D., & Williams, J. M. (2008). Construct validity of the five facet mindfulness questionnaire in meditating and nonmeditating samples. *Assessment*, *15*(3), 329–342. https://doi.org/10.1177/1073191107313003

Baevsky, R., & Chernikova, A. (2017). Heart rate variability analysis: Physiological foundations and main methods. *Cardiometry*, 10, 66–76. https://doi.org/10.12710/cardiometry.2017.10.6676

Balaguru, P., Sivaramakrishnan, S., & Dhanalakshmi, R. (2021). Effect of pranayama training on vital capacity, respiratory pressures, and respiratory endurance of young



healthy volunteers. National Journal of Physiology, Pharmacy, and Pharmacology, 11(2), 193–195.

Balaguru, P., Sivaramakrishnan, S., & Dhanalakshmi, R. (2022). Effect of pranayama training on vital capacity, respiratory pressures, and respiratory endurance of young healthy volunteers. *National Journal of Physiology, Pharmacy and Pharmacology, 12*(2), 173–183. https://doi.org/10.5455/njppp.2022.12.07264202127082021

Baltzley, D. R., Kennedy, R. S., Berbaum, K. S., et al. (1989). The time course of postflight simulator sickness symptoms. *Aviation, Space, and Environmental Medicine,* 60(11), 1043–1048.

Barreto, C. R., Carvalho, F., & Lins-Kusterer, L. (2021). Factors associated with healthrelated quality of life of military policemen in Salvador, Brazil: Cross-sectional study. *Health and Quality of Life Outcomes, 19*(1), Article 1. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12955-020-01661-0

Bassett, D. S., & Sporns, O. (2017). Network neuroscience. *Nature Neuroscience*, 20(3), 353–364. https://doi.org/10.1038/nn.4502

Beauchaine T. (2001). Vagal tone, development, and Gray's motivational theory: toward an integrated model of autonomic nervous system functioning in psychopathology. *Development* and *Psychopathology*, 13(2), 183–214. https://doi.org/10.1017/s0954579401002012

Belinchón-deMiguel, P., Ruisoto-Palomera, P., & Clemente-Suárez, V. J. (2019). Psychophysiological stress response of a Paralympic athlete during an ultra-endurance event: A case study. *Journal of Medical Systems*, 43(3), 70. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10916-019-1188-6

Beltrán-Velasco, A. I., Donoso-González, M., & Clemente-Suárez, V. J. (2021). Analysis of perceptual, psychological, and behavioral factors that affect the academic performance of education university students. *Physiology & Behavior, 238*, 113497. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physbeh.2021.113497

Beltrán-Velasco, A. I., Ruisoto-Palomera, P., Bellido-Esteban, A., García-Mateos, M., & Clemente-Suárez, V. J. (2019). Analysis of psychophysiological stress response in higher

education students undergoing clinical practice evaluation. *Journal of Medical Systems*, 43(3), 68. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10916-019-1187-7

Berglund, A. J., Kim, J., Walter, R. J., McCann, E. T., & Morris, M. J. (2022). Longitudinal Changes in Spirometry in Deployed Air Force Firefighters. *Journal of occupational and environmental medicine*, *64*(2), 146–150. https://doi.org/10.1097/JOM.00000000002369

Berntson, G. G., Norman, G. J., Hawkley, L. C., & Cacioppo, J. T. (2008). Cardiac autonomic balance versus cardiac regulatory capacity. *Psychophysiology*, 45(4), 643–652. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1469-8986.2008.00652.x

Bonnet, C. T., Faugloire, E., Riley, M. A., et al. (2006). Motion sickness preceded by unstable displacements of the center of pressure. *Human Movement Science*, *25*(6), 800–820. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.humov.2006.03.001

Bonnet, C. T., Singh, T., & Barela, J. A. (2023). Benefits associated with the standing position during visual search tasks. *Experimental Brain Research*, 241(1), 187–199. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00221-022-06495-6

Borander, A. K., Voie, Ø. A., Longva, K., Danielsen, T. E., Grahnstedt, S., Sandvik, L., Kongerud, J., & Sikkeland, L. I. B. (2017). Military small arms fire in association with acute decrements in lung function. *Occupational and Environmental Medicine*, *74*(9), 639–644. https://doi.org/10.1136/oemed-2016-104207

Bowie, C. R., & Harvey, P. D. (2006). Administration and interpretation of the Trail Making Test. Nature Protocols, 1(5), 2277–2281. https://doi.org/10.1038/nprot.2006.390

Bravo, A. J., Pearson, M. R., & Kelley, M. L. (2018). Mindfulness and Psychological Health Outcomes: A Latent Profile Analysis among Military Personnel and College Students. *Mindfulness*, 9(1), 258–270. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12671-017-0771-5

Brink, A., Keramidas, M. E., Bergsten, E., & Eiken, O. (2024). Influence of spatial orientation training in a centrifuge on the ability of fighter pilots to assess the bank angle during flight without visual references. *Journal of neurophysiology*, *132*(3), 710–721. https://doi.org/10.1152/jn.00129.2024



Brix, B., & Pongratz, H. (2023). *Postural stability in pilots under vestibular stress: A comparative look at pilot candidates versus experienced jet-aircrews*. GAF Institute of Aviation Medicine, Division III.

Budhi, B. R., Deepeshwar, S., & Angadi, B. (2022). Comparative cross-sectional study on phasic heart rate variability and working memory among young adults. *Advances in Mind-Body Medicine*, *36*(4), 12–19.

Bustamante-Sánchez, Á., & Clemente-Suárez, V. J. (2020a). Psychophysiological response in night and instrument helicopter flights. *Ergonomics*, *63*(4), 399–406. https://doi.org/10.1080/00140139.2020.1718772

Bustamante-Sánchez, Á., Delgado-Terán, M., & Clemente-Suárez, V. J. (2019). Psychophysiological response of different aircrew in normobaric hypoxia training. *Ergonomics*, *62*(2), 277–285. https://doi.org/10.1080/00140139.2018.1510541

Bustamante-Sánchez, A., Gil-Cabrera, J., Tornero-Aguilera, J. F., Fernandez-Lucas, J., Ramos-Campo, D. J., & Clemen-te-Suárez, V. J. (2021). Effects of Hypoxia on Selected Psychophysiological Stress Responses of Military Aircrew. *BioMed Research International*, 2021, 6633851. https://doi.org/10.1155/2021/6633851

Bustamante-Sánchez, Á., Tornero-Aguilera, J. F., Fernández-Elías, V. E., Hormeño-Holgado, A. J., Dalamitros, A. A., & Clemente-Suárez, V. J. (2020b). Effect of Stress on Autonomic and Cardiovascular Systems in Military Population: A Systematic Re-view. *Cardiology Research and Practice.*, 7986249. https://doi.org/10.1155/2020/7986249

Cao, X., MacNaughton, P., Cadet, L. R., Cedeno-Laurent, J. G., Flanigan, S., Vallarino, J., Donnelly-McLay, D., Christiani, D. C., Spengler, J. D., & Allen, J. G. (2019). Heart rate variability and performance of commercial airline pilots during flight simulations. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, *16*(2), 237. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph16020237

Carcaud, J., França de Barros, F., Idoux, E., Eugène, D., Reveret, L., Moore, L. E., Vidal, P. P., & Beraneck, M. (2017). Long-Lasting Visuo-Vestibular Mismatch in Freely-Behaving Mice Reduces the Vestibulo-Ocular Reflex and Leads to Neural Changes in the Direct Vestibular Pathway. *eNeuro*, 4(1), ENEURO.0290-16.2017. https://doi.org/10.1523/ENEURO.0290-16.2017 Carpenter, J. K., Conroy, K., Gomez, A. F., Curren, L. C., & Hofmann, S. G. (2019). The relationship between trait mindfulness and affective symptoms: A meta-analysis of the Five Facet Mindfulness Questionnaire (FFMQ). *Clinical psychology review*, *74*, 101785. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cpr.2019.101785

Carpenter, J. K., Conroy, K., Gomez, A. F., Curren, L. C., & Hofmann, S. G. (2019). The relationship between trait mindfulness and affective symptoms: A meta-analysis of the Five Facet Mindfulness Questionnaire (FFMQ). *Clinical psychology review*, *74*, 101785. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cpr.2019.101785

Castizo-Olier, J., Irurtia, A., Jemni, M., Carrasco-Marginet, M., Fernández-García, R., & Rodríguez, F. A. (2018). Bioelectrical impedance vector analysis (BIVA) in sport and exercise: Systematic review and future perspectives. *PloS one*, *13*(6), e0197957. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0197957

Catai, A. M., Pastre, C. M., Godoy, M. F., Silva, E. D., Takahashi, A., & Vanderlei, L. (2020). Heart rate variability: are you using it properly? Standardisation checklist of procedures. Brazilian *Journal of Physical Therapy*, 24(2), 91–102. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bjpt.2019.02.006

Chardonnet, J., Mirzaei, M., & Mérienne, F. (2017). Features of the postural sway signal as indicators to estimate and predict visually induced motion sickness in virtual reality. *International Journal of Human-Computer Interaction, 33*(10), 771–785. https://doi.org/10.1080/10447318.2017.1286767

Chayrez, S. E., Acevedo, A., Blake, J., Parrott, C., Gerking, T., Guthmann, D., Jilek, M., Dorcheus, J., Zeigler, Z., Copeland, C., Gill, H., Smietana, A., Price-Moore, C., Nores, B., & Scott, R. M. (2024). Performance Optimization and Injury Mitigation for Air Force Student Fighter Pilots. *Military medicine*, *189*(Supplement\_3), 465–470. https://doi.org/10.1093/milmed/usae153

Chen, J., Chen, A., Jiang, B., & Zhang, X. (2024). Physiological records-based situation awareness evaluation under aviation context: A comparative analysis. *Heliyon*, *10*(5), e26409. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.heliyon.2024.e26409

Chmura Kraemer, H., Periyakoil, V. S., & Noda, A. (2002). Kappa coefficients in medical research. *Statistics in Medicine*, *21*(14), 2109–2129. https://doi.org/10.1002/sim.1180

Choi, B., Lee, Y., Cho, T., Koo, H., & Kim D. (2015). Detection of G-Induced Loss of Consciousness (G-LOC) prognosis through EMG monitoring on gastrocnemius muscle in flight. *Annual International Conference of the IEEE Engineering in Medicine and Biology Society. IEEE Engineering in Medicine and Biology Society. Annual International Conference*, 2015, 7007–7010. https://doi.org/10.1109/EMBC.2015.7320005

Choudhary, S. (2023). Effects of yogic asanas, pranayama, and relaxation techniques on ventilatory functions, respiratory pressures, breath holding time, and respiratory endurance. *Global Journal for Research Analysis*, *15*(1), 193–195. https://doi.org/10.36106/gjra/8614214

Clarivate. (n.d.). *Web of Science*. Retrieved November 11, 2023, from https://www.webofknowledge.com/

Clemente, F. M., Reis, R. P., Martins, F. M. L., & Mendes, R. S. (2020). Spontaneous motor variability in military pilots during the execution of a simulated aerial mission. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *11*, 1616. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2020.01616

Clemente-Suárez, Vicente J, & Arroyo-Toledo, J. J. (2018). The use of autonomic modulation device to control training performance after high-intensity interval training program. *Journal of Medical Systems, 42*(3), 47. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10916-018-0907-8

Clemente-Suárez, Vicente J, & Robles-Pérez, J. J. (2013). Psycho-physiological response of soldiers in urban combat. *Anales de Psicología*, 29(2), 598–603. https://doi.org/10.6018/analesps.29.2.150691

Cochet, A. A., Lucero, P. F., Zacher, L. L., & Morris, M. J. (2014). Prevalence of supranormal pulmonary function test values between a military and nonmilitary cohort. *Respiratory Care*, *59*(5), 749–755. https://doi.org/10.4187/respcare.02112

Corbetta, M., & Shulman, G. L. (2002). Control of goal-directed and stimulus-driven attention in the brain. *Nature Reviews Neuroscience*, *3*(3), 201–215. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrn755

/ 137

Cramer H., Lauche R., Langhorst J., Dobos G. (2016) Is one yoga style better than another? A systematic review of associations of yoga style and conclusions in randomized yoga trials. *Complementary Therapies in Medicine* 25, 178-187. DOI: 10.1016/j.ctim.2016.02.015.

Crick, F. (1990). *What mad pursuit: A personal view of scientific discovery* (Paperback ed.). Basic Books.

Cushing, R. E., Braun, K. L., Alden, C. I., & Katz, A. R. (2018). Military-tailored yoga for veterans with post-traumatic stress disorder. *Military Medicine*, *183*(5-6), e223–e231. https://doi.org/10.1093/milmed/usx071

Dąbrowska, A., et al. (2024). The postural control indexes during unipodal support in patients with idiopathic scoliosis. *PubMed*.

Dahlstrom, N., & Nahlinder, S. (2009). Mental workload in aircraft and simulator during basic civil aviation training. *International Journal of Aviation Psychology*, *19*(4), 309–325. https://doi.org/10.1080/10508410903187547

D'Alessio, I., Aitella, U., Giannini, A. M., & Burrai, J. (2024). What about military decision-making? A bibliometric review of published articles. *Behavioral Sciences*, *14*(7), 514. https://doi.org/10.3390/bs14070514

David, S., & Edwards, C. W. (2022). Forced expiratory volume. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK540970/

Degroote, C., Schwaninger, A., Heimgartner, N., Hedinger, P., Ehlert, U., & Wirtz, P. H. (2020). Acute stress improves concentration performance: Opposite effects of anxiety and cortisol. *Experimental Psychology*, *67*(2), 74–83. Special Issue: Stress and Cognition in Humans. https://doi.org/10.1027/1618-3169/a000481

Delgado-Moreno, R., Robles-Pérez, J. J., Aznar-Laín, S., & Clemente-Suárez, V. J. (2019). Effect of Experience and Psychophysio-logical Modification by Combat Stress in Soldier's Memory. *Journal of Medical Systems, 43*(6), 150. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10916-019-1261



Demir, A. E., & Aydın, E. (2021). Vestibular illusions and alterations in aerospace environment. *Turkish Archives of Otorhinolaryngology*, *59*(3), 139–149. https://doi.org/10.4274/tao.2021.6336

Desikachar, K., Bragdon, L., & Bossart, C. (2005). The yoga of healing: Exploring yoga's holistic model for health and well-being: An introduction. *International Journal of Yoga Therapy*, *15*(1), 1. https://doi.org/10.17761/ijyt.15.1.p501133535230737

Diamond, D. M., Rosenfield, D., Kaiser, N., Baker, A. W., Hoge, E. A., Khalsa, S. B. S., Hofmann, S. G., & Simon, N. M. (2024). Changes in mindfulness facets across yoga, CBT and stress education in individuals with generalized anxiety disorder. *Journal of mood and anxiety disorders*, *6*, 100058. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.xjmad.2024.100058

Dinesh, T., Gaur, G., Sharma, V., Madanmohan, T., Harichandra Kumar, K., & Bhavanani, A. (2015). Comparative effect of 12 weeks of slow and fast pranayama training on pulmonary function in young, healthy volunteers: A randomized controlled trial. *International Journal of Yoga*, *8*(1), 22–26. https://doi.org/10.4103/0973-6131.146051

Doyle, R. J., Hsiao-Wecksler, E. T., Ragan, B. G., et al. (2007). Generalizability of center of pressure measures of quiet standing. *Gait & Posture*, *25*(2), 166–171. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gaitpost.2006.03.004

Dubey, S., Malviya, S., & Pant, H. (2022). A review on yoga practice and its effects. In *Challenges and opportunities in nutrition, environment and agriculture* (1st ed.). Rathore Academic Research Publication.

Đurmić, T., Lazović, B., Đelić, M., Lazić, J. S., Zikić, D., Žugić, V., Dekleva, M., & Mazić, S. (2015). Sport-specific influences on respiratory patterns in elite athletes. *Jornal Brasileiro de Pneumologia*, *41*(6), 516–522. https://doi.org/10.1590/S1806-37562015000000050

Dybvik, H., & Steinert, M. (2021). Real-World fNIRS Brain Activity Measurements during Ashtanga Vinyasa Yoga. *Brain sciences*, 11(6), 742. https://doi.org/10.3390/brainsci11060742

/ 139

Eslami, R., Bahrami, D., Mohsenzadeh, H., & Shahali, H. (2021). Dynamic and static postural control among fighter pilots with spinal sagittal plane deformities. *Medical journal, Armed Forces India*, 77(4), 459–465. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mjafi.2021.03.017

Esteves, J., Dinis, R., Fernandes, O., Castro, M. A., Oliveira, R., & Pezarat-Correia, P. (2022). Differences in postural control between healthy and subjects with chronic ankle instability. *Physical Therapy in Sport, 56*, 8–14. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ptsp.2022.05.001

Fan, J., Gu, X., Guise, K. G., Liu, X., Fossella, J., Wang, H., & Posner, M. I. (2009). Testing the behavioral interaction and integration of attentional networks. *Brain and Cognition*, 70(2), 209–220. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bandc.2009.02.002

Faul, F., Erdfelder, E., Lang, A.-G., & Buchner, A. (2007). G\*Power 3: A flexible statistical power analysis program for the social, behavioral, and biomedical sciences. *Behavior Research Methods*, *39*(2), 175-191. https://doi.org/10.3758/BF03193146

Faul, F., Erdfelder, E., Buchner, A., & Lang, A.-G. (2009). Statistical power analyses using G\*Power 3.1: Tests for correlation and regression analyses. *Behavior Research Methods*, *41*(4), 1149-1160. https://doi.org/10.3758/BRM.41.4.1149

Fernandes, B. C. V. G. da C. (2021). *Fatigue crack propagation study on the Portuguese Air Force Epsilon TB-30 aircraft* [Master's thesis, Universidade da Beira Interior].

Fernández-Morales, C., Espejo-Antúnez, L., Cardero-Durán, M. L. Á., Falla, D., Moreno-Vázquez, J. M., & Albornoz-Cabello, M. (2024). Psychophysiological responses to a multimodal physiotherapy program in fighter pilots with flight-related neck pain: A pilot trial. *PloS one*, *19*(7), e0306708. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0306708

Fonseca, P., Sebastião, R., Sousa, M., Machado, L., Sousa, F., Vilas-Boas, J. P., Sousa, I. M., & Vaz, M. (2021). Postural control in military personnel: Effect of load and footwear. In *Advances and current trends in biomechanics* (1st ed., pp. 1-5). CRC Press. https://doi.org/10.1201/9781003217152

Fuentes-García, J. P., Clemente-Suárez, V. J., Marazuela-Martínez, M. Á., Tornero-Aguilera, J. F., & Villafaina, S. (2021). Impact of real and simulated flights on



psychophysiological response of military pilots. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 18(2), 787. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph18020787

Fujiwara, N., Imai, M., Nagamine, T., et al. (2002). Second somatosensory area (SII) plays a significant role in selective somatosensory attention. *Brain Research: Cognitive Brain Research, 14*(3), 389-397. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0926-6410(02)00130-9

Gabani, V., & Murugan, S. (2024). Reliability and validity of Kubios HRV smartphone application as measures of heart rate variability. *International Journal of Current Research and Review*, *16*, 7–10. https://doi.org/10.31782/IJCRR.2024.16602

Gaul, A., O'Keeffe, C., Dominguez, M. C., et al. (2020, July). Quantification of neural activity in FMR1 premutation carriers during a dynamic sway task using source localization. *Annual International Conference of the IEEE Engineering in Medicine and Biology Society (EMBC)*, 2020, 2909–2912. https://doi.org/10.1109/EMBC44109.2020.9176566

Gaździńska, A., Jagielski, P., Turczyńska, M., & Gazdzinski, S. (2022). Relationship of the nutritional status and handgrip strength in military flying medical personnel. *Polish Journal of Aviation Medicine, Bioengineering and Psychology*. https://doi.org/10.13174/pjambp.16.11.2022.01

Gerathewohl, S. J. (1969). Fidelity of simulation and transfer of training: A review of the problem. (Technical report).

Geyer, D. J., & Biggs, A. T. (2018). The persistent issue of simulator sickness in naval aviation training. *Aerospace Medicine and Human Performance*, *89*(4), 396–405. https://doi.org/10.3357/AMHP.4906.2018

Gil-Cabrera, J., Aguilera, J., Sanchez-Tena, M., Alvarez-Peregrina C., Valbuena-Iglesias, C., Clemente-Suárez, V., (2020). Aviation-Associated Spatial Disorientation and Incidence of Visual Illusions Survey in Military Pilots. *The International Journal of Aerospace Psychology*, *31*(1), 17-24. https://doi.org/10.1080/24721840.2020.1841562

Good, P. I., & Hardin, J. W. (2009). *Common errors in statistics (and how to avoid them)* (3rd ed.). Wiley.

Gonçalves, M. M., Marson, R. A., Fortes, M. de S. R., & Novaes, J. da S. (2018). The relationship between handgrip strength and total muscle strength in the Brazilian army military personnel. *Medicina dello Sport, 71*(3), 461-473. https://doi.org/10.23736/S0025-7826.18.03117-4

Government of India. (2020, June 2). Explaining yoga as a sport. *Ministry of Ayush, Yoga Blog.* https://yoga.ayush.gov.in/blog?q=56

Gray, V. L., Ivanova, T. D., & Garland, S. J. (2014). Reliability of center of pressure measures within and between sessions in individuals post-stroke and healthy controls. *Gait & Posture, 40*(1), 198–203. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gaitpost.2014.03.191

Groves, P. M., & Thompson, R. F. (1970). Habituation: a dual-process theory. *Psychological Review*, 77(5), 419–450. https://doi.org/10.1037/h0029810

Gurses, S., & Celik, H. (2013). Correlation dimension estimates of human postural sway. *Human Movement Science*, *32*(1), 48–64. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.humov.2012.08.003

Habazettl, H., Stahn, A., Nitsche, A., Nordine, M., Pries, A. R., Gunga, H. C., & Opatz, O. (2016). Microvascular responses to (hyper-)gravitational stress by short-arm human centrifuge: arteriolar vasoconstriction and venous pooling. *European journal of applied physiology*, *116*(1), 57–65. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00421-015-3241-6

Hao, C., Cheng, L., Guo, L., et al. (2022). Detection of unrecognized spatial disorientation: A theoretical perspective. *Technology and Health Care, 30*(S1), 469–480. https://doi.org/10.3233/THC-THC228043

Haxby, F., Akrami, M., & Zamani, R. (2020). Finding a balance: A systematic review of the biomechanical effects of vestibular prostheses on stability in humans. *Journal of Functional Morphology and Kinesiology*, *5*(3), 23. https://doi.org/10.3390/jfmk5030023

He, X., Nie, X., Zhou, R., Yang, J., & Wu, R. (2023). The risk-taking behavioural intentions of pilots in adverse weather conditions: an application of the theory of planned behaviour. *Ergonomics*, *66*(8), 1043–1056. https://doi.org/10.1080/00140139.2022.2129804



Hébert-Losier, K., & Murray, L. (2020). Reliability of centre of pressure, plantar pressure, and plantar-flexion isometric strength measures: A systematic review. *Gait & posture*, 75, 46–62. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gaitpost.2019.09.027

Heller, M. F., Challis, J. H., & Sharkey, N. A. (2009). Changes in postural sway as a consequence of wearing a military backpack. *Gait & posture*, *30*(1), 115–117. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gaitpost.2009.02.015

Ho, J., Tumkaya, T., Aryal, S., et al. (2019). Moving beyond P values: Data analysis with estimation graphics. *Nature Methods*, *16*(7), 565–566. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41592-019-0470-3

Hormeño-Holgado, A. J., & Clemente-Suárez, V. J. (2019b). Effect of different combat jet maneuvers in the psychophysiological response of professional pilots. *Physiology & behavior*, 208, 112559. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physbeh.2019.112559

Hormeño-Holgado, A. J., Perez-Martinez, M. A., & Clemente-Suárez, V. J. (2019a).
Psychophysiological response of air mobile protection teams in an air accident manoeuvre. *Physiology & behavior*, 199, 79–83.
https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physbeh.2018.11.006

Hunter, D. (2002). Risk Perception and Risk Tolerance in Aircraft Pilots. *American Psychological Association*. https://doi.org/10.1037/e646002007-001

Hunter, D. (2002). Risk Perception and Risk Tolerance in Aircraft Pilots. *American Psychological Association*. https://doi.org/10.1037/e646002007-001

Hunter, D. (2005). Measurement of Hazardous Attitudes Among Pilots. The InternationalJournalofAviationPsychology,15(1),23-43. https://doi.org/10.1207/s15327108ijap1501\_2

Hunter, D. (2005). Measurement of Hazardous Attitudes Among Pilots. The InternationalJournalofAviationPsychology,15(1),23-43. https://doi.org/10.1207/s15327108ijap1501\_2

Jeter, P. E., Haaz Moonaz, S., Bittner, A. K., & Dagnelie, G. (2015). Ashtanga-Based Yoga Therapy Increases the Sensory Contribution to Postural Stability in VisuallyImpaired Persons at Risk for Falls as Measured by the Wii Balance Board: A Pilot Randomized Controlled Trial. *PloS one*, 10(6), e0129646. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0129646

Johannes, B., Rothe, S., Gens, A., Westphal, S., Birkenfeld, K., Mulder, E., Rittweger, J., & Ledderhos, C. (2017). Psychophysiological assessment in pilots performing challenging simulated and real flight maneuvers. *Aerospace Medicine and Human Performance*, *88*(9), 834–840. https://doi.org/10.3357/AMHP.4782.2017

Kang, M., Ragan, B. G., & Park, J. H. (2008). Issues in outcomes research: an overview of randomization techniques for clinical trials. *Journal of athletic training*, *43*(2), 215–221. https://doi.org/10.4085/1062-6050-43.2.215

Kanthi, A., Deepeshwar, S., Chidananda, K., Vidyashree, M., & Krishna, D. (2024). Event-related potential changes following 12-week yoga practice in T2DM patients: A randomized controlled trial. *Clinical EEG and Neuroscience*. https://doi.org/10.1177/15500594241249511

Kantz, H., & Schreiber, T. (2004). *Nonlinear time series analysis* (2nd ed.). Cambridge University Press. https://doi.org/10.1017/CBO9780511755798

Kędziorek, J., & Błażkiewicz, M. (2020). Nonlinear measures to evaluate upright postural stability: A systematic review. *Entropy*, 22(12), 1357. https://doi.org/10.3390/e22121357

Kędziorek, J., Błażkiewicz, M., & Kaczmarczyk, K. (2022). Using nonlinear measures to evaluate postural control in healthy adults during bipedal standing on an unstable surface. *Acta Bioenginnering and Biomechanics*, *24*(3), 9–17. https://doi.org/10.37190/ABB-02053-2021-02

Kelsven, S., McLean, C. L., Widjanarko, K., Bormann, J. E., & Lang, A. J. (2024). Trait Mindfulness Moderates Treatment Outcomes in a Randomized Controlled Trial of Mantram Repetition Program for Veterans with Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder. *Journal of integrative and complementary medicine*, 10.1089/jicm.2024.0181. Advance online publication. https://doi.org/10.1089/jicm.2024.0181



Kennedy, R. S., & Stanney, K. M. (1996). Postural instability induced by virtual reality exposure: Development of a certification protocol. *International Journal of Human-Computer Interaction*, 8(1), 25–47. https://doi.org/10.1080/10447319609526139

Kennedy, R. S., Fowlkes, J. E., & Lilienthal, M. G. (1993). Postural and performance changes following exposures to flight simulators. *Aviation, Space, and Environmental Medicine, 64*(10), 912–920.

Kohen-Raz, R., Kohen-Raz, A., Erel, J., Davidson, B., Caine, Y., & Froom, P. (1994). Postural control in pilots and candidates for flight training. *Aviation, space, and environmental medicine*, 65(4), 323–326.

Koncz, Á., Csala, B., Körmendi, J., Horváth, Á., Dömötör, Z., Selmeci, C., Bogdán, Á. S., Köteles, F., & Boros, S. (2024). Effects of a complex yoga-based intervention on physical characteristics. *Biologia Futura*, *75*(1), 73–84. https://doi.org/10.1007/s42977-023-00162-8

Koskelo, J., Lehmusaho, A., Laitinen, T. P., Hartikainen, J. E. K., Lahtinen, T. M. M., Leino, T. K., & Huttunen, K. (2024). Cardiac autonomic responses in relation to cognitive workload during simulated military flight. *Applied ergonomics*, *121*, 104370. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apergo.2024.104370

Kuczynski, G. (2023, November 17). *Military decision-making process: Organizing and conducting planning*. U.S. Army, Center for Army Lessons Learned (CALL).

Kutilek, P., Volf, P., Sedova, K., Hejda, J., Krivanek, V., Stehlik, M., Rusnáková, K., Kozlova, S., & Braunova, M. (2019). Heart rate variability during fighter pilot training: Preliminary study. In *Proceedings of the MILTECHS 2019* (pp. 1-5). IEEE. https://doi.org/10.1109/MILTECHS.2019.8870071

Lahtinen, T. M., Koskelo, J. P., Laitinen, T., & Leino, T. K. (2007). Heart rate and performance during combat missions in a flight simulator. *Aviation, Space, and Environmental Medicine, 78*(4), 387–391.

Lakens, D. (2013). Calculating and reporting effect sizes to facilitate cumulative science: A practical primer for t-tests and ANOVAs. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *4*, 863. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2013.00863 Landis, J. R., & Koch, G. G. (1977). The measurement of observer agreement for categorical data. *Biometrics*, 33(1), 159–174. https://doi.org/10.2307/2529310

Lang, R. W., Porensky, P., & Fraser, J. J. (2024). Burden and Risk Factors of Cervical Spine Conditions in Military Aircrew From 1997 to 2015: A Retrospective Cohort Study. *Military medicine*, usae423. Advance online publication. https://doi.org/10.1093/milmed/usae423

Le Clair, K., & Riach, C. (1996). Postural stability measures: What to measure and for how long. *Clinical Biomechanics (Bristol, Avon), 11*(3), 176–178. https://doi.org/10.1016/0268-0033(95)00027-5

LeDoux, J. E. (2014). Coming to terms with fear. *Proceedings of the National Academy* of Sciences of the United States of America, 111(8), 2871–2878. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1400335111

Lehrer, P., Karavidas, M., Lu, S. E., Vaschillo, E., Vaschillo, B., & Cheng, A. (2010). Cardiac data increase association between self-report and both expert ratings of task load and task performance in flight simulator tasks: An exploratory study. *International Journal of Psychophysiology*, 76(2), 80–87. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpsycho.2010.02.006

Li, R., Peterson, N., Walter, H. J. (2018). Real-time visual feedback about postural activity increases postural instability and visually induced motion sickness. *Gait & Posture*, 65, 251–255. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gaitpost.2018.08.005

Lin, D., Seol, H., Nussbaum, M. A., et al. (2008). Reliability of COP-based postural sway measures and age-related differences. *Gait & Posture, 28*(2), 337–342. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gaitpost.2008.01.005

Lipponen, J. A., & Tarvainen, M. P. (2019). A robust algorithm for heart rate variability time series artefact correction using novel beat classification. *Journal of Medical Engineering* & *Technology*, 43(3), 173–181. https://doi.org/10.1080/03091902.2019.1640306



Liu, H., Xu, J., Hu, B., Jin, Y., & Lu, C. (2024). Effect of yoga intervention on problem behavior and motor coordination in children with autism. *Behavioral Sciences*, *14*(1), 116. https://doi.org/10.3390/bs14010116

Londeree, B. R., & Moeschberger, M. L. (1982). Effect of age and other factors on maximal heart rate. Research Quarterly for Exercise and Sport, 53(4), 297–304. https://doi.org/10.1080/02701367.1982.10605252

Machorrinho, J., Veiga, G., Fernandes, J., Mehling, W., & Marmeleira, J. (2019). Multidimensional Assessment of Interoceptive Awareness: Psychometric Properties of the Portuguese Version. *Perceptual and motor skills*, *126*(1), 87–105. https://doi.org/10.1177/0031512518813231

Machorrinho, J., Veiga, G., Fernandes, J., Mehling, W., & Marmeleira, J. (2019). Multidimensional Assessment of Interoceptive Awareness: Psychometric Properties of the Portuguese Version. *Perceptual and motor skills*, *126*(1), 87–105. https://doi.org/10.1177/0031512518813231

MacIntyre, N. R., Mitchell, R. E., Oberman, A., Harlan, W. R., & Graybiel, A. (1981). Long-term follow-up of lung volume measurements in initially healthy young aviators. *Aviation, Space, and Environmental Medicine, 52*(1), 1–5. PMID: 7213279.

Mackie, M. A., Van Dam, N. T., & Fan, J. (2013). Cognitive control and attentional functions. Brain and Cognition, 82(3), 301–312. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bandc.2013.05.004

Maltez-Laurienti, A., Minniear, A., Moore, R., McGovern, T., Newman, P., & Brearly, T. (2021). Exploring Neurocognitive Performance Differences in Military Aviation Personnel. *Aerospace medicine and human performance*, *92*(9), 702–709. https://doi.org/10.3357/AMHP.5788.2021

Mandanmohan, Jatiya, L., Udupa, K., & Bhavanani, A. B. (2003). Effect of yoga training on handgrip, respiratory pressures and pulmonary function. *Indian Journal of Physiology and Pharmacology*, *47*(4), 387–392.

Mandlik, G. V., Nguyen, B., Ding, D., & Edwards, K. M. (2023). Not All Yoga Styles Are the Same: An International Survey on Characteristics of Yoga Classes. *Journal of*  *integrative and complementary medicine*, 29(5), 321–326. https://doi.org/10.1089/jicm.2022.0712

Manor, B., & Lipsitz, L. A. (2013). Physiologic complexity and aging: Implications for physical function and rehabilitation. *Progress in Neuro-Psychopharmacology* & *Biological Psychiatry*, 45, 287–293. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pnpbp.2012.08.020

Mansikka, H., Virtanen, K., Harris, D., & Simola, P. (2016). Fighter pilots' heart rate, heart rate variation and performance during an instrument flight rules proficiency test. *Applied Ergonomics*, *56*, 213–219. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apergo.2016.04.006

Martin, K., Périard, J., Rattray, B., & Pyne, D. B. (2020). Physiological Factors Which Influence Cognitive Performance in Military Personnel. *Human factors*, 62(1), 93–123. https://doi.org/10.1177/0018720819841757

Martín-Rodríguez, A., Tornero-Aguilera, J. F., López-Pérez, P. J., & Clemente-Suárez, V. J. (2021). The Effect of Loneliness in Psychological and Behavioral Profile among High School Students in Spain. *Sustainability, 14*(1), 168. http://dx.doi.org/10.3390/su14010168

Maruta, J., Spielman, L. A., & Ghajar, J. (2023). Visuomotor Synchronization: Military Normative Performance. *Military medicine*, *188*(3-4), e484–e491. https://doi.org/10.1093/milmed/usab320

Massaro, S., & Pecchia, L. (2019). Heart rate variability (HRV) analysis: A methodology for organizational neuroscience. *Organizational Research Methods*, *22*, 354–393. https://doi.org/10.1177/1094428116681072

McGough, J. J., & Faraone, S. V. (2009). Estimating the size of treatment effects: Moving beyond p values. *Psychiatry (Edgmont), 6*(10), 21–29.

Mendoza-Castejon, D., Fraile-García, J., Diaz-Manzano, M., Fuentes-Garcia, J. P., & Clemente-Suárez, V. J. (2020). Differences in the autonomic nervous system stress status of urban and rural school teachers. Physiology & Behavior, 222, 112925. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physbeh.2020.112925



Michalska, J., Zając, R., Szydło, K., Gerasimuk, D., Słomka, K. J., & Juras, G. (2022). Biathletes present repeating patterns of postural control to maintain their balance while shooting. *PLoS ONE*, *17*(4), e0267105. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0267105

Min, B. C., Chung, S. C., Min, Y. K., et al. (2004). Psychophysiological evaluation of simulator sickness evoked by a graphic simulator. *Applied Ergonomics*, *35*(6), 549–556. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apergo.2004.06.002

Mobbs, D., Adolphs, R., Fanselow, M. S., Barrett, L. F., LeDoux, J. E., Ressler, K., & Tye, K. M. (2019). Viewpoints: Approaches to defining and investigating fear. *Nature Neuroscience*, *22*(8), 1205–1216. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41593-019-0456-6

Moscarello, J. M., & Maren, S. (2018). Flexibility in the face of fear: Hippocampalprefrontal regulation of fear and avoidance. *Current Opinion in Behavioral Sciences*, *19*, 44–49. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cobeha.2017.09.010

NASA. (2022, October 12). *NASA sheds new light on known pilot breathing issues in jet aircraft*. NASA Aeronautics. https://www.nasa.gov/aeronautics/nasa-sheds-new-light-on-known-pilot-breathing-issues-in-jet-aircraft/

Nassif, T. H., Gutierrez, I. A., Smith, C. D., Jha, A. P., & Adler, A. B. (2023). The effect of a combined mindfulness and yoga intervention on soldier mental health in Basic Combat Training: A cluster randomized controlled trial. *Depression and Anxiety*, 6869543. https://doi.org/10.1155/2023/6869543

Norman, K., Stobäus, N., Gonzalez, M. C., Schulzke, J. D., & Pirlich, M. (2011). Hand grip strength: outcome predictor and marker of nutritional status. *Clinical nutrition (Edinburgh, Scotland)*, *30*(2), 135–142. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clnu.2010.09.010

Norman, K., Stobäus, N., Pirlich, M., & Bosy-Westphal, A. (2012). Bioelectrical phase angle and impedance vector analysis--clinical relevance and applicability of impedance parameters. *Clinical nutrition (Edinburgh, Scotland)*, *31*(6), 854–861. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.clnu.2012.05.008

O'Hare D. (2024). Effects of distance flown on pilot decision making in continued flight into deteriorating weather conditions. *Journal of safety research*, 88, 336–343. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jsr.2023.11.020 OM Magazine. (n.d.). Anatomy articles. OM Magazine. Available at: https://www. ommagazine.com/category/teach/anatomy

Park, C.L., Braun, T. & Siegel, T. Who practices yoga? A systematic review of demographic, health-related, and psychosocial factors associated with yoga practice. *Journal of Behavioural Medicine* 38, 460–471 (2015). https://doi.org/10.1007/s10865-015-9618-5

Paus, T. (2000). Functional anatomy of arousal and attention systems in the human brain. Progress in Brain Research, 126, 65–77. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0079-6123(00)26007-X

Pellegrino, R. (2005). Interpretative strategies for lung function tests. *European Respiratory Journal*, *26*(5), 948–968. https://doi.org/10.1183/09031936.05.00035205

Pereira, N. (2009). A realização do tirocínio pela Academia da Força Aérea Portuguesa [The internship program by the Portuguese Air Force Academy]. Trabalho de Investigação Individual - Curso De Promoção A Oficial Superior Da Força Aérea, Instituto De Estudos Superiores Militares. IUM Instituto Universitário Militar. https://comum.rcaap.pt/bitstream/10400.26/12480/1/Cap%20Rodrigues%20Pereira.pdf

Perrin, P., Deviterne, D., Hugel, F., & Perrot, C. (2002). Judo, better than dance, develops sensorimotor adaptabilities involved in balance control. *Gait & Posture, 15*(2), 187–194. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0966-6362(01)00149-7

Pincus, S. M. (1991). Approximate entropy as a measure of system complexity. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 88*(6), 2297–2301. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.88.6.2297

Pinsault, N., & Vuillerme, N. (2009). Test-retest reliability of centre of foot pressure measures to assess postural control during unperturbed stance. *Medical engineering & physics*, *31*(2), 276–286. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.medengphy.2008.08.003

Platt, J. R. (1964). Strong inference: Certain systematic methods of scientific thinking may produce much more rapid progress than others. *Science*, *146*(3642), 347-353. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.146.3642.347



Polak, E., Ślugaj, R., & Gardzińska, A. (2022). Postural control and psychophysical state following a flight simulator session in novice pilots. *Frontiers in Public Health, 10*, 788612. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpubh.2022.788612

Popovic, A., & Huecker, M. R. (2023). Study bias. In *StatPearls*. StatPearls Publishing. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK574513/

Prakash, S., Meshram, S., & Ramtekkar, U. (2007). Athletes, yogis, and individuals with sedentary lifestyles: Do their lung functions differ? *Indian Journal of Physiology and Pharmacology*, *51*(1), 76–80.

Price, D. A. (1976). A general theory of bibliometric and other cumulative advantage processes. *Journal of the Association for Information Science*, 27(5), 292–306. https://doi.org/10.1002/asi.4630270505

Proctor, S. P., Heaton, K. J., Lieberman, H. R., Smith, C. D., Edens, E. N., Kelley, A., Balkin, T. J., Capaldi, V., Doty, T. J., & Quartana, P. J. (2017). *Military cognitive performance and readiness assessment initiative working group: Selection of tests or technologies for evaluation of cognitive function requires consideration of the psychometric properties of individual tests* (CPRAI Final Report). Defense Technical Information Center. https://apps.dtic.mil/sti/pdfs/AD1071090.pdf

Pulopulos, M. M., Vanderhasselt, M. A., & De Raedt, R. (2018). Association between changes in heart rate variability during the anticipation of a stressful situation and the stress-induced cortisol response. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*, *94*, 63–71. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psyneuen.2018.05.004

Ramírez-Adrados, A., Fernández-Elías, V. E., Fernández-Martínez, S., Martínez-Pascual, B., Gonzalez-de-Ramos, C., & Clemente-Suárez, V. J. (2022). The Effect of Studying a Double Degree in the Psychophysiological Stress Response in the Bachelor's Thesis Defense. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, *19*(3), 1207. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph19031207

Ramírez-Adrados, A., Martínez-Pascual, B., Gonzalez-de-Ramos, C., Fernández-Martínez, S., Fernández-Elías, V. E., & Clemente-Suárez, V. J. (2021). The impact of nationality on the psychophysiological stress response and academic fulfillment in the final degree dissertation. International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health, 18(8), 4035. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph18084035

Rawcliffe, A. J., Hinde, K. L., Graham, S. M., Martindale, R., Morrison, A., Krajewski, K. T., & Connaboy, C. (2020). Altered dynamic postural stability and joint position sense following British Army foot-drill. *Frontiers in Sports Active Living*, *2*, Article 584275. https://doi.org/10.3389/fspor.2020.584275

Redondo-Flórez, L., Tornero-Aguilera, J. F., & Clemente-Suárez, V. J. (2020). Could academic experience modulate psychophysiological stress response of biomedical sciences students in laboratory? *Physiology & Behavior, 223*, 113017. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physbeh.2020.113017

Rhea, C. K., Kiefer, A. W., Wright, W. G., Raisbeck, L. D., & Haran, F. J. (2015). Interpretation of postural control may change due to data processing techniques. *Gait & Posture, 41*(3), 731–735. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gaitpost.2015.01.017

Rhea, C. K., Silver, T. A., Hong, S. L., Ryu, J. H., Studenka, B. E., Hughes, C. M., & Haddad, J. M. (2011). Noise and complexity in human postural control: Interpreting the different estimations of entropy. *PLoS ONE*, *6*(3), e17696. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0017696

Richman, J. S., & Moorman, J. R. (2000). Physiological time-series analysis using approximate entropy and sample entropy. *American Journal of Physiology-Heart and Circulatory Physiology,* 278(6), H2039–H2049. https://doi.org/10.1152/ajpheart.2000.278.6.H2039

Rodriguez-Besteiro, S., Tornero-Aguilera, J. F., Fernández-Lucas, J., & Clemente-Suárez, V. J. (2021). Gender Differences in the COVID-19 Pandemic Risk Perception, Psychology, and Behaviors of Spanish University Students. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health, 18*(8), 3908. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph18083908

Rosenstein, M. T., Collins, J. J., & De Luca, C. J. (1993). A practical method for calculating largest Lyapunov exponents from small data sets. *Physica D: Nonlinear Phenomena*, 65(1-2), 117–134. https://doi.org/10.1016/0167-2789(93)90009-P



Ruisoto, P., Ramírez, M., Paladines-Costa, B., Vaca, S., & Clemente-Suárez, V. J. (2020). Predicting Caregiver Burden in Informal Caregivers for the Elderly in Ecuador. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 17(19), 7338. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph17197338

Sample, R. B., Jackson, K., Kinney, A. L., Diestelkamp, W. S., Reinert, S. S., & Bigelow, K. E. (2016). Manual and cognitive dual tasks contribute to fall-risk differentiation in posturography measures. *Journal of Applied Biomechanics*, *32*(6), 541–547. https://doi.org/10.1123/jab.2015-0327

Sánchez-Conde, P., Beltrán-Velasco, A. I., & Clemente-Suárez, V. J. (2019). Influence of psychological profile in autonomic response of nursing students in their first hospital clinical stays. *Physiology & Behavior, 207, 99–103.* https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physbeh.2019.05.008

Sánchez-Molina, J., Robles-Pérez, J. J., & Clemente-Suárez, V. J. (2019a). Psychophysiological and Specific Fine Motor Skill Modifications in a Checkpoint Action. *Journal of Medical Systems, 43*(4), 90. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10916-019-1216-6

Sánchez-Molina, J., Robles-Pérez, J. J., & Clemente-Suárez, V. J. (2019b). Psychophysiological and fine motor skill differences of elite and non-elite soldiers in an urban combat simulation. *Military Psychology*, *31*(6), 425-432. https://doi.org/10.1080/08995605.2019.1654293

Santos S, Parraca JA, Fernandes O, Villafaina S, Clemente-Suarez VJ, Melo F. (2022) The effect of expertise during simulated flight emergencies on the autonomic response and operative performance in military pilots. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, *19*, 9141. doi: 10.3390/ijerph19159141

Santos, S., Melo, F., Fernandes, O., & Parraca, J. A. (2024). The effect of Ashtanga-Vinyasa Yoga method on air force pilots' operational performance. *Frontiers in Public Health*. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpubh.2024.1334880

Santos, S., Parraca, J. A., Alegrete, J., Cabo, C. A., Melo, F., & Fernandes, O. (2023). The effects of a 12-week yoga program on the CoP of military pilots before and after a flight emergency simulation using Biosignals Plux force platform. *Proceedings of the* 

Institution of Mechanical Engineers, Part P: Journal of Sports Engineering and Technology. https://doi.org/10.1177/17543371231196340

Santos, S., Parraca, J. A., Fernandes, O., Villafaina, S., Clemente-Suárez, V. J., & Melo, F. (2021). The effect of expertise during simulated flight emergencies on the autonomic response and operative performance in military pilots. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, *18*(10), 5183. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph18105183

Santra, G. (2022). Yoga and the need of its integration in modern medicine. *Journal of the Association of Physicians of India*, 70(12), 11–12. https://doi.org/10.5005/japi-11001-0142

Saraiva, M., Fernandes, O. J., Vilas-Boas, J. P., & Castro, M. A. (2022). Standing posture in motor and cognitive dual-tasks during smartphone use: Linear and nonlinear analysis of postural control. *European Journal of Investigation in Health, Psychology and Education, 12*(8), 1021–1033. https://doi.org/10.3390/ejihpe12080075

Scherr, J., Wolfarth, B., Christle, J. W., Pressler, A., Wagenpfeil, S., & Halle, M. (2013). Associations between Borg's rating of perceived exertion and physiological measures of exercise intensity. *European journal of applied physiology*, *113*(1), 147–155. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00421-012-2421-x

Schmidt, R. A., & Lee, T. D. (2005). *Motor control and learning: A behavioral emphasis* (5th ed.). Human Kinetics.

Schmit, J. M., Regis, D. I., & Riley, M. A. (2005). Dynamic patterns of postural sway in ballet dancers and track athletes. *Experimental Brain Research*, *163*(3), 370–378. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00221-004-2185-6

Seabrook, T. A., & Huberman, A. D. (2015). Cortical Cliques: A Few Plastic NeuronsGetAlltheAction.Neuron,86(5),1113–1116.https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neuron.2015.05.039

Seltmann, C. L., Killen, L. G., Green, J. M., O'Neal, E. K., Swain, J. C., & Frisbie, C. M. (2020). Effects of 3 weeks of yogic breathing practice on ventilation and running economy. *International Journal of Exercise Science*, *13*(2), 62–74.



Severo, M., Santos, A. C., Lopes, C., & Barros, H. (2006). Fiabilidade e validade dos conceitos teóricos das dimensões de saúde física e mental da versão Portuguesa do MOS SF-36 [Reliability and validity in measuring physical and mental health construct of the Portuguese version of MOS SF-36]. *Acta Médica Portuguesa, 19*(4), 281–287.

Shaffer, F., & Ginsberg, J. P. (2017). An overview of heart rate variability metrics and norms. *Frontiers in Public Health*, *5*, 258. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpubh.2017.00258

Shaffer, F., McCraty, R., & Zerr, C. L. (2014). A healthy heart is not a metronome: an integrative review of the heart's anatomy and heart rate variability. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *5*, 1040. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2014.01040

Shambhu, T., Kumar, S. D., & Prabhu, P. (2017). Effect of practicing yoga on cervical vestibular evoked myogenic potential. *European Archives of Otorhinolaryngology*, 274(10), 3811–3815. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00405-017-4695-4

Sharma, L. (2015). Benefits of yoga in sports: A study. *International Journal of Physical Education, Sports Health, 1*(1), 30–32.

Sheetal, P., Ashutosh, C., & Jayant, M. (2012). Effect of pranayama on pulmonary function tests of young healthy students. *International Journal of Biological Sciences*, 3(4), 12–16.

Shiner, J. S., & Uehlinger, D. E. (2001). Body mass index: a measure for longevity. *Medical hypotheses*, 57(6), 780–783. https://doi.org/10.1054/mehy.2001.1493

Shortland, N. D., Alison, L. J., & Moran, J. M. (2019). Military decision-making: Doctrine, rationality, and field-based approaches. In *Conflict: How soldiers make impossible decisions* (pp. 15–33). Oxford University Press. https://doi.org/10.1093/oso/9780190623449.003.0002

Singh, R. (1999). Role of yogic exercises/meditation in aircrew stress management. *Aviation, Space, and Environmental Medicine,* 70(9), 939.

Ślazyk-Sobol, M., Dobrowolska, M., Zomerfeld, J., & Pieloch, A. (2021). Stress and selfefficacy as specific predictors of safety at work in the aviation sector. *Medycyna pracy*, 72(5), 479–487. https://doi.org/10.13075/mp.5893.01104 Smart, L. J. Jr., Stoffregen, T. A., & Bardy, B. G. (2002). Visually induced motion sickness predicted by postural instability. *Human Factors*, 44(3), 451–465. https://doi.org/10.1518/0018720024497745

Sørensen, L., Wass, S., Osnes, B., Schanche, E., Adolfsdottir, S., Svendsen, J. L., Visted, E., Eilertsen, T., Jensen, D. A., Nordby, H., Fasmer, O. B., Binder, P. E., Koenig, J., & Sonuga-Barke, E. (2019). A psychophysiological investigation of the interplay between orienting and executive control during stimulus conflict: A heart rate variability study. *Physiology & Behavior, 211*, 112657. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physbeh.2019.112657

Spaccapanico Proietti, S., Chiavarini, M., Iorio, F., Buratta, L., Pocetta, G., Carestia, R., Gobbetti, C., Lupi, C., Cosenza, A., Sorci, G., Mazzeschi, C., Biscarini, A., & de Waure, C. (2024). The role of a mindful movement-based program (Movimento Biologico) in health promotion: results of a pre-post intervention study. *Frontiers in public health*, *12*, 1372660. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpubh.2024.1372660

Srivastava, P., Nozari, E., Kim, J. Z., Ju, H., Zhou, D., Becker, C., Pasqualetti, F., Pappas, G. J., & Bassett, D. S. (2020). Models of communication and control for brain networks: distinctions, convergence, and future outlook. Network Neuroscience, 4(4), 1122–1159. https://doi.org/10.1162/netn\_a\_00158

Stanney, K. M., Kennedy, R. S., Drexler, J. M., et al. (1999). Motion sickness and proprioceptive aftereffects following virtual environment exposure. *Applied Ergonomics*, *30*(1), 27–38. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0003-6870(98)00039-8

Stephan, D. N., Hensen, S., Fintor, E., Krampe, R., & Koch, I. (2018). Influences of postural control on cognitive control in task switching. *Frontiers in Psychology*, *9*, 1153. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2018.01153

Stephenson, M. D., Thompson, A. G., Merrigan, J. J., Stone, J. D., & Hagen, J. A. (2021). Applying Heart Rate Variability to Monitor Health and Performance in Tactical Personnel: A Narrative Review. *International journal of environmental research and public health*, 18(15), 8143. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph18158143

Stergiou, N. (Ed.). (2004). Innovative analyses of human movement. Champaign, IL: Human Kinetics.



Stergiou, N., & Decker, L. M. (2011). Human movement variability, nonlinear dynamics, and pathology: Is there a connection? *Human Movement Science*, *30*(5), 869-888. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.humov.2011.06.002

Sterne, J. A. C., & Smith, G. D. (2001). Sifting the evidence—what's wrong with significance tests? *BMJ*, 322(7280), 226–231. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.322.7280.226

Stoffregen, T. A., Hettinger, L. J., Haas, M. W., et al. (2000). Postural instability and motion sickness in a fixed-based flight simulator. *Human Factors, 42*(3), 458–469. https://doi.org/10.1518/001872000779698097

Stoller, C. C., Greuel, J. H., Cimini, L. S., Fowler, M. S., & Koomar, J. A. (2012). Effects of sensory-enhanced yoga on symptoms of combat stress in deployed military personnel. *American Journal of Occupational Therapy*, *66*(1), 59–68. https://doi.org/10.5014/ajot.2012.001230

Sullivan, G. M., & Feinn, R. (2012). Using effect size—Or why the P value is not enough. *Journal of Graduate Medical Education, 4*(3), 279–282. https://doi.org/10.4300/JGME-D-12-00156.1

Sullivan, M., Lopez, S., Nault, D., Moonaz, S., & Miller, R. (2021). Yoga meditation for active duty military members with post-traumatic stress disorder: Results and discussion of a landmark initial study. *Journal of Alternative and Complementary Medicine*, *27*(6), 522–524. https://doi.org/10.1089/acm.2020.0466

Svensson, E., Angelborg-Thanderz, M., Sjoberg, L., & Olsson, S. (1997). Information complexity--mental workload and performance in combat aircraft. *Ergonomics*, 40(3), 362–380. https://doi.org/10.1080/001401397188206

Szekely, B., Alphonsa, S., Grimes, K., Munkasy, B., Buckley, T., & Murray, N. G. (2020). Repetitive head impacts affect mediolateral postural sway entropy in the absence of vision following a competitive athletic season: Preliminary findings. *Journal of Clinical and Translational Research*, 5(4), 197–203. https://doi.org/10.18053/jctres.05.202004.001
Temme, L. A., Nagy, R., & Persson, I. (2024). The U.S. Army Aeromedical Research Laboratory Virtual Reality Vection System. *Military medicine*, *189*(Supplement\_3), 751–758. https://doi.org/10.1093/milmed/usae256

Thangavel, D., Gaur, G. S., Sharma, V. K., Bhavanani, A. B., Rajajeyakumar, M., & Syam, S. A. (2014). Effect of slow and fast pranayama training on handgrip strength and endurance in healthy volunteers. *Journal of Clinical and Diagnostic Research*, *8*(5). https://doi.org/10.7860/JCDR/2014/7452.4390

Thayer, J. F., Ahs, F., Fredrikson, M., Sollers, J. J., & Wager, T. D. (2012). A metaanalysis of heart rate variability and neuroimaging studies: Implications for heart rate variability as a marker of stress and health. *Neuroscience & Biobehavioral Reviews*, *36*(2), 747–756. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.neubiorev.2011.11.009

The jamovi project. Jamovi (Version 2.3). (2022). Retrieved from https://www. jamovi.org

The MathWorks Inc. (2022). MATLAB version: 9.13.0 (R 2022b). Natick, Massachusetts

Thomson, C. J., Lesser, I. A., & Hatfield, G. L. (2024). Psychological and physiological effects of an acute bout of yoga before a simulated academic exam in university students. *Journal of American College Health*. https://doi.org/10.1080/07448481.2024.2308267

Thrower, A., Barone Gibbs, B., Alansare, A., Sherman, S., & Davis, K. (2023). Blood pressure and heart rate variability responses following an acute bout of vinyasa yoga and a prolonged seated control: A randomized crossover trial. *PloS one*, *18*(11), e0294945. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0294945

Tornero-Aguilera, J. F., & Clemente-Suárez, V. J. (2018). Effect of experience, equipment and fire actions in psychophysiological response and memory of soldiers in actual underground operations. *International Journal of Psychophysiology*, *128*, 40–46. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpsycho.2018.03.009

Tornero-Aguilera, J. F., Fernandez-Elias, V. E., & Clemente-Suárez, V. J. (2021). Autonomic and cortical response of soldiers in different combat scenarios. *BMJ Military Health*, *167*(3), 172–176. http://dx.doi.org/10.1136/jramc-2019-001285



#### REFERENCES

Tsopanidou, A. A., Venetsanou, F. D., Stavridis, I. S., Paradisis, G. P., & Zacharogiannis, E. G. (2020). Energy expenditure during a Vinyasa yoga session. *The Journal of sports medicine and physical fitness*, *60*(8), 1110–1117. https://doi.org/10.23736/S0022-4707.20.10821-1

Tsotsos, J. K. (2019). Attention: The Messy Reality. Yale Journal of Biology and Medicine, 92(1), 127–137.

Tu, M. Y., Chu, H., Lin, Y. J., Chiang, K. T., Chen, C. M., Chen, H. H., Yang, C. S., & Lai, C. Y. (2020). Combined effect of heart rate responses and the anti-G straining manoeuvre effectiveness on G tolerance in a human centrifuge. *Scientific reports*, *10*(1), 21611. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-020-78687-3

Ungs, T. J. (1989). Simulator induced syndrome: Evidence for long-term aftereffects. *Aviation, Space, and Environmental Medicine, 60*(3), 252–255. PMID: 2785382

Vaillancourt, D. E., Newell, K. M., & Corcos, D. M. (2002). Fractal analyses of time series. *Nonlinear Dynamics, Psychology, and Life Sciences, 6*(1), 29-52.

Vicente-Rodríguez, M., Fuentes-Garcia, J. P., & Clemente-Suárez, V. J. (2020a). Psychophysiological stress response in an underwater evacuation training. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, *17*(7), 2307. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph17072307

Vicente-Rodríguez, M., Iglesias Gallego, D., Fuentes-García, J. P., & Clemente-Suárez,
V. J. (2020b). Portable Biosensors for Psychophysiological Stress Monitoring of a
Helicopter Crew. Sensors (Basel, Switzerland), 20(23), 6849.
https://doi.org/10.3390/s20236849

Villacís, C., Fuertes, W., Escobar, L., et al. (2019). A new real-time flight simulator for military training using mechatronics and cyber-physical system methods. *IntechOpen*, 73–90. https://doi.org/10.5772/intechopen.86586

Villafaina, S., Fuentes-García, D., Gusi, N., Tornero-Aguilera, J. F., & Clemente-Suárez,
V. J. (2021). Psychophysiological response of military pilots in different combat flight maneuvers in a flight simulator. *Physiology & Behavior*, 238, 113483. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physbeh.2021.113483 Vrijkotte, S., Roelands, B., Meeusen, R., & Pattyn, N. (2016). Sustained military operations and cognitive performance. *Aerospace Medicine and Human Performance*, *87*(8), 718–727. https://doi.org/10.3357/AMHP.4468.2016

Wang, Y. C., Bohannon, R. W., Li, X., Sindhu, B., & Kapellusch, J. (2018). Hand-grip strength: Normative reference values and equations for individuals 18 to 85 years of age residing in the United States. *Journal of Orthopaedic & Sports Physical Therapy*, *48*(9), 685–693. https://doi.org/10.2519/jospt.2018.7851

Ward L. C. (2019). Bioelectrical impedance analysis for body composition assessment: reflections on accuracy, clinical utility, and standardisation. *European journal of clinical nutrition*, *73*(2), 194–199. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41430-018-0335-3

Ware, J. E., Jr. (1993). *SF-36 health survey manual & interpretation guide*. The Health Institute, New England Medical Center.

White, M. K., Maher, S. M., Rizio, A. A., & Bjorner, J. B. (2018). A meta-analytic review of measurement equivalence study findings of the SF-36® and SF-12® Health Surveys across electronic modes compared to paper administration. *Quality of Life Research*, 27(7), 1757–1767. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11136-018-1851-2

Whitley P. E. (1997). Pilot performance of the anti-G straining maneuver: respiratory demands and breathing system effects. *Aviation, space, and environmental medicine*, 68(4), 312–316.

Wilson, G. (2019). A comparison of three cardiac ambulatory recorders using flight data. International *Journal of Aviation Psychology*, *12*(1), 111–119. https://doi.org/10.1207/S15327108IJAP1201\_9

Wittels, H. L., Wittels, S. H., Wishon, M. J., Vogl, J., St Onge, P., McDonald, S. M., & Temme, L. A. (2024). Examining the Influence of Cognitive Load and Environmental Conditions on Autonomic Nervous System Response in Military Aircrew: A Hypoxia-Normoxia Study. *Biology*, *13*(5), 343. https://doi.org/10.3390/biology13050343

Wu, Y., Gu, R., Yang, Q., & Luo, Y. J. (2019). How do amusement, anger and fear influence heart rate and heart rate variability? *Frontiers in Neuroscience*, *13*, 1131. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnins.2019.01131



#### REFERENCES

Yang Y., Pu F., Lv X., Li S., Li J., Li D., Li M., Fan Y. (2015) Comparison of postural responses to galvanic vestibular stimulation between pilots and the general populace. *Biomed Research International*, 1-6. https://doi.org/10.1155/2015/567690.

Yang, L., Dai, M., Li, S., Wang, H., Cao, X., & Zhao, Z. (2021). Real-time assessment of global and regional lung ventilation in the anti-gravity straining maneuver using electrical impedance tomography. *Computers in biology and medicine*, *135*, 104592. Advance online publication. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compbiomed.2021.104592

Yang, P., Frier, B. C., Goodman, L., & Duffin, J. (2007). Respiratory muscle training and the performance of a simulated anti-G straining maneuver. *Aviation, space, and environmental medicine*, 78(11), 1035–1041.

Yanzeng, Z., Keyong, Z., Hongmin, C., Ziyu, L., Pengyu, L., & Lijing, W. (2024). The mechanisms linking perceived stress to pilots' safety attitudes: a chain mediation effect of job burnout and cognitive flexibility. *Frontiers in public health*, *12*, 1342221. https://doi.org/10.3389/fpubh.2024.1342221

Yentes, J. M., & Raffalt, P. C. (2021). Entropy analysis in gait research: Methodological considerations and recommendations. *Annals of Biomedical Engineering*, 49(3), 979–990. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10439-020-02572-8

Yilmaz, M., & Huberman, A. D. (2019). Fear: It's all in your line of sight. *Current Biology*, 29(23), R1232–R1234. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2019.10.008

Yilmaz, M., Cafaro, E., Saue-Fletcher, L., Washington, M. J., Bijanzadeh, M., Lee, A.
M., Chang, E. F., & Huberman, A. D. (2021). Human responses to visually evoked threat. *Current Biology*, *31*(3), 601–612.e3. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cub.2020.11.035

Yun, C., Oh, S., & Shin, Y. H. (2019). AGSM Proficiency and Depression Are Associated With Success of High-G Training in Trainee Pilots. *Aerospace medicine and human performance*, 90(7), 613–617. https://doi.org/10.3357/AMHP.5323.2019.

Zemková, E., & Zapletalová, L. (2022). The role of neuromuscular control of postural and core stability in functional movement and athlete performance. *Frontiers in Physiology*, *13*, 796097. https://doi.org/10.3389/fphys.2022.796097

/ 161

Zhang, L. M., Yu, L. S., Wang, K. N., Jing, B. S., & Fang, C. (1997). The psychophysiological assessment method for pilot's professional reliability. *Aviation, Space, and Environmental Medicine, 68*(5), 368–372.







#### Oral presentations:

Santos, S., Parraça, J. A., Alegrete, J., Cabo, C. A., Melo, F., & Fernandes, O. (2022). *The effects of a 12-week yoga program on the COP of military pilots before and after a flight emergency simulation* [Oral presentation]. TAPAS 2022: International Conference on Technology in Physical Activity and Sport.

Uti De Verificación	TAPAS 2022 International Conference on Technology in Physical Activity and Sport
JERONIMO GARCIA FERN FRANCISCO DE BORJA SA https://pfizma.	The Organizing Committee of the 3rd International Conference on Technology in Physical Activity and Sport -TAPAS 2022- states that
ANDEZ ANDEZ NNUDO CORRAL .us.es/verifi	ntos, Sara Alexandra; Parraça, José Alberto; Cabo, Carolina Alexandra; Alegrete, Joana; Melo, Filipe; Fernandes, Orlando;
<b>ES</b> ES rma/code/GZz6	has presented the <b>research</b>
MHY24R0gj8	Effects Of A 12 Week Yoga Program On The Cop Of Military Pilots Before And After A Flight Emergency Simulati
13jD12A==	at the conference, held between the 16th to 17th November 2022.
Página 1/1	Borja Sañudo Corrales Jerónimo García Fernández Congress President Secretary of the Physical Education and Sport Department

Figure 64 – Certificate of Oral Presentation from TAPAS. This presentation was invited to be published as an article.

Cabo, C., Fernandes, O., Melo, F., Parraca, J., & Santos, S. (2023, October 30-31). Efeito de um programa de yoga de 12 semanas na saúde geral e performance operacional de pilotos militares. In A. Figueiredo, A. Pereira, A. Azevedo, C. Vasconcelos, F. Mendes, J. L. Esteves, & P. Eira (Eds.), *Livro de Resumos do 4.º Fórum da REDESPP – Desporto, Comunidades e Qualidade de Vida* (p. 19). REDESPP e Escola Superior de Educação – Instituto Politécnico de Viseu. https://doi.org/10.34633/978-989-35325-3-9.



Certifica-se que Sara Santos apresentou em comunicação oral o estudo intitulado *Efeito de um programa de yoga de 12 semanas na saúde geral e performance operacional de pilotos militares*, da autoria de Carolina Cabo, Orlando Fernandes, Filipe Melo, José Parraca, Sara Santos, no 4º Fórum da REDESPP Desporto, Comunidades e Qualidade de Vida", que decorreu no Instituto Politécnico de Viseu nos dias 30 e 31 de outubro de 2023.

Escola Superior de Educação de Viseu, 22 de novembro de 2023

A Presidente da Escola

(Professora Coordenadora)

(Maria Cristina Azevedo Gomes)

O Presidente da REDESPP

(José Rodrigues)



Figure 65- Certificate of Oral Presentation from REDESPP.



Santos, S., Villafaina, S., Fernandes, O., Melo, F., & Parraca, J. (2024, April 24-26). *How to go from a PhD class to a partnership between governmental institutions to improve existing processes – a practical example*. IV Congreso Internacional de Innovación Docente, Universidad de Extremadura, Cáceres, España.



Figure 66 – Certificate of Scientific Committee participation from IV Congreso Internacional de Innovación Docente.



Figure 67 – Certificate of Oral Presentation from IV Congreso Internacional de Innovación Docente.



Santos, S., Fernandes, O., Cabo, C. A., Espada M., Melo, F., & Parraça, J. A. (2024, December 13–14). Yoga practice in mental health – an innovative low-cost solution for the Portuguese Airforce [Oral presentation]. III Jornadas Internacionais em Prescrição do Exercício e Promoção da Saúde, Escola Superior da Educação e Ciências Sociais -IPLeiria, Leiria, Portugal.





Figure 68 - Certificate of Oral Presentation from III Jornadas Internacionais em Prescrição do Exercício e Promoção da Saúde 2024.



Santos, S., Parraça, J. A., Cabo, C. A., Melo, F. & Fernandes, O. (2025, February 21–22). *Entropia e control postural em pilotos aviadores militares portugueses antes e depois de 12 semanas de yoga* [Oral presentation]. CNB 2025: XI Congresso Nacional de Biomecânica, Hotel do Mar, Sesimbra, Portugal.



Figure 69 - Certificate of Oral Presentation from Behaviour Change Conference 2025.



Santos, S., Melo, F., Cabo, C. A., Espada M., Fernandes, O., & Parraça, J. A. (2025, February 27–28). *Yoga practice in mental health – an innovative low-cost solution for the Portuguese Airforce* [Oral presentation]. III International Congress cieqv 2025: Innovation and Sustainability for a Quality Future, ESE – IPSetúbal, Setúbal, Portugal.



Figure 70 - Certificate of Oral Presentation from III International Congress cieqv 2025.

Santos, S., Fernandes, O., Cabo, C. A., Parraça, J. A., & Melo, F. (2025, April 2–3). *Does a 12-week yoga program influence the decision-making capacity of military aviation pilots?* [Oral presentation]. Behaviour Change Conference 2025: Health & Sustainability, UCL Centre for Behaviour Change & NOVA Escola Nacional de Saúde Pública, Lisbon, Portugal.



Figure 71 – Certificate of Oral Presentation from Behaviour Change Conference 2025.



#### Posters:

Santos, S., Parraça, J., Cabo, C., Fernandes, O., & Melo, F. (2022, November 3-4). *Effect of a 12-week yoga program on the operative performance of military pilots: Study protocol for a randomized controlled trial* [Poster presentation]. 3rd Annual Summit of the Comprehensive Health Research Centre (CHRC), University of Évora, Évora, Portugal.



Figure 72 – Certificate of Poster from 3<sup>rd</sup> CHRC Summit.

Santos, S., Villafaina, S., Parraça, J., Fernandes, O., & Melo, F. (2023, May 25-26). *Effects of a yoga practice on respiratory capacity in military pilots from the Portuguese Air Force* [Poster presentation]. 4th Comprehensive Health Research Centre Annual Summit, University of Évora, Évora, Portugal.

COMPREHENSIVE HEALTH COMPREHENSIVE HEALTH RESEARCH CENTRE COMPREHENSIVE HEALTH May 25 & 26 CERTIFICATE
This is to certify that <b>Sara Santos</b> presented a Digital Poster entitled " <b>Effects of a yoga practice on respiratory capacity in military pilots from the Portuguese Airforce</b> " at the 4 <sup>th</sup> Comprehensive Health Research Centre Annual Summit, held on May 25 <sup>th</sup> & 26 <sup>th</sup> 2023 at the University of Évora. The work presented is authored by Sara Santos, Santos Villafaina, José Parraça, Orlando Fernandes & Filipe Melo.
Velene Carlas Helena Canhão, MD, PhD CHRC Coordinator

Figure 73 – Certificate of Poster from 4<sup>th</sup> CHRC Summit.



Santos, S., Alegrete, J., Cabo, C. A., Parraca, J. A., Fernandes, O., & Melo, F. (2024, September). *Yoga in military aviation pilots partnership protocol between UÉvora/CHRC and the Portuguese Air Force* [Conference poster]. 5th CHRC Annual Summit. https://doi.org/10.13140/RG.2.2.22339.82728

CERTIFICATE
This is to certify that the Digital Poster entitled "Yoga in Military Aviation Pilots -
Partnership Protocol between UÉvora/CHRC and the Portuguese Air Force", authored
by Sara Santos, Joana Alegrete, Carolina Cabo, José Parraça, Orlando Fernandes & Filipe
Melo, was projected at the 5th Comprehensive Health Research Centre Annual Summit,
held on September 23rd & 24th 2024 at the University of Évora.
Helena Canhão Helena Canhão CHRC Coordinator

Figure 74 – Certificate of Poster from 5<sup>th</sup> CHRC Summit.

17:

Santos, S., Parraça, J., Cabo, C. A., Espada, M. C., Melo, F., & Fernandes, O. (2025, June 5–7). *Linear vs non-linear methods of evaluation of postural control: How to test the effectiveness of balance training modalities?* [Poster presentation]. CIDESD 2025 International Congress, Universidade da Beira Interior, Covilhã, Portugal.







Figure 75 - Certificate of Poster from CIDESD 2025 International Congress.



Santos, S., Parraça, J., Melo, F., & Fernandes, O. (2025, June 5–7). *Acute effects of Ashtanga Vinyasa Yoga practice on postural control* [E-poster presentation]. CIDESD 2025 International Congress, Universidade da Beira Interior, Covilhã, Portugal.





\*Certified by the Portuguese Institute of Sport and Youth (IPDJ) with 3.2 ECTS credits for IPTEF/DT and IPTD, and by the Portuguese Scientific-Pedagogical Council of Continuing Education for Teachers (codes 260 and 520) with IS houra.

Figure 76 – Certificate of e-Poster from CIDESD 2025 International Congress.



#### PhD classes:

Santos, S., Adsuar, J., Gonzalez, R., & Parraça, J. (2023, November). *Como desenvolver a fiabilidade de instrumentos nas ciências do desporto* [PhD class]. Seminário de Doutoramento em Motricidade Humana, Universidade de Évora, Évora, Portugal.



#### Declaração

José Alberto Parraça, professor no Departamento de Desporto e Saúde da Universidade de Évora, e responsável pelo Seminário de Doutoramento em Motricidade Humana: "Evolução dos sistemas de controlo do equilíbrio" declaro para os devidos efeitos que a Professora Sara Santos, foi assistente convidado na lecionação de parte do seminário tendo como responsabilidade o desenvolvimento do módulo: "Como desenvolver a fiabilidade de instrumentos nas ciências do desporto"

Com os melhores cumprimentos,

José Alberto Parraça Professor Dep Desporto e Saúde



Figure 77 – Teaching Certificate for the Human Motricity PhD Seminar in Évora University.



Parraça, J. A., & Santos, S. (2024, February). *Estrutura e redação do Relatório da Tese* [PhD class]. Seminário de Desenvolvimento da Tese II, Programa de Doutoramento em Ciências e Tecnologia da Saúde e Bem-Estar, Auditório da Escola de Enfermagem da Universidade de Évora, Largo do Sr. da Pobreza 2B, 7000-811 Évora, Portugal.



#### DECLARAÇÃO DE DOCÊNCIA

Prof. Doutor Manuel Lopes, Diretor do Programa de Doutoramento em Ciências e Tecnologia da Saúde e Bem-Estar da Universidade de Évora, declara que a Prof<sup>a</sup> Doutora Sara Santos exerceu funções de docência no âmbito do Seminário de Desenvolvimento da Tese II, especificamente sobre o tema "*Estrutura e redação do Relatório da Tese*".

Durante o seminário, a Prof<sup>a</sup> Doutora Sara Santos abordou e desenvolveu os seguintes tópicos principais:

- Estrutura do Relatório da Tese
- Redação Científica
- Planeamento e Organização do Trabalho

A professora Sara Santos demonstrou um elevado compromisso e competência na orientação dos doutorandos, fornecendo-lhes as ferramentas necessárias para a elaboração de relatórios de tese coerentes, rigorosos e bem estruturados, de acordo com os padrões académicos exigidos pela Universidade de Évora.

Évora, junho de 24

Assinado por: Manuel José Lopes Num, de Identificação: 05654353 Prof. Doutor Manuel Lopes Diretor do Programa de Doutoramento Ciências e Tecnologia da Saúde e Bem-Estar Universidade de Évora

Figure 78 – Teaching Certificate for the Thesis Structure and Writing PhD Seminar in Évora University.



Guest assistant in supervising part of the Masters study at Institute of Physical Education and Sports and the Graduate Program in Public Health at the Federal University of Ceará (PPGSP-UFC), with the development of the article: "The use of yoga for mindfulness in school-age children: a systematic review."



#### DECLARAÇÃO

Ricardo Hugo Gonzalez, docente do Instituto de Educação Física e Esportes e do Programa de Pós-Graduação em Saúde Pública da Universidade Federal do Ceará, declaro para os devidos efeitos que a Professora Sara Santos, da Universidade de Évora- Portugal, foi assistente convidada na orientação de parte do estudo de Mestrado Acadêmico do PPGSP-UFC, da estudante Gabriela Nogueira, tendo como responsabilidade o desenvolvimento do artigo: "The use of yoga for mindfulness in school-age children: a systematic review"

Com os melhores cumprimentos,

Fortaleza, 18 de junho de 2023



Prof. Dr. Ricardo Hugo Gonzalez IEFES/PPGSP

Figure 79 – Teaching Certificate for the supervising part of the Masters study at PPGSP-UFC.



Parraça, J. A., & Santos, S. (2024, November). *A Evolução Dos Sistemas De Controlo Do Equilibrio* [PhD class]. Seminário de Doutoramento em Motricidade Humana, Universidade de Évora, Évora, Portugal.



#### DECLARAÇÃO DE DOCÊNCIA

Prof. Doutor José Alberto Frade Martins Parraça, responsável pela Unidade Curricular Seminários em Motricidade Humana 2 (DES13433D) - "A EVOLUÇÃO DOS SISTEMAS DE CONTROLO DO EQUILIBRIO", do Programa de Doutoramento em Motricidade Humana da Universidade de Évora, declara que a Prof<sup>a</sup> Sara Alexandra Santos exerceu funções de docência na U.C. supramencionada.

Durante o seminário, a Prof<sup>a</sup> Sara Santos abordou e desenvolveu os seguintes tópicos principais:

- O Sistema Vestibular dos Pilotos de aviões;
- Intervenção para prevenção de quedas através do Ioga;
- Avaliações de equilibrio com plataforma de equilibrios;
- Análise de dados.

Por ser verdade e para que conste oportunamente, assino esta declaração.

Évora, 2024



Prof. Doutor José Parraça Responsável pela U.C. Universidade de Évora

18

Figure 80 – Teaching Certificate for the Human Motricity PhD Seminar in Évora University.